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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One
] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 20(
or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 000-22339

RAMBUS INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its cagrt

Delaware 94-311282¢
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization Identification Number
4440 El Camino Rea
Los Altos, California 94022
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code))

Registrant’s telephone number, including area codeg(650) 947-5000

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:

Title of Each Clas: Name of Each Exchange on Which Register:
Common Stock, $.001 Par Value The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC
Preferred Share Purchase Ric (The Nasdaq Global Select Mark

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) ¢ifie Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edB#turities
Act. Yes O No ¥

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®acl5(d) of the
Act. Yes O No 4

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Secti® or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the gy 12 months (or for such shorter period thatrdgistrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has bedijestito such filing requirements for the past 89 YesiM No
O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquidetrs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (82®8% of this
chapter) is not contained herein, and will not betained, to the best of the registrant’s knowledgelefinitive proxy
or information statements incorporated by referandeart 11l of this Form 10-K or any amendmenths
Form 10-K. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, m-accelerated file
or a smaller reporting company. See the definitimif$arge accelerated filer”, accelerated filerida“smaller reporting
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Chenk):

Large accelerated fileM Accelerated filerd Non-accelerated FileO Small reporting compan'd
(Do not check if a smallepaeting company

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Aatgs O
No ¥

The aggregate market value of the Registrant’s Com8tock held by noaffiliates of the Registrant as of June
2007 was approximately $1.25 billion based uporctheing price reported for such date on The Nagalabal Select
Market. For purposes of this disclosure, shargsahmon Stock held by persons who hold more tharobéte



outstanding shares of Common Stock and sharedljaldfficers and directors of the Registrant haverbexcluded
because such persons may be deemed to be affilldtissdetermination of affiliate status is not esgarily a conclusiv
determination for other purposes.

The number of outstanding shares of the Regisg@wmmon Stock, $.001 par value, was 105,330,000 as
January 31, 2008.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Certain information is incorporated into Part Ifitbis report by reference to the Proxy Statementte
Registrant’s annual meeting of stockholders todld bn May 9, 2008 to be filed with the Securigesl Exchange
Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A not latenth20 days after the end of the fiscal year covesethis
Form 10-K.




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Special Note Regarding Forwi-Looking Statement

PART |

Item 1. Business

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Commen

Item 2. Properties

Item 3. Legal Proceeding

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holc

PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related &tmider Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Item 6. Selected Financial Da

Item 7. Managemer's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults of Operatior

ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MarRisk

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary |

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants @ouing and Financial Disclosu

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedur

Item 9B.  Other Informatior

PART III

Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govaos

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatic

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners dahagement and Related Stockholder
Matters

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactionsarattor Independenc

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Servi

PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Sched!

SIGNATURES

POWER OF ATTORNEY
INDEX TO EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT 3.3

EXHIBIT 21.1

EXHIBIT 23.1

EXHIBIT 31.1

EXHIBIT 31.2

EXHIBIT 32.1

EXHIBIT 32.2

11
25
26
26
26

27

27
28
29
47
48
48
48
50

50
50
50

50
50
50

51

96
96
98




Table of Contents

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (Annual Report) tzoms forward-looking statements. These forward-
looking statements include, without limitation, gietions regarding the following aspects of ouufet

Outcome and effect of current and potential futatellectual property litigation
Litigation expenses

Resolution of the Federal Trade Commission and igan Commission matters involving |
Protection of intellectual propert

Amounts owed under licensing agreeme

Terms of our license:

Indemnification and technical support obligatio

Success in the markets of our or our licen' products;

Research and development costs and improvemetestinology;

Sources, amounts and concentration of revenueidimg) royalties

Effective tax rates

Realization of deferred tax asse

Product developmen

Sources of competitior

Pricing policies of our licensee

Success in renewing license agreeme

Operating results

International licenses and operations, includingdmsign facility in Bangalore, Indi
Methods, estimates and judgments in accountingipsl

Growth in our busines:

Acquisitions, mergers or strategic transactic

Ability to identify, attract, motivate and retainaified personnel

Trading price of our Common Stoc

Internal control environmen

Corporate governanc

Accounting, tax, regulatory, legal and other outesrand effects of the stock option investigat
Consequences of the derivaticlas«-actionand other lawsuits related to the stock option $tigation;
The level and terms of our outstanding di

Engineering, marketing and general and adminisimagkpenses

Contract revenue

Interest and other income, n

Adoption of new accounting pronouncements;

Likelihood of paying dividends
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You can identify these and other forward-lookingtstments by the use of words such as “may,” “fyture
“shall,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates“believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “intends;potential,”
“continue,” or the negative of such terms, or otb@mparable terminology. Forwatdeking statements also inclu
the assumptions underlying or relating to any effdregoing statements.

” o ” o ”ou ”

Actual results could differ materially from thosatigipated in these forward-looking statements essalt of
various factors, including those set forth undemitlA, “Risk Factors.” All forward-looking statemterincluded in
this document are based on our assessment of iafamavailable to us at this time. We assume rigation to
update any forward-looking statements.

PART I

Rambus, RDRAM, XDR, FlexlO and FlexPhase are trad&mor registered trademarks of Rambus Inc. Other
trademarks that may be mentioned in this annualrtem Form 10-K are the property of their respectwners.

Industry terminology, used widely throughout thisaal report, has been abbreviated and, as swege th
abbreviations are defined below for your convengéenc

Advanced Backplan ABP
Double Data Rat DDR
Dynamic Random Access Memc DRAM
Fully Bufferec-Dual Inline Memory Module FB-DIMM
Gigabits per secon Gbl/s
Graphics Double Data Ra GDDR
Input/Output I/10
Peripheral Component Interconn PCI
Rambus Dynamic Random Access Mem RDRAM
Single Data Rat SDR
Synchronous Dynamic Random Access Men SDRAM
eXtreme Data Rat XDR

From time to time we will refer to the abbreviatemmes of certain entities and, as such, have prdwacchart
to indicate the full names of those entities fouryoonvenience.

Advanced Micro Devices Inc AMD
ARM Holdings plc ARM
Cadence Design Systems, Ir Cadence
Cisco Systems, Inc Cisco
Elpida Memory, Inc. Elpida
Fujitsu Limited Fujitsu
GDA Technologies, Inc GDA
Hewlet-Packard Compan Hewlet-Packarc
Hynix Semiconductor, Inc Hynix
Infineon Technologies A( Infineon
Inotera Memories, Inc Inotera
Intel Corporatior Intel
International Business Machines Corpora IBM

Joint Electron Device Engineering Cour JEDEC
Juniper Networks, Inc Juniper
Matsushita Electrical Industrial Cc Matsushite
Micron Technologies, Inc Micron
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Nanya Technology Corporatic

NEC Electronics Corporatic

Optical Internetworking Forur

Qimonda AG (formerly Infinec’s DRAM operations
Peripheral Component Interconn— Special Interest Grou
Renesas Technology Corporat

S3 Graphics, Inc

Samsung Electronics Co., Lti

Sony Computer Electronic

Spansion, Inc.

ST Microelectronict

Synopsys Inc.

Tessera Technologies, In

Texas Instruments Inc

Toshiba Corporatio

Velio Communication:

Item 1. Business

Nanya
NECEL
OIF
Qimonda
PCI-SIG
Renesa:

S3 Graphict
Samsung
Sony
Spansior
ST Micro
Synopsys
Tessere
Texas Instrument
Toshiba
Velio

Rambus Inc. (“we” or “Rambus”) was founded in 129l reincorporated in Delaware in March 1997. Our
principal executive offices are located at 444@R&mino Real, Los Altos, California. Our Internetlegks is
www.rambus.com. You can obtain copies of our Fot@K, 10-Q, 8-K, and other filings with the SEC daall
amendments to these filings, free of charge fromwmbsite as soon as reasonably practicable faligwur filing o
any of these reports with the SEC. In addition, gmay read and copy any material we file with the&CSH the
SEC'’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NBnRd580, Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain
information on the operation of the Public RefeeeRoom by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Thé 8Eo
maintains an Internet site that contains reportsqyy and information statements, and other infaromaregarding

registrants that file electronically with the SEGhavw.sec.gov.

We design, develop and license chip interface teldigies and architectures that are foundationakgrly all
digital electronics products. Our chip interfacehteologies are designed to improve the time-to-eiaperformanc
and cost-effectiveness of our customers’ semicaiodw@nd system products for computing, communicatiand

consumer electronics applications.

As of December 31, 2007, our year end, our chigrfate technologies are covered by more than 680and
foreign patents. Additionally, we have approximatef0 patent applications pending. These patemtpatent
applications cover important inventions in memany éogic chip interfaces, in addition to other teclogies. We
believe that our chip interface technologies prewachigher performance, lower risk, and more ctisteve
alternative for our customers than can be achiévexligh their own internal research and developra#otts.

We offer our customers two alternatives for using chip interface technologies in their products:

First, we license our broad portfolio of patentedeintions to semiconductor and system companiesusbo
these inventions in the development and manufactiuigeir own products. Such licensing agreemergy cover
the license of part, or all, of our patent portiolPatent license agreements are royalty bearing.

Second, we develop “leadership” (which are Ramimaprietary products widely licensed to our custmshant
industry-standard chip interface products that vewigle to our customers under license for incorponainto their
semiconductor and system products. Because offtiie complex nature of implementing state-of-thechip
interface technology, we offer our customers a easfgengineering services to help them successifutigrate our
chip interface products into their semiconducterd systems. Product license agreements may hakieabdoted
price (non-recurring) component and ongoing rogaltEngineering services are customarily bundleld @uar
product licenses, and are performed on a fixecefyasis. Further, under product licenses, our mete may

4
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receive licenses to our patents necessary to ingiethe chip interface in their products with sfieaights and
restrictions to the applicable patents elaboratatieir individual contracts with us.

Background

The performance of computers, consumer electraridsother electronic systems is often constrairyeithé
speed of data transfer between the chips withirsyistem. Ideally, the rate of the data transfewbeh chips should
support the rate of data transfer on-chip. Howewe+chip frequencies continue to exceed the frequen
communication between chips at a growing rate.ifberporation of multiple-cores in processor chipses an
even greater need for higher rates of data trarBtether, the inability to scale packaging tecbagl (number of
signal pins on a package) at the rate at whiclsiséor counts scale through improvements in sendigotor process
technology only worsens the chip interface “bottleln” As a result, continued advances to increasehip
frequencies, number of cores or transistor dessitiee potentially diminishing returns in incregsoverall system
performance. Our technologies help semiconductdrsgstem designers speed the performance of dieifanes,
thus helping to boost the overall performance et&bnic systems.

Our Offerings
Patent Licensing

We derive the majority of our annual revenues bgrsing our broad portfolio of patents for chignfdces to
our customers. Such licenses may cover part @f allir patent portfolio. Leading semiconductor agdtem
companies such as AMD, Elpida, Fujitsu, Qimondgl|Matsushita, NECEL, Renesas, Spansion and bagtave
taken licenses to our patents for use in their praducts. Examples of the many patented innovafioosir
portfolio include:

Fully Synchronous DRAMnhich is designed to allow precise timing from aANR system, improving
memory transfer efficiency.

Dual Edge Clockingvhich is designed to allow data to be sent on bimtHeading and trailing edge of the
clock pulse, effectively doubling the transfer rateg of a memory core without the need for highestem cloc}
speeds.

Variable Burst Lengthwvhich is designed to improve data transfer efficiehy allowing varying amounts
of data to be sent per a memory read or write retjuneDRAMs and Flash memory.

FlexPhase™ technology which synchronizes data output and corsgtes for circuit timing errors.

Channel Equalizatiomvhich is designed to improve signal integrity aggtem margins by reducing inter-
symbol interference in high speed parallel andasénk channels.

Product Licensing

We license our leadership and industry-standang ichérface products to our customers for use éir th
semiconductor and system products. Our customeklsda leading companies such as Fujitsu, Elpidi, IBitel,
Matsushita, Texas Instruments, Sony, ST Micro, Qidzoand Toshiba. Due to the complex nature of implging
our technologies, we provide engineering serviceteucertain of these licenses to help successhiligrate our
chip interface products into their semiconductord systems. Additionally, product licensees receigean adjunct
to their chip interface license agreements, pdiegnises as necessary to implement the chip imteifatheir
products with specific rights and restrictionshie tapplicable patents elaborated in their individoatracts.

Our leadership chip interface products includeXp&k ™, XDR2 and RDRAM™ memory chip interface
products and the Flexl® processor bus.

The XDR Memory Architectuenables what we believe to be the world’s fastesdyction DRAM with
operation up to 6.4 Gb/s. XDR DRAM is the main meyngplution for Sony Computer Entertainment’s
PLAYSTATION ® 3 as well as for Texas Instrument’s latest genamatf DLP front projectors.
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The XDR2 Memory Architectuhnecorporates new innovations, including DRAM midiweading, to deliver tt
world’s highest performance for graphics intenspglications such as gaming and digital video.

RDRAM Memonhas shipped in the Sony PlayStatfd, Intel-based PCs, Texas Instruments DLP TVsand i
Juniper routers. Our customers have sold over 50@mRDRAM devices across all applications toelathis
product is approaching end-of-life, and we antigp@venues from RDRAM will continue to decline.

The FlexlO Processor Bus a high speed chip-to-chip interface. It is ohewr two key chip interface products
that enable the Cell BE processor co-developeddmy SToshiba and IBM. In the PLAYSTATIOR3, FlexIO
provides the interface between the Cell BE, the R&phics processor and the SouthBridge chip.

In addition to our leadership products, we offefustry-standard chip interface products, includiddRx
(where the “x” is a number that represents a vajsamd PCI Express. We also offer digital logic tcolters for PCI
Express and DDRx memory.

Target Markets, Applications and Customers

We work with leading and emerging semiconductor syglem customers to enable their next-generation
products. We engage with our customers acrossntiire @roduct life cycle, from system architectdeyelopment,
to chip design, to system integration, to productiamp up through product maturation. Our chipriiatee
technologies and patented inventions are incorpdriaito a broad range of high-volume applicationghe
computing, consumer electronics and communicatioaikets. System level products that utilize ouepted
inventions and/or products include personal compuservers, printers, video projectors, video gaoresoles,
digital TVs, set-top boxes and mobile phones mastufad by such companies as Fuijitsu, IBM, Hewlettiard,
Matsushita, Toshiba and Sony.

Our Strategy
The key elements of our strategy are as follows:

Develop Core TechnologyDevelop and patent our core technology to progifiendamental competitive
advantage in memory and logic chip interfaces aohlictures.

Develop Products: Develop products which incorporate our core tedbgy and provide our customers
with the benefits of superior performance, fasteetto-market, lower risk and greater cost effeatiess for a
range of applications in computing, communicatiand consumer electronics.

Engage With Leading Companie€ngage with leading semiconductor and systenomests to solve
their critical chip interface design problems ancorporate our high performance, low-risk, siligmaven chip
interfaces into their solutions.

License our Chip Interface Patents and Technologie&ense our patented inventions and specific chip
interface products to customers for use in themisenductor and system products.

Design and Manufacturing

Our chip interface technologies are developed tigin-volume complementary metal-oxide semiconductor
(CMOS) manufacturing processes in mind. Typically;, chip interface products are delivered as ateampntation
package or a custom development. We provide imphtatien packages to licensees who wish to porchip
interface designs to a manufacturing process hgsed to develop their semiconductor products. package
typically includes a specification, a generalizedudt layout database and test parameter softwieedo custom
development when licensees have contracted with peoduce a specific design implementation optadiior the
licensee’s manufacturing process. In such casedicénsee provides specific design rules and isaoranodels for
the licensee’s process.
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Research and Developmer

Our ability to compete in the future will be subrtally dependent on our ability to advance oupdhterfaces
and patented inventions in order to meet changiacket needs. To this end, we have assembled adkhighly
skilled engineers whose activities are focuseduotinér development of our chip interfaces and gateimventions
as well as adaptation of current chip interfacespecific customers’ processes. Our engineersearelaping new
chip interfaces and new versions of existing chtprifaces that we expect will allow chip data tfanat higher
speeds, as well as provide other improvements andflis. Our design and development process islému
disciplinary effort requiring expertise in systemstdtecture, digital and analog circuit design éut,
semiconductor process characteristics, packagimgep circuit board routing, signal integrity ahigh-speed
testing techniques.

As of December 31, 2007, we had approximately 28pleyees in our engineering departments, reprasgnti
67% of our total employees. A significant numbepof engineers spend all or a portion of their tongesearch
and development. For the years ended Decembel08Z, 2006, and 2005, research and development sepever
$82.9 million, $69.0 million and $49.1 million, ectively, including stock-compensation of approaiety
$16.2 million, $14.9 million and $8.1 million, resgtively. We expect to continue to invest subs#ifitinds in
research and development activities. In additi@eaose our license and customer service agreewfésrtscall for
us to provide engineering support, a portion oftotal engineering costs are allocated to the absbntract
revenues, even though some of these engineeriagseffiay have direct applicability to our technglog
development.

Competition

The semiconductor industry is intensely competitine has been impacted by price erosion, rapidhtdobica
change, short product life cycles, cyclical marpatterns and increasing foreign and domestic catigpetSome
semiconductor companies have developed and supoieting logic chip interfaces including their osgrial link
chip interfaces and parallel bus chip interfaces.aléo face competition from semiconductor andlattual
property companies who provide their own DDR menaip interface technology and solutions. In additimost
DRAM manufacturers, including our XDR licenseesduce versions of DRAM such as SDR, DDRx and GDDRx
SDRAM which compete with XDR chips. We believe tbhat principal competition for memory chip interéscmay
come from our licensees and prospective licensaase of which are evaluating and developing prasibased on
technologies that they contend or may contendnwillrequire a license from us. In addition, our petitors are
also taking a system approach similar to ours @kisg to solve the application needs of system aorigs. Many ¢
these companies are larger and may have bettessattcéinancial, technical and other resources tiapossess.

JEDEC has standardized what it calls extensiom3R, known as DDR2 and DDR3, as well as graphics
extensions called GDDR4 and GDDR5, and there ageiog efforts to integrate products such as
system-in-package DRAM. To the extent that thesgratives might provide comparable system perfocaant
lower than or similar cost to XDR memory chipsaoe perceived to require the payment of no or lawgalties, or
to the extent other factors influence the industry, licensees and prospective licensees may athappromote
alternative technologies. Even to the extent werdgne that such alternative technologies infringepatents,
there can be no assurance that we would be ablegmtiate agreements that would result in royalieag paid to
us without litigation, which could be costly ane tfesults of which would be uncertain.

In the serial link chip interface business, we fadditional competition from semiconductor comparifet sel
discrete transceiver chips for use in various tygfes/stems, from semiconductor companies thatldpwbeir own
serial link chip interfaces, as well as from conitpes$, such as ARM and Synopsys, who license sirsiaial link
chip interface products and digital controllers.ti¢ 10 Gb/s speed and above, competition will atsne from
optical technology sold by system and semicondumanpanies. There are standardization efforts wvadeor
completed for serial links from standard bodieshsag PCI-SIG and OIF. We may face increased cotigrefrom
these types of consortia in the future that cogldatively impact our serial link chip interface imgss.

In the FlexlO processor bus and custom chip interfaarket, we face additional competition from
semiconductor companies who develop their own [galis chip interfaces, as well as competitors litense
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similar parallel bus and custom chip interface picid. As with our memory chip interface produatsthte extent
that competitive alternatives to our serial or paléogic chip interface products might providengparable system
performance at lower or similar cost, or are pexgito require the payment of no or lower royajt@so the exter
other factors influence the industry, our licensaed prospective licensees may adopt and promienative
technologies.

Employees

As of December 31, 2007, we had approximately 48@ifne employees. None of our employees are aver
by collective bargaining agreements. We believédbafuture success is dependent on our contiabéity to
identify, attract, motivate and retain qualifieds@nel. To date, we believe that we have beeressad in
recruiting qualified employees and that our relasitip with our employees is excellent.

Patents and Intellectual Property Protection

We maintain and support an active program to ptatecintellectual property, primarily through tfikng of
patent applications and the defense of issued tsaégpainst infringement. As of December 31, 2005 have more
than 680 U.S. and foreign patents on various aspéceiur technology, with expiration dates rangiogn 2010 to
2025, and we have approximately 540 pending patgpiications. In addition, we attempt to proteat wade
secrets and other proprietary information througfeaments with current and prospective license®s, a
confidentiality agreements with employees and clhasts and other security measures. We also retyaolemarks
and trade secret laws to protect our intellectuaperty.

Business Segment Data, Customers and Our Foreign ©mtions

We operate in a single industry segment, the dedigwvelopment and licensing of chip interface tetbgies
and architectures. Information concerning reventgsajlts of operations and revenues by geograpeiia set fort
in Item 6, “Selected Financial Data,” in Item 7, &lagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financialdltan and
Results of Operations,” and in Note 12, “BusinesgrBents, Exports and Major Customers,” of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, all of whichiacerporated herein by reference. Information esning
identifiable assets is also set forth in Note Bsiness Segments, Exports and Major Customersdyotés to
Consolidated Financial Statements. Information ustamers that comprise 10% or more of our consiadia
revenues and risks attendant to our foreign opmrais set forth below in Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

Our Executive Officers

Information regarding our executive officers anditlages and positions as of December 31, 20@Hntined
in the table below. Our executive officers are api@al by, and serve at the discretion of, our BadrDirectors.
There is no family relationship between any of executive officers.

Name Age Position and Business Experienc

Kevin S. Donnelly 46 Senior Vice President, Engineering. Mr. Donnelly@m us
in 1993. Mr. Donnelly has served in his currentifp@s since
March 2006. From February 2005 to March 2006, Mr.
Donnelly served as co-vice president of Engineerfingm
October 2002 to February 2005 he served as vicsdenat,
Logic Interface Division. Mr. Donnelly held various
engineering and management positions before becpwiie
president, Logic Interface Division in October 2082fore
joining us, Mr. Donnelly held engineering positiaat:
National Semiconductor, Sipex, and Memorex, ovegight
year period. He holds a B.S. in Electrical Engiimegand
Computer Sciences from the University of California
Berkeley, and an M.S. in Electrical Engineeringiro
San Jose State Universi
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Name Age Position and Business Experienc

Sharon E. Holt 43 Senior Vice President, Worldwide Sales, Licensind a
Marketing. Ms. Holt has served as our senior viesigent,
Worldwide Sales, Licensing and Marketing (formeitied
Worldwide Sales and Marketing) since joining ug\ingust
2004. From November 1999 to July 2004, Ms. Holthel
various positions at Agilent Technologies, Inc. eéctronic:
instruments and controls company, most recentiyices
president and general manager, Americas Field @pasa
Semiconductor Products Group. Prior to Agilent
Technologies, Inc., Ms. Holt held various enginegyi
marketing, and sales management positions at Hewlet
Packard Company, a hardware manufacturer. Ms. hixdis
a B.S. in Electrical Engineering, with a minor in
Mathematics, from the Virginia Polytechnic Instéwtnd
State University

Harold Hughes 62 Chief Executive Officer and President. Mr. Hughas h
served as our chief executive officer and presidarte
January 2005 and as a director since June 2008ehied as
a United States Army Officer from 1969 to 1972 befo
starting his private sector career with Intel Caogion. Mr.
Hughes held a variety of positions within Intel Goration
from 1974 to 1997, including treasurer, vice presicof Inte
Capital, chief financial officer, and vice presitief Planning
and Logistics. Following his tenure at Intel, Mudgrhes was
the chairman and chief executive officer of PandddiC.
He holds a B.A. from the University of Wisconsindasm
M.B.A. from the University of Michigan. He also ses as a
director of Berkeley Technology, Lt

Thomas Lavelle 58 Senior Vice President and General Counsel. Mr. lavas
served in his current position since December 2B0évious
to that, Mr. Lavelle served as vice president amaegal
counsel at Xilinx, one of the world’s leading supp of
programmable chips. Mr. Lavelle joined Xilinx in99® after
spending more than 15 years at Intel Corporatioare/ihe
held various positions in the legal department. Mwelle
earned a J.D. from Santa Clara University Schoalasi and
a B.A. from the University of California at Los Aealgs.

Satish Rishi 48 Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Finar@féiter.
Mr. Rishi joined us in his current position in Alp2006. Prio
to joining us, Mr. Rishi held the position of exé&ee vice
president of Finance and chief financial officeff@jppan
Photomasks, Inc., (formerly DuPont Photomasks) loee of
the world’s leading photomask providers, from Nobem
2001 to April 2006. During his 20-year career, Rishi has
held senior financial management positions at senaactor
and electronic manufacturing companies. He sergsedca
president and assistant treasurer at Dell IncrRai®ell, Mr.
Rishi spent 13 years at Intel Corporation, wheradid
financial management positions both in the Unitetes and
overseas, including assistant treasurer. Mr. Rislds a B.S.
with honors in Mechanical Engineering from Delhi
University in Delhi, India and an M.B.A. from theniyersity
of California at Berkeley’s Haas School of Busindds also
serves as a director of Measurement Specialties

9
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Name

Michael Schroeder

Martin Scott, Ph.D.

Laura S. Stark

Age
48

52

89

Position and Business Experienc

Vice President, Human Resources. Mr. Schroedeséiagd
as our vice president, Human Resources since ppumnin
June 2004. From April 2003 to May 2004, Mr. Scheredas
vice president, Human Resources at DigitalThink,,lan
online service company. From August 2000 to Au@@st2,
Mr. Schroeder served as vice president, Human Ressat
Alphablox Corporation, a software company. From éatg
1992 to August 2000, Mr. Schroeder held varioustjpos at
Synopsys, Inc., a software and programming company,
including vice president, California Site Human Rages,
group director Human Resources, director Human iRess
and employment manager. Mr. Schroeder attended the
University of Wisconsin, Milwaukee and studied Rass
Senior Vice President, Engineering. Dr. Scott leages] in
his current position since December 2006. Dr. Jooted us
from PMC-Sierra, Inc., a provider of broadband
communications and storage integrated circuits,revhe wa
most recently vice president and general managigs of
Microprocessor Products Division from March 2006.

Dr. Scott was the vice president and general marfagéhe
I/O Solutions Division (which was purchased by PI8@+fra
of Avago Technologies Limited, an analog and migighal
semiconductor components and subsystem compamy, fro
October 2005 to March 2006. Dr. Scott held varipasitions
at Agilent Technologies, including as vice prestcam
general manager for the I/O Solutions division frowtober
2004 to October 2005, when the division was puretidy
Avago Technologies, vice president and general gemnaf
the ASSP Division from March 2002 until October 208nd
before that, Network Products operation managerSbott
started his career in 1981 as a member of the ieadrstaff a
Hewlett Packard Laboratories and held various memeagt
positions at Hewlett Packard and was appointed ASIC
business unit manager in 1998. He earned a B.®. Rice
University and holds both an M.S. and Ph.D. fromng&ird
University.

Senior Vice President, Platform Solutions. Ms. Sjained
us in 1996 as strategic accounts manager, andhmeeld
positions of strategic accounts director and viesioent,
Alliances and Infrastructure, before assuming th&tpn of
vice president, Memory Interface Division in OctoB602.
She held this position until February 2005 whenwhe
appointed to her current position. Prior to thas. I8tark hel
various positions in the semiconductor productssain of
Motorola, a communications equipment company, duan
six year tenure, including technical sales engifaethe
Apple sales team and field application engineetterSun
and SGI sales teams. Ms. Stark holds a B.S. intiiitlat
Engineering from the Massachusetts Institute ohfietogy.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

RISK FACTORS

Because of the following factors, as well as otraiables affecting our operating results, pasrial
performance may not be a reliable indicator of feifperformance, and historical trends should natsesl to
anticipate results or trends in future periods. &se “Forward-looking Statements” elsewhere is tieport.

Litigation, Regulation and Business Risks Relatedotour Intellectual Property

We face current and potential adverse determinasdn litigation stemming from our efforts to prot¢and
enforce our patents and intellectual property, whicould broadly impact our intellectual propertyghts,
distract our management and cause a substantiallohecin our revenues and stock price.

We seek to diligently protect our intellectual peofy rights. In connection with the extension of bcensing
program to SDR SDRAM-compatible and DDR SDRAM-cotitde products, we became involved in litigation
related to such efforts against different partremiultiple jurisdictions. In each of these cases have claimed
infringement of certain of our patents, while thamafacturers of such products have generally sadgntages and
a determination that the patents in suit are inyainenforceable, and not infringed. Among othergs, the
opposing parties have alleged that certain of atenqts are unenforceable because we engaged imdatu
spoliation, litigation misconduct and/or acted imperly during our 1991 to 1995 participation in fHeDEC
standard setting organization (including allegagiohantitrust violations and unfair competitioBge Note 16
“Litigation and Asserted Claims3f Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements dalitaonal information regardin
certain cases that are active as of the date ®féjpiort.

There can be no assurance that any or all of thesipg parties will not succeed, either at thd trappellate
level, with such claims or counterclaims againstuthat they will not in some other way establisbad defenses
against our patents, achieve conflicting result®tberwise avoid or delay paying what we believé¢ appropriate
royalties for the use of our patented technologgrédver, there is a risk that if one party prevagainst us, other
parties could use the adverse result to defeamitrdur claims against them; conversely, there lsamo assurance
that if we prevail against one party, we will suedeagainst other parties on similar claims, defgnse
counterclaims. In addition, there is the risk tttat pending litigations and other circumstances ozase us to
accept less than what we now believe to be faisiciemation in settlement. Among other things, thene be no
assurance that we will succeed in negotiating &isattlements or licenses on terms better thare texiended in ot
Infineon settlement. There can be no assurancegihaircumstances under which we negotiated miimdon
settlement will turn out to be significantly diféert from the circumstances of future cases anddgettlements,
although we currently believe that significant diffnces do exist.

Any of these matters, whether or not determinealinfavor or settled by us, is costly, may caudayde
(including delays in negotiating licenses with athetual or potential licensees), will tend to disage future
design partners, will tend to impair adoption of existing technologies and divert the efforts attdntion of our
management and technical personnel from other bssiaperations. In addition, we may be unsuccesstur
litigation if we have difficulty obtaining the coepation of former employees and agents who werelned in our
business during the relevant periods related tditigation and are now needed to assist in casésstify on our
behalf. Furthermore, any adverse determinatiortligraesolution in litigation could result in owsling certain
rights beyond the rights at issue in a particuéees including, among other things: our being éffety barred from
suing others for violating certain or all of outatlectual property rights; our patents being heldlid or
unenforceable or not infringed; our being subjedttesignificant liabilities; our being required $eek licenses from
third parties; our being prevented from licensing patented technology; or our being required tegotiate with
current licensees on a temporary or permanent.daslay of any or all of these adverse resultsat@ause a
substantial decline in our revenues and stock price
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An adverse resolution by or with a governmental agg, such as the Federal Trade Commission or
European Commission, could result in severe limitats on our ability to protect and license our intectual
property, and would cause our revenues to declinbstantially .

In addition to private litigations, we are involvedproceedings brought against us by one or movermment
agencies and we may become involved in future dicgs by other government agencies. The FTC btargh
administrative action against us alleging, amorgeothings, that we had failed to disclose cenpaitents and pate
applications during our membership in JEDEC whilestablished SDRAM standards and that we, thezefirould
be precluded from enforcing certain of our intdiled property rights in patents with a priority elatrior to June
1996. See Note 16 “Litigation and Asserted ClaiwisNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements’afdiscussion
of the FTC action. At the conclusion of this pratdieg, the FTC found that our conduct at JEDEC wgzroper ant
issued an order on February 2, 2007, that, amdmegy things, limits the royalty rates we may chamkcense
certain patents that cover certain JEDEC-compidiR and DDR SDRAM memory and controller products so
after April 12, 2007. Although we obtained a pdrsigay of the remedy order pending our appeal ®RhC
decision, the FTC’s adverse decision and remedgrdrds already impaired and may continue to sicanifily limit
our ability to enforce or license our patents dtemt royalties from existing or potential license&ee
“Managements’ Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations — Royalty Rexsn—
Patent Licensedor a discussion of the terms of the FTC order. &bver, there can be no assurance that, desp
best efforts to comply with the FTC orders, the R¥iCC interpret its orders in the same way, or thay differences
in interpretation will not cause changes, delayBigher restatements to our licensing revenue. Him®pean
Commission has instituted similar proceedings agjain but has not yet issued a decision. Theseediugs, or or
by any other governmental agency, have alreadytegisin and may result in further adverse detertionaagainst
us or in other outcomes that could limit our abpitid enforce or license our intellectual propeayd could cause o
revenues to decline substantially.

In addition, third parties have and may attempige adverse findings by a government agency to diomi
ability to enforce our patents in private litigat®and to assert claims for monetary damages aganalthough w:
have successfully defeated certain attempts tadthere can be no assurance that other thirdegastill not be
successful in the future or that additional claomsctions arising out of adverse findings by aegament agency
will not be asserted against us.

Further, third parties have sought and may sedkweand reconsideration of the patentability ofantions
claimed in certain of our patents by the Unitede&tdatent & Trademark Office (the “PTO”) and/ar Buropean
Patent Office (the “EPO”). An adverse decision iy PTO or EPO could invalidate some or all of thesent
claims and could also result in additional advexsesequences affecting other related U.S. or Earopatents. If a
sufficient number of such patents are impaired,atility to enforce or license our intellectual pesty would be
significantly weakened and this could cause ouemees to decline substantially.

Litigation or other third-party claims of intelleatal property infringement could require us to expén
substantial resources and could prevent us from eleping or licensing our technology on a cost-eftae
basis.

Our research and development programs are in hagrhpetitive fields in which numerous third parties/e
issued patents and patent applications with claiosely related to the subject matter of our reseand
development programs. We have also been namee patst, and may in the future be named, as a dafien
lawsuits claiming that our technology infringes nghe intellectual property rights of third partiés the event of a
third-party claim or a successful infringement aetagainst us, we may be required to pay substalatmages, to
stop developing and licensing our infringing tedogy, to develop non-infringing technology, andtatain
licenses, which could result in our paying subsséhmnoyalties or our granting of cross licensesto technologies.
We may not be able to obtain licenses from otheigsat a reasonable cost, or at all, which coalase us to
expend substantial resources, or result in delaysrithe cancellation of, new product.
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If we are unable to successfully protect our invents through the issuance and enforcement of patgrdur
operating results could be adversely affected.

We have an active program to protect our propnyeatarentions through the filing of patents. Theas de no
assurance, however, that:

 any current or future U.S. or foreign patent agilans will be approved and not be challenged byl th
parties;

» our issued patents will protect our intellectualperty and not be challenged by third part
« the validity of our patents will be uphel

« our patents will not be declared unenforcea

« the patents of others will not have an adverseceéfe our ability to do busines

« Congress or the U.S. courts or foreign countridsnet change the nature or scope of rights affdrdatents
or patent owners or alter in an adverse way thega®for seeking paten

* new legal theories and strategies utilized by aunetitors will not be successful;

« others will not independently develop similar ongmeting chip interfaces or design around any patait
may be issued to u

If any of the above were to occur, our operatirsylts could be adversely affected.

Our inability to protect and own the intellectuakrpperty we create would cause our business to guffe

We rely primarily on a combination of license, diepegent and nondisclosure agreements, trademade tr
secret and copyright law, and contractual provisimmprotect our non-patentable intellectual propeghts. If we
fail to protect these intellectual property righdsy licensees and others may seek to use ourdlgynwithout the
payment of license fees and royalties, which cowgdken our competitive position, reduce our opegatesults and
increase the likelihood of costly litigation. Theogith of our business depends in large part orusigeof our
intellectual property in the products of third gamtanufacturers, and our ability to enforce inteilal property
rights against them to obtain appropriate compénsain addition, effective trade secret protectinay be
unavailable or limited in certain foreign countridéthough we intend to protect our rights vigortyif we fail to
do so, our business will suffer.

We rely upon the accuracy on our licensees recomgli@g, and any inaccuracies or payment disputes for
amounts owed to us under our licensing agreementsyrharm our results of operations.

Many of our license agreements require our licemseelocument the manufacture and sale of prodiats
incorporate our technology and report this dataston a quarterly basis. While licenses with secms give us the
right to audit books and records of our licenseegetify this information, audits rarely are unddwetn because they
can be expensive, time consuming, and potenti@fsirdental to our ongoing business relationshigitir
licensees. Therefore, we rely on the accuracyeféiports from licensees without independentlyfyrg the
information in them. Our failure to audit our licaes’ books and records may result in our receivioge or less
royalty revenues than we are entitled to undetehas of our license agreements. If we conductgdlty audits in
the future, such audits may trigger disagreemewts contract terms with our licensees and suclgdesanents
could hamper customer relations, divert the effartd attention of our management from normal operatand
impact our business operations and financial candit

We may not be able to satisfy the requirements uritie Qimonda settlement and license agreement tatld
require Qimonda to pay us up to an additional $100nillion in royalty payments.

On March 21, 2005, we entered into a settlementiaadse agreement with Infineon (and its formeepa
Siemens), which was assigned to Qimonda in Oct®B@6 in connection with Infineon’s spin-off of Qimada. The
settlement and license agreement, among otherghiaguires Qimonda to pay to us aggregate rogaifie
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$50.0 million in quarterly installments of approxtely $5.85 million, which started on November 2805. The
settlement and license agreement further proviuasitwe enter into licenses with certain otherANR
manufacturers, Qimonda will be required to maketamithl royalty payments to us that may aggreggtéou
$100.0 million. As we have not yet succeeded ir®@mg into these additional license agreementsssecg to
trigger Qimonda’s obligations, Qimonda’s quartggyment decreased to $3.2 million in the fourthrtgpranf 2007,
and has ceased in the first quarter of 2008. Tlaeterdy payments with Qimonda will not recommenaoélwe
enter into additional license agreements with gedgher DRAM manufacturers. We may not succeeghirering
into these additional license agreements necessargger Qimonda’s obligations under the settleh@nd license
agreement to pay to us additional royalty paymehtseby reducing the value of the settlement ar@hse
agreement to us.

An acquisition of all of Qimonda’s DRAM operationsould make it more difficult for us to obtain roygl rates
we believe are appropriate and could reduce the fn@mof companies in our antitrust litigation.

Our license with Qimonda (formerly Infineon’s DRAdperations), which was part of our settlement with
Infineon, provides for the extension of certaindf@s under that license to a successor in intehegf under certain
conditions, acquires all of Qimonda’s DRAM operasolf such an acquisition were to occur, such essar would
be entitled to the extension of such benefitsudiclg the ability to pay a royalty calculated byltiplying the
Qimonda rate by the percentage increase in DRAMmelrepresented by the successor company’s combined
operations. Such an extension of benefits couln miake it more difficult for us to obtain the rotyatates we
believe are appropriate from the market as a wigeh an extension of benefits would, in additalep operate to
extend a release of claims to such successorréhuging the number of companies from which we segk
compensation for the antitrust injury alleged byrusur pending price-fixing action in San Franoisc

Any dispute regarding our intellectual property magquire us to indemnify certain licensees, the to§which
could severely hamper our business operations andricial condition.

In any potential dispute involving our patents titew intellectual property, our licensees coula dlecome the
target of litigation. While we generally do not erdnify our licensees, some of our license agreesrotvide
limited indemnities, some require us to providehtécal support and information to a licensee thanbvolved in
litigation involving use of our technology, and wry agree to indemnify others in the future. Odeimnification
and support obligations could result in substamtigdenses. In addition to the time and expensareatjfor us to
indemnify or supply such support to our licensed#;ensee’s development, marketing and salesensed
semiconductors could be severely disrupted ordbwh as a result of litigation, which in turn cosleverely
hamper our business operations and financial condit

Risks Associated With Our Business, Industry and Miket Conditions
If market leaders do not adopt our chip interfacequlucts, our results of operations could decline.

An important part of our strategy is to penetratrkat segments for chip interfaces by working vétiders in
those market segments. This strategy is designeddourage other participants in those segmeritdiéov such
leaders in adopting our chip interfaces. If a hpgbffile industry participant adopts our chip interés but fails to
achieve success with its products or adopts aniéeeh success with a competing chip interfacereputation and
sales could be adversely affected. In addition,esordustry participants have adopted, and othegsimtne future
adopt, a strategy of disparaging our memory satstadopted by their competitors or a strategy loémtise
undermining the market adoption of our solutions.

We target system companies to adopt our chip exterfechnologies, particularly those that devetapraarket
high volume business and consumer products, whaek traditionally been focused on PCs and videoegam
consoles, but also are expanding to include HDTE€Bular and digital phones, PDAs, digital cameand other
consumer electronics that incorporate all variedfesiemory and chip interfaces. In particular, stiategy includes
gaining acceptance of our technology in high volwmesumer applications, including video game casduch as
the Sony PlayStatiofi2 and Sony PLAYSTATION? 3, HDTVs and set top boxes. We are subject
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to many risks beyond our control that influence thilee or not a particular system company will admyt chip
interfaces, including, among others:

« competition faced by a system company in its paldicindustry;

« the timely introduction and market acceptance fstem compar's products

« the engineering, sales and marketing and managerapabilities of a system compal

« technical challenges unrelated to our chip inter$adfaced by a system company in developing itsymts¢

« the financial and other resources of the systenpemy;

« the supply of semiconductors from our licenseesuifficient quantities and at commercially attraetprices;

« the ability to establish the prices at which thigslktontaining our chip interfaces are made avksl&d
system companies; al

« the degree to which our licensees promote our iclgsfaces to a system compa

There can be no assurance that consumer prodattsutttently use our technology will continue tosig nor
can there be any assurance that the consumer psdtiatincorporate our technology will be sucogsisftheir
segments thereby generating expected royaltiexzarothere be any assurance that any of our teotiesl| selected
for licensing will be implemented in a commerciatlgveloped or distributed product.

If any of these events occur and market leadersotisuccessfully adopt our technologies, our sgsateay not
be successful and, as a result, our results oftipes could decline.

To continue to grow, we may have to invest moreotgses in research and development than anticipated
which could increase our operating expenses and adgely impact our operating results.

If new competitors, technological advances by exgstompetitors, our entry into new markets, oreoth
competitive factors require us to invest signifitagreater resources than anticipated in our reseand
development efforts, our operating expenses wadcbase. For the years ended December 31, 2008, 200
2005, research and development expenses were Bdldh, $69.0 million and $49.1 million, respeatly,
including stockeompensation of approximately $16.2 million, $1hlion and $8.1 million, respectively. If we a
required to invest significantly greater resourtes anticipated in research and development sffeithout an
increase in revenue, our operating results couttirde Research and development expenses are tikdliyctuate
from time to time to the extent we make periodicré@mental investments in research and developnmehtheese
investments may be independent of our level ofmaeeln order to grow, which may include enteriegvmmarkets,
we anticipate that we will continue to devote sahsal resources to research and development, arekpect these
expenses to increase in absolute dollars in tresémable future due to the increased complexittrendreater
number of products under development as well aschadditional employees.

Our revenue is concentrated in a few customers, afnaie lose any of these customers, our revenuey ma
decrease substantially.

We have a high degree of revenue concentratioh, auit top five licensees representing approxima@Bs,
63% and 73% of our revenues for the year endedrbieee31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Foy¢iae
ended December 31, 2007, revenues from Fujitsucl&lQimonda and Toshiba, each accounted for 10ftove of
total revenues. For the year ended December 38, 26@enues from Fujitsu, Elpida, Qimonda and |re¢ath
accounted for 10% or more of total revenues. Fewtar ended December 31, 2005, revenue from Higha,
Toshiba and Matsushita, each accounted for 10%ooe i our total revenues. We may continue to égpee
significant revenue concentration for the foreséefliure.

Substantially all of our licensees have the rightancel their licenses. Failure to renew licersselor the loss
of any of our top five licensees would cause reesro decline substantially. Intel has been onmuofargest
customers and is an important catalyst for the ldgweent of new memory and logic chip interfacethia
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semiconductor industry. We have a patent clicesise agreement with Intel for which we receigedrterly royalty
payments through the second quarter of 2006. Ttenpeross-license agreement expired in Septenig. 2ntel
now has a paid up license for the use of all ofgaients which claimed priority prior to Septemp@06. We have
other licenses with Intel, in addition to the patemss-license agreement, for the developmengmdldink chip
interfaces. If we do not continue to replace theeneies we previously received under the Intel emttiour results
of operations may decline significantly.

In addition, some of our commercial agreementsirequs to provide certain customers with the lowegalty
rate that we provide to other customers for sintédahnologies, volumes and schedules. These clawsgdmit our
ability to effectively price differently among oaustomers, to respond quickly to market forcemtberwise to
compete on the basis of price. The particular Bees which account for revenue concentration haxied/from
period to period as a result of the addition of m@mntracts, expiration of existing contracts, irtdpsonsolidation,
the expiration of deferred revenue schedules uexisting contracts, and the volumes and priceshatiwthe
licensees have recently sold licensed semicondutiasystem companies. These variations are expertontinue
in the foreseeable future, although we anticipladé tevenue will continue to be concentrated imiéd number of
licensees.

We are in negotiations with licensees and prospedittensees to reach SDR and DDR patent license
agreements. We expect SDR and DDR patent licerysdties will continue to vary from period to peribdsed on
our success in renewing existing license agreenatsadding new licensees, as well as the leveddétion in our
licensees’ reported shipment volumes, sales pridamwix, offset in part by the proportion of liceeggayments that
are fixed. If we are unsuccessful in renewing aihgus SDR and DDR-compatible contracts, our resofits
operations may decline significantly.

Unanticipated changes in our tax rates or in oursessment of the realizability of our deferred tassats or
exposure to additional income tax liabilities couldfect our operating results and financial condan.

We are subject to income taxes in both the UnitateS and various foreign jurisdictions. Significarigment
is required in determining our worldwide provisifirenefit) for income taxes and, in the ordinaryrsewf busines
there are many transactions and calculations wiheraltimate tax determination is uncertain. Otdie&fve tax rate
could be adversely affected by changes in the f&amings in countries with differing statutory tates, changes
in the valuation of deferred tax assets and lisddj changes in tax laws as well as other facfus.tax
determinations are regularly subject to audit byamathorities and developments in those auditsccadiersely
affect our income tax provision. Although we beédhat our tax estimates are reasonable, thedatarmination of
tax audits or tax disputes may be different fromatil reflected in our historical income tax proms which could
affect our operating results.

The realization of our net deferred tax assetppf@imately $127.8 million as of December 31, 2@8030lely
dependent on our ability to generate sufficientifeittaxable income during periods before the efipinaof tax
statutes. Forecasted income is based on assumpbons current trends in operations and futurgdtion outcome
or expected settlements, and there can be no assuttzat such results will be achieved. We revieehdorecasts |
comparison with actual results and expected tranhd=sast quarterly for the purpose of realizab#issessment. If v
determine that we will have insufficient future &ke income to fully realize the net deferred teseds, we will
record a valuation allowance by a charge to inctarexpense.

If we cannot respond to rapid technological changethe semiconductor industry by developing new
innovations in a timely and cost effective manneyr operating results will suffer.

The semiconductor industry is characterized bydrégthnological change, with new generations of
semiconductors being introduced periodically anthwngoing improvements. We derive most of our nesefrom
our chip interface technologies that we have patkritVe expect that this dependence on our fundanent
technology will continue for the foreseeable futurke introduction or market acceptance of competimp
interfaces that render our chip interfaces lesgalge or obsolete would have a rapid and matedakrse effect on
our business, results of operations and financaélition. The announcement of new chip interfageascould
cause licensees or system companies to delay er eietering into arrangements for the use of oteot chip
interfaces, which
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could have a material adverse effect on our busjiegmncial condition and results of operation® &e dependent
on the semiconductor industry to develop test 8migtthat are adequate to test our chip interfanesto supply
such test solutions to our customers and us.

Our continued success depends on our ability todice and patent enhancements and new generafions
chip interface technologies that keep pace witleiothanges in the semiconductor industry and whattieve rapid
market acceptance. We must continually devote fitgmit engineering resources to addressing theisesgasing
need for higher speed chip interfaces associatdtimdreases in the speed of microprocessors drat obntrollers.
The technical innovations that are required fotouse successful are inherently complex and redoirg
development cycles, and there can be no assuraateur development efforts will ultimately be sessful. In
addition, these innovations must be:

« completed before changes in the semiconductor tndtender them obsolet
« available when system companies require these atimms; anc

« sufficiently compelling to cause semiconductor nfanturers to enter into licensing arrangements witlfior
these new technologie

Finally, significant technological innovations gealty require a substantial investment before themmercial
viability can be determined. There can be no asseréhat we have accurately estimated the amouwesotrces
required to complete the projects, or that we hale, or be able to expend, sufficient resourcgsired for these
types of projects. In addition, there is markek associated with these products, and there cao lssurance that
unit volumes, and their associated royalties, @gltur. If our technology fails to capture or mainta portion of the
high volume consumer market, our business resaltklcsuffer.

If we cannot successfully respond to rapid techgickl changes in the semiconductor industry by kigpieg
new products in a timely and cost effective marmeroperating results will suffer.

We face intense competition that may cause our tesaf operations to suffer.

The semiconductor industry is intensely competitimel has been impacted by price erosion, rapicdhtdobica
change, short product life cycles, cyclical marpatterns and increasing foreign and domestic catigpetSome
semiconductor companies have developed and supoieting logic chip interfaces including their osgrial link
chip interfaces and parallel bus chip interfaces.aléo face competition from semiconductor andlattual
property companies who provide their own DDR mendip interface technology and solutions. In additimost
DRAM manufacturers, including our XDR licenseesduce versions of DRAM such as SDR, DDRx and GDDRx
SDRAM which compete with XDR chips. We believe that principal competition for memory chip interéscmay
come from our licensees and prospective licensaase of which are evaluating and developing prasibased on
technologies that they contend or may contendnwillrequire a license from us. In addition, our petitors are
also taking a system approach similar to ours @kisg to solve the application needs of system aorigs. Many ¢
these companies are larger and may have bettessattcéinancial, technical and other resources tiapossess.
Wider applications of other developing memory tasbgies, including FLASH memory, may also pose cetitjpn
to our licensed memory solutions.

As the semiconductor industry is highly cyclicagrsficant economic downturns characterized by distied
demand, erosion of average selling prices, prodnaiercapacity and production capacity constraiotdd affect
the semiconductor industry. As a result, we mag faceduced number of licensing wins, tighteningusftomers’
operating budgets, extensions of the approval gof@ new licenses and consolidation among oupmeys, all o
which may adversely affect the demand for our tetdgy and may cause us to experience substantial
period-to-period fluctuations in our operating Hesu

JEDEC has standardized what it calls extensiof¥3iR, known as DDR2 and DDR3. Other efforts are
underway to create other products including thaseetimes referred to as GDDR4 and GDDRS5, as waleas
ways to integrate products such as system-in-packdAM. To the extent that these alternatives mgbvide
comparable system performance at lower or simdat than XDR memory chips, or are perceived toireghe
payment of no or lower royalties, or to the extathier factors influence the industry, our licensaed prospective
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licensees may adopt and promote alternative teohied. Even to the extent we determine that suehnaltive
technologies infringe our patents, there can bassoirance that we would be able to negotiate agmtsrthat
would result in royalties being paid to us withétigation, which could be costly and the resultsuhich would be
uncertain. In the industry standard and leaderséijal link chip interface business, we face addal competition
from semiconductor companies that sell discretesgaiver chips for use in various types of systdrs)
semiconductor companies that develop their owrakkmk chip interfaces, as well as from compest®uch as
ARM and Synopsys, who license similar serial litipcinterface products and digital controllers.tiéé 10 Gb/s
speed, competition will also come from optical teallogy sold by system and semiconductor compamtesie are
standardization efforts under way or completedstaial links from standard bodies such as PCI-SiG@IF. We
may face increased competition from these type®o$ortia in the future that could negatively impaar serial linl
chip interface business.

In the FlexlO processor bus chip interface markgnsent, we face additional competition from semittartor
companies who develop their own parallel bus chiprfaces, as well as competitors who license aimpiarallel bu
chip interface products. We may also see competitimm industry consortia or standard setting bednat could
negatively impact our FlexlO processor bus chipriisice business.

As with our memory chip interface products, to éx¢éent that competitive alternatives to our sasigbarallel
logic chip interface products might provide comdessystem performance at lower or similar cosgrerperceive
to require the payment of no or lower royaltiestathe extent other factors influence the indusity licensees and
prospective licensees may adopt and promote atteertechnologies, which could negatively impact memory
and logic chip interface business.

If for any of these reasons we cannot effectiveljnpete in these primary market segments, our sesfilt
operations could suffer.

Some of our revenue is subject to the pricing p@& of our licensees over whom we have no control.

We have no control over our licensees’ pricinghait products and there can be no assurance teaske
products using or containing our chip interfacel ma competitively priced or will sell in signifamt volumes. One
important requirement for our memory chip interacefor any premium charged by our licenseesérmptfice of
memory and controller chips over alternatives todasonable in comparison to the perceived bergdfitse chip
interfaces. If the benefits of our technology do match the price premium charged by our licenséestesulting
decline in sales of products incorporating our tedhbgy could harm our operating results.

Our licensing cycle is lengthy and costly and ouarketing and sales efforts may be unsuccessful.

The process of persuading customers to adopt egigisie our chip interface technologies can be Igraytid,
even if successful, there can be no assurancethahip interfaces will be used in a product tkatltimately
brought to market, achieves commercial acceptaraesults in significant royalties to us. We gefigrincur
significant marketing and sales expenses priontergng into our license agreements, generatincease fee and
establishing a royalty stream from each licensée. [€ngth of time it takes to establish a new kiteqg relationship
can take many months. In addition, our ongoingllettual property litigation and regulatory actidmsve and will
likely continue to have an impact on our abilityetoter into new licenses and renewals of licerlsesexample, we
believe that the uncertainty surrounding the immatation and timing of the FTC’s Maximum Allowalif®yalties
under the FTC order has led to greater delay andrtainty with respect to certain license renevegjatiations. As
such, we may incur costs in any particular periefbfe any associated revenues stream begins. thatketing and
sales efforts are very lengthy or unsuccessfuh the may face a material adverse effect on oumlegsiand results
of operations as a result of delay or failure ttagbroyalties.

Future revenues are difficult to predict for sevdnaeasons, and our failure to predict revenues acately may
cause us to miss analysts’ estimates and resutiun stock price declining.

Our lengthy and costly license negotiation cycl&essour future revenues difficult to predict in #heent that
we are not successful entering into licenses withcoistomers on our estimated timelines. In addittoportion of
our revenue comes from development and supporicesrprovided to our licensees. Depending upométere of
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the services, a portion of the related revenue Ingaecognized ratably over the support period, ay be
recognized according to contract accounting. Cehtevenue accounting may result in deferral ofsbvice fees t
the completion of the contract, or may be recoghizeer the period in which services are performed o
percentage-of-completion basis. There can be noasse that the product development schedule &setiprojects
will not be changed or delayed. All of these fastorake it difficult to predict future licensing emwe and may
result in our missing previously announced earngujgance or analysts’ estimates which would likedyise our
stock price to decline.

Our quarterly and annual operating results are ungdictable and fluctuate, which may cause our stquice to
be volatile and decline.

Since many of our revenue components fluctuateaa@difficult to predict, and our expenses aredbrg
independent of revenues in any particular period, difficult for us to accurately forecast reveswand profitability.
Factors other than those set forth above, whiclbayend our ability to control or assess in advatiwa could
cause our operating results to fluctuate include:

« semiconductor and system compa’ acceptance of our chip interface produ
« the success of high volume consumer applicatiard) as the Sony PLAYSTATIO® 3;

* the dependence of our royalties upon fluctuatingsseolumes and prices of licensed chips that delour
technology;

« the seasonal shipment patterns of systems incdmpgmaur chip interface product

« the loss of any strategic relationships with systempanies or licensee

« semiconductor or system companies discontinuingnmpducts incorporating our chip interfac
« the unpredictability of the timing and amount of/ditigation expenses

» changes in our chip and system company customevglopment schedules and levels of expenditure on
research and developme

 our licensees terminating or failing to make payteemder their current contracts or seeking to fiyalich
contracts; ani

« changes in our strategies, including changes idicemsing focus and/or possible acquisitions ahpanies
with business models different from our oy

For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 ark] Bfalties accounted for 86%, 87% and 83%,
respectively, of our total revenues, and we beltbeg royalties will continue to represent a majodf total
revenues for the foreseeable future. Royaltieganerally recognized in the quarter in which weenee a report
from a licensee regarding the sale of licensedscimhe prior quarter; however, royalties are geiped only if
collectibility is assured. As a result of these em@inties and effects being outside of our contmlalty revenues
are difficult to predict and make accurate finahfaaecasts difficult to achieve, which could cawusg stock price to
become volatile and decline.

A substantial portion of our revenues is derivedin sources outside of the United States and thesenues
and our business generally are subject to risksated to international operations that are often twnd our
control.

For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 arsir@9@nues from our sales to international custemer
constituted approximately 85%, 75% and 71% of otaltrevenues, respectively. We currently haverivagonal
operations in India (design), Japan (business dpwetnt), Taiwan (business development), Germansirfbas
development) and Korea (business development). riasudt of our continued focus on international kess, we
expect that future revenues derived from intermati@ources will continue to represent a signifigartion of our
total revenues.

19




Table of Contents

To date, all of the revenues from internationaisees have been denominated in U.S. dollars. Howevthe
extent that such licensees’ sales to systems casgpare not denominated in U.S. dollars, any rasglwhich are
based as a percentage of the customer’s salew¢haiceive as a result of such sales could be cuojéluctuations
in currency exchange rates. In addition, if theet/e price of licensed semiconductors sold byforgign licensees
were to increase as a result of fluctuations inetkehange rate of the relevant currencies, demamigcénsed
semiconductors could fall, which in turn would redwur royalties. We do not use financial instrute¢a hedge
foreign exchange rate risk.

Our international operations and revenues are sutije variety of risks which are beyond our cohtr
including:

« export controls, tariffs, import and licensing ragtons and other trade barrie

« profits, if any, earned abroad being subject talléax laws and not being repatriated to the Un8tates or,
if repatriation is possible, limited in amou

« changes to tax codes and treatment of revenuesifitermational sources, including being subjedbteign
tax laws and potentially being liable for payingda in that foreign jurisdictior

« foreign government regulations and changes in thexgadations
« social, political and economic instabilit

« lack of protection of our intellectual property amither contract rights by jurisdictions in which weay do
business to the same extent as the laws of thetlSitates

« changes in diplomatic and trade relationsh

« cultural differences in the conduct of businesslwath licensees and in conducting business in our
international facilities and international salefiaefs;

« operating centers outside the United Ste
* hiring, maintaining and managing a workforce reryotend under various legal systems; i
 gec-political issues

We and our licensees are subject to many of thke described above with respect to companies wdrieh
located in different countries, particularly homdeo game console and PC manufacturers locatedimakd
elsewhere. There can be no assurance that onererahthe risks associated with our internation@rations could
not result in a material adverse effect on ourress, financial condition or results of operations.

Our results of operations could vary as a resulttbe methods, estimates, and judgments we use lyapg our
accounting policies.

The methods, estimates, and judgments we use Igiag@ur accounting policies have a significanpat on
our results of operations, as described elsewineit@s report. Such methods, estimates, and judggeea, by their
nature, subject to substantial risks, uncertaintied assumptions, and factors may arise overttiatdead us to
change our methods, estimates, and judgments. @hamghose methods, estimates, and judgments could
significantly affect our results of operations particular, the calculation of shabased compensation expense ul
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No(RP28'SFAS No. 123(R)"), requires us to use valoati
methodologies which were not developed for useaining employee stock options and a number of apsans,
estimates, and conclusions regarding matters suel@ected forfeitures, expected volatility of ebare price, and
the exercise behavior of our employees. Furtherntbeze are no means, under applicable accountingiples, to
compare and adjust our expense if and when we &arat additional information that may affect tistiraates that
we previously made, with the exception of changesxipected forfeitures of share-based awards. Factay arise
that lead us to change our estimates and assuraptitim respect to future share-based compensatiangements,
resulting in variability in our share-based comzioh expense over time. Changes in forecaste&-sased
compensation expense could impact our cost of aohtevenues, research and development expenses,
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marketing, general and administrative expensesanéffective tax rate, which could have an advaergect on
our results of operations.

Our business and operating results will be harméavie are unable to manage growth in our business.

Our business has experienced periods of rapid grtvett have placed, and may continue to placeif&ignt
demands on our managerial, operational and finaresaurces. In order to manage this growth, wetmastinue tc
improve and expand our management, operationafiaacial systems and controls. We also need tdmos to
expand, train and manage our employee base. Wetassure you that we will be able to timely arfeé@fvely
meet demand and maintain the quality standardsreshhy our existing and potential customers acergees. If w
ineffectively manage our growth or we are unsudoéds recruiting and retaining personnel, our Inesis and
operating results will be harmed.

We may make future acquisitions or enter into merggestrategic transactions or other arrangementsttcould
cause our business to suffer.

We may continue to make investments in companiesiyets or technologies or enter into mergerstesjia
transactions or other arrangements. If we buy gpamy or a division of a company, we may experidiffeulty
integrating that company’s or division’s personamdl operations, which could negatively affect querating
results. In addition:

« the key personnel of the acquired company may deuid to work for us

« we may experience additional financial and accognthallenges and complexities in areas such as tax
planning, cash management and financial repor

* our ongoing business may be disrupted or recesfficient management attentic
* we may not be able to recognize the cost savingsher financial benefits we anticipated,; ¢

* our increasing international presence resultinghfexcquisitions may increase our exposure to intenmeal
currency, tax and political risk

In connection with future acquisitions or mergatsategic transactions or other arrangements, weimcar
substantial expenses regardless of whether thgattéion occurs. In addition, we may be requiredssume the
liabilities of the companies we acquire. By assughe liabilities, we may incur liabilities such th@se related to
intellectual property infringement or indemnificati of customers of acquired businesses for siroilams, which
could materially and adversely affect our businggs.may have to incur debt or issue equity seesrtid pay for
any future acquisition, the issuance of which caonllve restrictive covenants or be dilutive ta edisting
stockholders.

If we are unable to attract and retain qualified pgonnel, our business and operations could suffer.

Our success is dependent upon our ability to iflerattract, compensate, motivate and retain geallif
personnel, especially engineers, who can enharrcexaiing technologies and introduce new techrielg
Competition for qualified personnel, particularhose with significant industry experience, is irsgnin particular i
the San Francisco Bay Area where we are headgedréerd in the area of Bangalore, India where we laaglesign
center. We are also dependent upon our senior reareg personnel. The loss of the services of amypgenior
management personnel, or key sales personneticatrnarkets, or critical members of staff, oraoignificant
number of our engineers could be disruptive todmwelopment efforts or business relationships anddccause oL
business and operations to suffer.

Decreased effectiveness of equity-based compensatald adversely affect our ability to attract amdtain
employees.

We have historically used stock options and otben$ of stock-based compensation as key compooéots
employee compensation program in order to alignleyegs’ interests with the interests of our stod#tars,
encourage employee retention and provide competitdmpensation and benefit packages. As a resatiasfges
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in accounting principles, we have incurred incrdasempensation costs associated with our stockdbase
compensation programs. As a result and as pauroferall compensation philosophy, we have woticestduce
the issuance of equity as a percentage of ovayaipensation and the number of equity awards isanadally as a
percentage of our total outstanding shares. Intiaadif we face any difficulty relating to obtaig stockholder
approval of our equity compensation plans, it coulke it harder or more expensive for us to grantksbased
payments to employees in the future. As a resutede factors leading to lower equity compensaiforur
employees, we may find it difficult to attract,ai#t and motivate employees, and any such difficetiyld materiall
adversely affect our business.

Our operations are subject to risks of natural ditars, acts of war, terrorism or widespread ilinegsour
domestic and international locations, any one of ish could result in a business stoppage and negalinaffect
our operating results.

Our business operations depend on our ability tmtaia and protect our facility, computer systemd a
personnel, which are primarily located in the SeamnEisco Bay Area. The San Francisco Bay Area ¢dase
proximity to known earthquake fault zones. Ourlfacand transportation for our employees are spsbke to
damage from earthquakes and other natural disastebhsas fires, floods and similar events. Shonldathquake ¢
other catastrophes, such as fires, floods, povesy, mommunication failure or similar events disahlefacilities, we
do not have readily available alternative facititteom which we could conduct our business, whiclpgage could
have a negative effect on our operating resultss Atterrorism, widespread illness and war coldd have a
negative effect at our international and domestilities.

Risks Related to Corporate Governance and Capitalaion Matters

The price of our Common Stock may fluctuate sige#intly, which may make it difficult for holders teesell
their shares when desired or at attractive prices.

Our Common Stock is listed on The Nasdaq Globa@&@élarket under the symbol “RMBS.” The tradingcpri
of our Common Stock has been subject to wide fhtadns which may continue in the future in respaas@among
other things, the following:

e any progress, or lack of progress, in the develeopiroeproducts that incorporate our chip interfa
 0Our signing or not signing new license

* new litigation or developments in current litigatias discussed abo\

« announcements of our technological innovationseav products by us, our licensees or our competi
* positive or negative reports by securities analgistto our expected financial resu

« developments with respect to patents or proprigights and other events or factors; i

« any delisting of our Common Stock from The Nasdémp@l Select Marke!

In addition, the equity markets have experiencddtility that has particularly affected the markeices of
equity securities of many high technology compaaied that often has been unrelated or dispropatioto the
operating performance of such companies.

If we fail to remediate any material weaknessesur internal control over financial reporting, we iay be
unable to accurately report our financial results eeasonably prevent fraud which could result inlass of
investor confidence in our financial reports and ka an adverse effect on our business and operategplts
and our stock price.

Effective internal control over financial reportirgessential for us to produce reliable financéglorts and
prevent fraud. If we cannot provide reliable fin@hinformation or prevent fraud, our business apdrating
results, as well as our stock price, could be hdriéée have during the year ended December 31, @3@dvered,
and may in the future discover, material weaknessesr internal control over financial reportingfailure to
implement and maintain effective internal contreéofinancial reporting, could harm our operatiegults, result
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in a material misstatement of our financial statetsecause us to fail to meet our financial repgrtbbligations or
prevent us from providing reliable and accuratarfitial reports or avoiding or detecting fraud. Thgurn, could
result in a loss of investor confidence in the aacy and completeness of our financial reportsctvisbuld have an
adverse effect on our stock price.

Compliance with changing regulation of corporate gernance and public disclosure may result in addital
expenses.

Changing laws, regulations and standards relatiraptporate governance and public disclosure, dictynew
SEC regulations and Nasdaq rules, are creatingtamty for companies such as ours. These new amgéd laws,
regulations and standards are subject to varyitggpretations in many cases due to their lack et#igity, and as a
result, their application in practice may evolveeptime as new guidance is provided by regulatog governing
bodies, which could result in continuing uncertgirggarding compliance matters and higher costessitated by
ongoing revisions to disclosure and governancetigpes: We intend to invest resources to comply witblving
laws, regulations and standards, and this invedtmes result in increased general and adminisgaixpenses and
a diversion of management time and attention fremenue generating activities to compliance acgsitif our
efforts to comply with new or changed laws, reguolat and standards differ from the activities it by
regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguitedated to practice, our reputation may be harmed.

The matters relating to the independent investigetiof our historical stock option granting practiseand the
restatement of our previous financial statementauttadversely affect our business, financial condit, results
of operations and cash flows.

During 2006 and 2007, our Audit Committee condu@ednternal investigation of the timing of stogition
grant practices and related accounting issues,aand result of the findings, we restated variaesipusly filed
financial statements. The costs of the investigadind restatement and any settlements, paymefdiofs; fines,
taxes and other costs led to substantial expehaestaterially affected our cash balance and dasisffrom
operations. In addition, the recent restatemepuofinancial results and any negative outcomertieat occur from
these investigations could impact our reputatinaluding our relationships with our investors and kicensees, our
ability to hire and retain qualified personnel, ability to acquire new licensees and other busipastners and,
ultimately, our ability to generate revenue. Fumhere, considerable legal and accounting experdated to these
matters have been incurred to date and signifiegpenditures may continue to be incurred in theréut

Future government actions may result from the cetignl of the investigation of stock option gramie are
also under examination by the Internal Revenuei&2(VIRS”) on the various tax reporting implicat®resulting
from the investigation. There is no assurancedttar regulatory inquiries will not be commencedollyer
U.S. federal, state or foreign regulatory agendresuding the IRS and other tax authorities. Théaumorable
resolution of any potential tax or other regulatprgceeding or action could require us to makeiagmt payments
in overdue taxes, penalties and fines or othervéserd charges (or reduce tax assets) that mayselyeaffect our
results of operations and financial condition.

In addition, our bylaws and certain indemnificatagreements require us to indemnify our currentfarder
directors, officers, employees and agents agaiost actions of a civil, criminal, administrativeiovestigative
nature unless such person acted criminally, in armeaopposed to our best interests or did notnagbod faith.
Generally, we are required to advance indemnifica¢ixpenses prior to any final adjudication of @gfividual’s
culpability. Therefore, the expense of indemnifymg current and former directors, officers and kyges and
agents in their defense or related expenses asub of the derivative, class action and any relpujaactions related
to the investigation and financial restatement magignificant. Therefore, our indemnification gjaliions could
result in the diversion of our financial resourtiest adversely affects our business, financial d@mdand results of
operations.
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We have been named as a party to several lawsuisingy from matters relating to the investigationhich may
result in unfavorable outcomes and significant judeents, settlements and legal expenses which coalgse
our business, financial condition and results of emations to suffer.

Several shareholder derivative actions were fitestéite and federal courts against certain of otreat and
former officers and directors, as well as our aurguditors, related to the stock option investaratThe actions
were brought by persons identifying themselveshaseholders and purporting to act on our behalf.a'¢enamed
solely as a nominal defendant against whom theiifsi seek no recovery. The complaints allege teatain of
these defendants violated securities laws andéadbred their fiduciary duties to us and obtaingdstrenrichment
in connection with grants of stock options to dertaf our officers that were allegedly improperigted. The
complaints seek unspecified monetary damages agdmjement from the defendants, as well as unspécif
equitable relief. Additionally, several securitfesud class actions and individual lawsuits weledfin federal court
against us and certain of our current and formiicexk and directors. The complaints generallygalthat the
defendants violated the federal securities lawSliog documents with the SEC containing false estagnts
regarding our accounting treatment of the stockoopgranting actions under investigation. The iidiinal lawsuits
allege not only federal and state securities lavations, but also state law claims for fraud arehbh of fiduciary
duty. The class actions have been consolidatediistngle proceeding. On September 7, 2007, theepdo this
class action proceeding advised the court that tlagyreached a settlement in principle of thediign. The
settlement, which is subject to final documentatod approval by the court, provides for a payneé$18 million
by us for a dismissal with prejudice of all claiagainst all defendants. See Note 16 “Litigation Asderted
Claims” of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statetador more information.

There can be no assurance that further lawsuipatijes who allege they suffered injury as a consage of
our past stock option granting practices will netftted in the future. The amount of time to resotliese current
and any future lawsuits is uncertain, and thes¢emsatould require significant management and firmesources
which could otherwise be devoted to the operatfomuo business. Although we have accrued an estimfatertain
liabilities that we believe will result from centaof these actions, including the $18 million men&d above, the
actual costs and expenses to defend and satighf thiése lawsuits and any potential future litigatwill exceed ou
current estimated accruals, possibly significaritlgfavorable outcomes and significant judgmenttleseents and
legal expenses in the litigation related to outt g#zck option granting practices could have matexrilverse impac
on our business, financial condition, results ofrggpions, cash flows and the trading price of oom@on Stock.

We are leveraged financially, which could adversalffect our ability to adjust our business to reggbto
competitive pressures and to obtain sufficient funtb satisfy our future research and developmeneds, and
to defend our intellectual property.

We have indebtedness. On February 1, 2005, wedsk2@0.0 million aggregate principal amount of zero
coupon convertible senior notes (“convertible NYtdae February 1, 2010, of which $160.0 milliomains
outstanding as of the date of this report.

The degree to which we are leveraged could haveiitapt consequences, including, but not limitedhe,
following:

« our ability to obtain additional financing in thet@ire for working capital, capital expendituresjuaisitions,
general corporate or other purposes may be lim

 a substantial portion of our cash flows from operat will be dedicated to the payment of the ppatiof oul
indebtedness as we are required to pay the prinaipaunt of the convertible notes in cash when

« if we elect to pay any premium on the convertilidées with shares of our Common Stock or we areiredu
to pay a “make-whole” premium with our shares ofr@eon Stock, our existing stockholders’ interestign
would be diluted; an

« we may be more vulnerable to economic downturiss, &ble to withstand competitive pressures and less
flexible in responding to changing business andhentc conditions
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A failure to comply with the covenants and othesyisions of our debt instruments could result ierge of
default under such instruments, which could peaodeleration of the convertible notes under sustruments and
in some cases acceleration of any future debt undguments that may contain cross-default orssaxcceleration
provisions. For instance, as a result of the stjatlon investigation, in July 2007, the trusteehaf convertible note
accelerated the convertible notes due to an allegedt of default that had occurred under the cdiile notes
because of the assertion that we were not in camgdi with the SEC reporting covenant. While thetee
subsequently rescinded this acceleration and waillegkisting events of default under the indentyogerning the
convertible notes, any required repayment of thevedible notes would lower our current cash onchsunch that
we would not have those funds available for theinsrir business.

If we are at any time unable to generate sufficeash flow from operations to service our indebésgnwvhen
payment is due, we may be required to attemptrtegetiate the terms of the instruments relatinigp¢o
indebtedness, seek to refinance all or a porticgh@fndebtedness or obtain additional financirgeré can be no
assurance that we will be able to successfullygetiate such terms, that any such refinancing wbelgossible or
that any additional financing could be obtainedemms that are favorable or acceptable to us.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, ouratkholder rights plan, and Delaware law contain prigions
that could discourage transactions resulting in &dange in control, which may negatively affect theanket
price of our Common Stock.

Our certificate of incorporation, our bylaws, otwekholder rights plan and Delaware law contairvigions
that might enable our management to discouragayaelprevent change in control. In addition, thesw®isions
could limit the price that investors would be willi to pay in the future for shares of our CommacstAmong
these provisions are:

 our board of directors is authorized, without pstwckholder approval, to create and issue prefesiack,
commonly referred to “blank chec” preferred stock, with rights senior to those of @uon Stock

 our board of directors is staggered into two classely one of which is elected at each annual imge
« stockholder action by written consent is prohibjt

« nominations for election to our board of directangl the submission of matters to be acted upon by
stockholders at a meeting are subject to advanieen@quirements

« certain provisions in our bylaws and certificatéraforporation such as notice to stockholdersathiéty to
call a stockholder meeting, advanced notice remerdgs and the stockholders acting by written cansety
only be amended with the approval of stockholdetdihg 662/ 3% of our outstanding voting stoc

« the ability of our stockholders to call special itimegs of stockholders is prohibited; a
 our board of directors is expressly authorized &key alter or repeal our bylav

In addition, the provisions in our stockholder tgyplan could make it more difficult for a poteh@@quirer to
consummate an acquisition of our company. We @@ sbject to Section 203 of the Delaware Genevgb@atior
Law, which provides, subject to enumerated exceptithat if a person acquires 15% or more of otstanding
voting stock, the person is an “interested stoaidigland may not engage in any “business combinatigth us for
a period of three years from the time the persquiaed 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen

None.
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Item 2. Properties
As of December 31, 2007, we occupied offices inltlased facilities described below:

Number of Offices

Under Least¢ Location Primary Use
4 United States Executive and administrative offices, research and
development, sales and marketing and service
functions

Los Altos, CA (Headquarters)
Chapel Hill, NC

Mountain View, CA

Austin, TX
1 Bangalore, India Administrative offices, research and development
service function:
1 Tokyo, Japal Business developme
1 Taipei, Taiwar Business developme
1 Seoul, Kores Business developme
1 Pforzheim, German Business developme

In May 2006, we signed an agreement to lease aoffese facility in Bangalore, India into which weahe
consolidated all of our Bangalore operations aexfember 31, 2007.
Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

For the information required by this item regardiegal proceedings, see Note 16 “Litigation andetexl
Claims” of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statetaefi this Form 10-K.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Hold¢

On December 19, 2007, Rambus held its 2007 Annweatidg of Stockholders. The matters voted upohet t
meeting for shareholders of record as of Novemiie2@07 and the vote with respect to each suclremate set
forth below:

(i) Election of five Class Il directors for a terofitwo years expiring in 2009:

For Withheld
J. Thomas Bentle 84,600,05 1,583,29
P. Michael Farmwals 70,503,68 15,679,66
Penelope A. Herschi 76,579,57 9,603,78:
Kevin Kennedy 60,176,62 26,006,72
David Shrigley 76,590,09 9,593,25!

(i) Ratification of appointment of PricewaterhoGsmpers LLP as our independent registered pubtiowting
firm:

For: 84,545,727 Against: 1,118,12 Abstentions: 519,49¢

The term for Class | continuing directors will esgpat the annual meeting of stockholders to be imeD08.
There were 105,045,215 shares issued, outstandahglaible to vote at the meeting.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registran’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters arsslier Purchases of Equity
Securities

Our Common Stock is listed on The Nasdaq Globa@&éllarket under the symbol “RMBS”. The following
table sets forth for the periods indicated the lagt low sales price per share of our Common Sasaleported on
The Nasdaqg Global Select Market.

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 200° December 31, 200!
High Low High Low
First Quarte! $23.9t  $17.31 $40.2:  $17.5C
Second Quarte $22.00C $17.67 $46.9¢  $19.7¢
Third Quartel $19.6(C  $12.0f $25.3¢  $10.2¢
Fourth Quarte $22.2( $17.6¢ $23.8:  $15.8i

The graph below matches Rambus Inc.’s cumulativen@bth total shareholder return on Common Stoch wit
the cumulative total returns of the Nasdagq Compasilex and the RDG Semiconductor Composite indlbz.
graph tracks the performance of a $100 investnmeatr Common Stock and in each of the indexes (thith
reinvestment of all dividends) from 9/30/2001 td3122007.

COMPARISON OF 75 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Rambus Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index
And The RDG Semiconductor Composite Index
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Information regarding our securities authorizedifsuance under equity compensation plans wilhbiided ir
Item 12, “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficiavners and Management and Related Stockholder tdattd
this report on Form 10-K.

As of January 31, 2008, there were 816 holdersaind of our Common Stock. Because many of theestair
our Common Stock are held by brokers and otheitutisins on behalf of stockholders, we are unablestimate th
total number of stockholders represented by theserd holders. We have never paid or declared asly dividend
on our Common Stock or other securities and haveun@nt plans to do so.

Share Repurchase Program

In October 2001, our Board of Directors approvesthare repurchase program of our Common Stock,
principally to reduce the dilutive effect of empé®ystock options. To date, our Board of Direct@s &pproved the
authorization to repurchase up to 19.0 million skaf our outstanding Common Stock over an undefiregiod of
time. As of December 31, 2007, we had repurchasedraulative total of 13.2 million shares of our Gonon Stock
at an average price per share of $13.95 sinceatimenencement of this program. As of December 317 20@re
remained an outstanding authorization to repurcBa&enillion shares of our outstanding Common Stk
connection with the completed stock options ingggton, repurchases of Common Stock under thisrprogvere
suspended as of July 19, 2006. We became currémbwi SEC filings as of October 17, 2007, butrd
repurchase shares in 2007. During 2008, we begamaleasing additional shares under the share rieasec
program. See Note 17 “Subsequent Events” of Not€onhsolidated Financial Statements for more infdiom.

Iltem 6. Selected Financial Dat:

The following selected consolidated financial dgttauld be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Manageit's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &wbults of Operations,” and Item 8, “Financial Sta¢nts and
Supplementary Data,” and other financial data idetlelsewhere in this report. Our historical ressoftoperations
are not necessarily indicative of results of operatto be expected for any future period.

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(In thousands, except per share amount:
Total revenue $179,94( $195,32: $157,19¢ $144,87: $118,30:
Net income (loss $(27,664) $(13,81€) $ 28,94( $ 22,36: $ 5,98:
Net income (loss) per shal
Basic $ (027 $ (0139 $ 02¢ $ 022 $ 0.0€
Diluted $ (027 $ (0139 $ 028 $ 021 $ O0.0€

Consolidated Balance Sheet Dat
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable sectL $440,88: $436,34: $355,39( $236,36( $188,53¢

Total asset $627,34° $604,61° $515,95.! $396,05: $321,10¢
Deferred revenu $ 2,75¢ $ 7551 $ 9,29C $ 23,82¢ $ 42,20
Convertible note $160,00( $160,00¢ $160,00 $ $ —
Stockholder equity $407,08: $382,28¢ $323,46° $353,57t $262,35°
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Item 7. Managemen's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditionnal Results of Operations

This report contains forward-looking statementshimtthe meaning of Section 27A of the SecuritieAt933
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Ac®®4.1These statements relate to our expectatiorfsitiaore event:
and time periods. All statements other than statesnef historical fact are statements that coulddeemed to be
forward-looking statements, including any statements réigartrends in future revenues or results of operss,
gross margin or operating margin, expenses, eamimglosses from operations, synergies or otherfaial items;
any statements of the plans, strategies and obgstf management for future operations; any stetgsn
concerning developments, performance or industnkireg; any statements regarding future economicdaams or
performance; any statements regarding pending itny&tsons, claims or disputes; any statements pketation ot
belief; and any statements of assumptions underlgiry of the foregoing. Generally, the words “aipgate,”
“believes,” “plans,” “expects,” “future,” “intends,” “may,” “should,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potent ial,”
“continue” and similar expressions identify forwafdoking statements. Our forward-looking statememesbased
on current expectations, forecasts and assumptodsare subject to risks, uncertainties and change®ndition,
significance, value and effect. As a result offttedors described herein, and in the documentsrppa@ted herein
by reference, including, in particular, those fastdescribed under “Risk Factors,” we undertakeaidigation to
publicly disclose any revisions to these forw-looking statements to reflect events or circumstaroccurring
subsequent to filing this report with the Secusit@ad Exchange Commission.

Business Overview

We design, develop and license chip interface teldgies and architectures that are foundationaktarly all
digital electronics products. Our chip interfacehteologies are designed to improve the timeatoket, performanc
and cost-effectiveness of our customers’ semicaiodw@nd system products for computing, communicatiand
consumer electronics applications.

As of December 31, 2007, our chip interface techgiels are covered by more than 680 U.S. and foreign
patents. Additionally, we have approximately 54@paapplications pending. These patents and papgiications
cover important inventions in memory and logic cimigrfaces, in addition to other technologies. bééeve that
our chip interface technologies provide a highefggenance, lower risk, and more cost-effective ralive for our
customers than can be achieved through their otennal research and development efforts.

We offer our customers two alternatives for using chip interface technologies in their products:

First, we license our broad portfolio of patentedeintions to semiconductor and system companiesusbo
these inventions in the development and manufactiuigeir own products. Such licensing agreemergyg cover
the license of part, or all, of our patent portiolPatent license agreements are royalty bearing.

Second, we develop “leadership” (which are Ramtmegrietary products widely licensed to our custmshanc
industry-standard chip interface products that vewigle to our customers under license for incorponainto their
semiconductor and system products. Because offtitie complex nature of implementing state-of-thechip
interface technology, we offer our customers a easfgengineering services to help them successifutiigrate our
chip interface products into their semiconducterd systems. Product license agreements may hakieabioted
price (non-recurring) component and ongoing rogaltEngineering services are customarily bundlel @uar
product licenses, and are performed on a fixeceyasis. Further, under product licenses, our meste may
receive licenses to our patents necessary to ingsiethe chip interface in their products with sfiegights and
restrictions to the applicable patents elaboratatieir individual contracts with us.

We derive the majority of our annual revenues bgrsing our broad portfolio of patents for chignfdces to
our customers. Such licenses may cover part af allir patent portfolio. Leading semiconductor agdtem
companies such as AMD, Elpida, Fujitsu, Qimondgl|Matsushita, NECEL, Renesas, Spansion and bagtave
licensed our patents for use in their own products.

We derive additional revenues by licensing our égldip and industry-standard chip interface progitecour
customers for use in their semiconductor and sygte@mucts. Our customers include leading compasueh as
Fujitsu, Elpida, IBM, Intel, Matsushita, Texas Inshents, Sony, ST Micro, Qimonda and Toshiba. Dube
complex nature of implementing our technologies pn@vide engineering services under certain ofé¢Hiegnses
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to help successfully integrate our chip interfacedpcts into their semiconductors and systems. #addilly,
product licensees may receive, as an adjunct todh#p interface license agreements, patent lieeras necessary
implement the chip interface in their products vaffecific rights and restrictions to the applicgidgents elaborate
in their individual contracts.

Royalties represent a substantial portion of otal tevenues. The remaining part of our reven@nggneering
services revenue which includes license fees agoheearing services fees. The timing and amountsiged to
customers can vary significantly depending on djgecontract terms and can therefore have a sigaritiimpact on
deferred revenues or unbilled receivables in amgrgperiod.

We have a high degree of revenue concentratioh, auit top five licensees representing approximad&Bs,
63% and 73% of our revenues for the years endedrleer 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Foydar
ended December 31, 2007, revenues from Fujitsucl&lQimonda and Toshiba, each accounted for 10ftove of
total revenues. For the year ended December 38, 26@enues from Fujitsu, Elpida, Qimonda and |re¢ath
accounted for 10% or more of total revenues. Fewtar ended December 31, 2005, revenue from Higkla,
Toshiba and Matsushita, each accounted for 10%ooe wf our total revenues.

Our revenue from companies headquartered outsitteedfnited States accounted for approximately 8B53%
and 71% of our total revenues for the years endszkmBber 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. ¥pect that
we may continue to experience significant reverargentration and have significant revenues frommeasuoutside
the United States for the foreseeable future.

Historically, we have been involved in significditigation stemming from the unlicensed use of imwentions
Our litigation expenses have been high and diffitupredict and we anticipate future litigatiorperses to
continue to be significant, volatile and diffictdt predict. If we are successful in the litigatiemd/or related
licensing, our revenue could be substantially highehe future; if we are unsuccessful, our revenwuld likely
decline.

Revenue Concentration

As indicated above, we have a high degree of revepucentration. Many of our licensees have th# tig
cancel their licenses. The particular licenseeskhicount for revenue concentration have varieah foeriod to
period as a result of the addition of new contragtpiration of existing contracts, industry comdation, the
expiration of deferred revenue schedules undetirgisontracts, and the volumes and prices at wtiieHicensees
have recently sold licensed semiconductors to Bystampanies. These variations are expected toreenin the
foreseeable future, although we expect that owrmeg concentration will decrease over time as egmnfie new
customers.

The royalties we receive are partly a functionhaf &doption of our chip interfaces by system corigzaMany
system companies purchase semiconductors contaninchip interfaces from our licensees and ddhaot a
direct contractual relationship with us. Our liceas generally do not provide us with details ebéddentity or
volume of licensed semiconductors purchased bycpéat system companies. As a result, we facedatliffy in
analyzing the extent to which our future revenudkhe dependent upon particular system compadgstem
companies face intense competitive pressure in haikets, which are characterized by extreme Nityafrequent
new product introductions and rapidly shifting comer preferences. There can be no assurance fzs toit
volumes of licensed semiconductors that will bechased by these companies in the future or asttettel of
royalty-bearing revenues that our licensees wileiee from sales to these companies. Addition#igre can be no
assurance that a significant number of other sysmpanies will adopt our chip interfaces or that dependence
upon particular system companies will decreasierfuture.

International Revenues

We expect that revenues derived from internatiioahsees will continue to represent a signifigaotion of
our total revenues in the future. To date, allhef tevenues from international licensees have Beraminated in
U.S. dollars. However, to the extent that suchniées’ sales to systems companies are not den@ahiimat
U.S. dollars, any royalties that we receive assalt®f such sales could be subject to fluctuatiorsurrency
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exchange rates. In addition, if the effective po€dcensed semiconductors sold by our foreigar®ees were to
increase as a result of fluctuations in the exchaate of the relevant currencies, demand for §edn
semiconductors could fall, which in turn would redwur royalties. We do not use financial instruta¢a hedge
foreign exchange rate risk.

For additional information concerning internatioraenues, see Note 12, “Business Segments, Exgruits
Major Customers” of Notes to Consolidated FinanSi@tements of this Form 10-K.

Expenses

We intend to continue making significant expendituassociated with engineering, marketing, gerewl|
administration including litigation expenses, angect that these costs and expenses will contimbe & significat
percentage of revenues in future periods. Whethar expenses increase or decrease as a percehtagerues
will be substantially dependent upon the rate atkvbur revenues change.

Engineering. Engineering costs are allocated between costrafact revenues and research and development
expenses. Cost of contract revenues reflects tlimpof the total engineering costs which are #jpatly devoted
to individual licensee development and supportisesv The balance of engineering costs, incurrethi®
development of generally applicable chip interfemhnologies, is charged to research and develapmmes given
period, the allocation of engineering costs betwthese two components is a function of the timihthe
development and implementation schedules of indaditicensee contracts.

Marketing, general and administrativeMarketing, general and administrative expenselsidle expenses and
costs associated with trade shows, public relatiadgertising, legal, finance, insurance and otharketing and
administrative efforts. Litigation expenses arégaiéicant portion of our marketing, general andraistrative
expenses and they can vary significantly from carad quarter. Consistent with our business ma#és and
marketing activities are focused on developingti@teships with potential licensees and on partidigawith
existing licensees in marketing, sales and techeitarts directed to system companies. In mangsase must
dedicate substantial resources to the marketingsapgort of system companies. Due to the long lessin
development cycles we face and the semi-fixed eatfimarketing, general and administrative expemsagyiven
period, these expenses generally do not corradatectievel of revenues in that period or in reaarfuture periods.

Costs of restatement and related legal activiti€sosts of restatement and related legal activitigssist
primarily of investigation, audit, legal and othepfessional fees related to the 2006 — 2007 soption
investigation, the filing of the restated financiéhtements and related litigation.

Taxes. We report certain items of income and expensériancial reporting purposes in different yeararth
they are reported for tax purposes. We recognizentge for financial reporting purposes as such arsoare earne
and this could occur over several reporting petiddsa result of the above and other differencéaéen tax and
financial reporting for income and expense recagnjtour net operating profit or loss for tax puspe may be more
or less than the amount recorded for financial répg purposes. In addition, we maintain resereegificertain tax
positions under FASB Interpretation (“FIN”) 48, “ée@unting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” — an iptetation
of FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Incomexes”.
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth, for the periodsigaded, the percentage of total revenues repreddenteertain
items reflected in our consolidated statementgpefations:

Years Ended December 31
2007 2006 2005

Revenues
Royalties 85.6% 86.5% 82.9%
Contract revenue 14.2% 135% 17.1%
Total revenue 100.(% 100.% 100.(%
Costs and expense
Cost of contract revenue 15.1% 15.€% 15.1%
Research and developmel 46.% 35.2% 31.2%
Marketing, general and administrativ 67.(% 53.5% 51.2%
Costs of restatement and related legal activ 10.8% 16.1% 0.C%
Total costs and expens 139.(% 120.5% 97.5%
Operating income (lost (39.0% (20.5% 2.5%
Interest and other income, r 12.1% 7.2% 22.7%
Income (loss) before income tax (26.9% (13.92% 24.™%
Provision for (benefit from) income tax (11.5% B6.)% 6.2%
Net income (loss (15.9% (7.)% 18.2%
* Includes stoc-based compensatio
Cost of contract revenu 3.2% 4.2% 2.5%
Research and developm 9.C% 7.€% 5.1%
Marketing, general and administrati 12.€% 8.2% 5.4%
Years
Ended December 31, 2006 to 200 2005 to 200
2007 2006 2005 Change Change

(Dollars in millions)
Total Revenues

Royalties $154.: $168.¢ $130.c (8.6)% 29.6%
Contract revenue 25.€ 26.4 26.€ (2.9% (1.9%
Total revenue $179.¢ $195.% $157.C (7.9% 24.2%

Royalty Revenues
Patent Licenses

In the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and d00%argest source of royalties was related ¢dittense
of our patents for SDR and DDR-compatible produRtsyalties decreased approximately $3.8 millionS&R and
DDR-compatible products in the year ended Decer@beR007 as compared to the same period in 2006. Th
decrease is primarily due to decreased revenuedi #om AMD, Qimonda and NEC, partially offset imgreased
royalties from Toshiba, Fujitsu and Spansion. Rigslincreased approximately $56.0 million for SBirl DDR-
compatible products in the year ended Decembe2@16 as compared to the same period in 2005. Tdnedrse wa
primarily due to revenue from licensees signeddf@3and the first quarter of 2006, including FujjtdMD and
Qimonda, partially offset by decreased royaltiesrfrSamsung and Matsushita.

As of December 31, 2007, we had both variable amdifroyalty agreements for our SDR and DPétnpatible
licenses. On December 31, 2005, we entered inteeayéar patent license agreement with AMD. We are
recognizing royalty revenues under the AMD agredmara quarterly basis as amounts become due and
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payment is received because the contractual tefith® @greement provide for payments on an extetsted basis.
We recognized royalty revenues of $15.0 million 48aB million in 2007 and 2006, respectively, arelexpect to
recognize royalty revenues of $15.0 million in 2@6&ugh 2009 and $11.3 million in 2010 under thdA
agreement. The AMD agreement provides a licenseiopatented technology used in the design of DIRIR3,
FB-DIMM, PCI Express and XDR controllers as welladler current and future high-speed memory anit log
controller interfaces.

On March 16, 2006, we entered into a five-yeardteense agreement with Fujitsu. We expect togeize
royalty revenues under the Fujitsu agreement ameaterly basis as amounts become due and paymeteied a
the contractual terms of the agreement provid@&yments on an extended term basis. We recognitredlaf
$36.5 million and $34.8 million of royalty revenues2007 and 2006, respectively. The Fujitsu agegmrovides
a license that covers semiconductors, componeuntsysiems, but does not include a license to fujdsits own
manufacturing of commodity SDRAM other than limitaghounts of SDR SDRAM annually.

On March 21, 2005, we entered into a settlementiaadse agreement with Infineon (and its formeepa
Siemens), which was assigned to Qimonda in Oct®B@6 in connection with Infineon’s spin-off of Qimaa. The
settlement and license agreement, among othershiaguires Qimonda to pay to us aggregate rogalfie
$50.0 million in quarterly installments of approxtely $5.8 million, which started on November 1802. The
settlement and license agreement further provitkesitwe enter into licenses with certain otherAMR
manufacturers, Qimonda will be required to makeitamtl royalty payments to us that may aggregatéou
$100.0 million. As we have not yet succeeded irrémg into these additional license agreementsssecg to
trigger Qimonda'’s obligations, Qimonda'’s quartgggyment decreased to $3.2 million in the fourthrtgraof 2007
and has ceased in the first quarter of 2008. Tlaeteudy payments with Qimonda will not recommenaéiwe
enter into additional license agreements with aedéher DRAM manufacturers.

We are in negotiations with new prospective licess&Ve expect SDR and DDR-compatible royalties will
continue to vary from period to period based onsuacess in renewing existing license agreementsidding new
licensees, as well as the level of variation inlaxgmsees’ reported shipment volumes, sales jnicemix, offset in
part by the proportion of licensee payments thaffiaed.

There was no royalty revenue recorded from thd patent cross-license in the year ended Decenthe2®)7,
because the term of the agreement expired in JO®@. T he Intel patent cross-license agreementsepted the
second largest source of royalties in the years@imecember 31, 2006 and 2005. Royalties undeatfriesement
decreased from $40.0 million to $20.0 million fbetyear ended December 31, 2006 compared to the pariod ir
2005.

On February 2, 2007, the Federal Trade Commissien“FTC") issued an order requiring us to limieth
royalty rates charged for certain SDR and DDR SDRekmory and controller products sold after Apri| 2207.
The FTC stayed this requirement on March 16, 280M@ject to certain conditions. One such conditibthe stay
limits the royalties we can receive under certantacts so that they do not exceed the FTC’s MawinAllowable
Royalties (“MAR”). We are using our best effortsdmmply with these orders. Amounts in excess of MA& are
subject to the order are excluded from revenueofA3ecember 31, 2007, $2.4 million has been exdfdam
revenue. Depending on the final resolution of thpeal, we may or may not be able to recognize angss
amounts as additional revenue.

Product Licenses

In the year ended December 31, 2007, royalties @R, FlexlO, DDR and serial link-compatible prodsic
represented the second largest category of rogaRieyalties from these products increased appiateity
$7.0 million during the year ended December 31,7289 compared to the same period in 2006.

In the year ended December 31, 2007, royalties RRFRAM-compatible products represented the thirddat
source of royalties. Royalties from RDRAM memorypshand controllers increased $2.2 million durihg year
ended December 31, 2007 as compared to the saind peR006.
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In the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2009tiesyilom RDRAM-compatible products representesl th
third largest source of royalties. Royalties fro@RRAM memory chips and controllers decreased appraiély
$1.2 million during the year ended December 316288 compared to the same period in 2005.

Royalties from XDR, FlexlO, DDR and serial link-cpatible products represent the fourth largest categf
royalties. Royalties from XDR and serial link-cortiple products increased approximately $3.8 millibming the
year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to thesamod in 2005. The increase of XDR and senik-
compatible products for 2006 over 2005 is primadilye to increased volumes of XDR DRAM associateth wi
shipments of the Sony PLAYSTATIOR3 product.

In the future, we expect royalties from XDR, FlexIODR and serial link-compatible products will cionie to
vary from period to period based on our licenssbgment volumes, sales prices, and product mix.

Contract Revenue
Percentage-of-Completion Contracts

Percentage of completion contract revenue increagprbximately $2.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007 as compared to the year endeshibec 31, 2006. The increase is due to increasedue
from leadership and industry standard chip interfe@ntracts.

For the year ended December 31, 2006 as compatkd jear ended December 31, 2005, percentage-of-
completion contract revenue decreased approxim@&gRB million due to completion of leadership chriferface
contracts during 2005, including XDR and FlexIO.

We believe that percentage-of-completion contragénues recognized will continue to fluctuate dirae
based on our ongoing contractual requirementsatin@unt of work performed, and by changes to wogkired, as
well as new contracts booked in the future.

Other Contracts

Other contracts revenue decreased approximateByrllion for the year ended December 31, 2007 as
compared to the same period in 2006 primarily dudeicreased revenue from industry standard chépfatde
contracts offset by increased revenue from leadfecgintracts.

For the year ended December 31, 2006 as compatkd same period in 2005, revenue which is receghiz
over the estimated service periods or on a conplaiatract basis increased approximately $7.7 onildue to
increased revenue from industry standard and Ishgechip interface contracts.

We believe that other contracts revenue will cargito fluctuate over time based on our ongoingreant
requirements, the timing of completing engineedetjverables, as well as new contracts bookedarfuture.

Engineering costs:
Years Ended
December 31 2006 to 200 2005 to 200
2007 2006 2005 Change Change
(Dollars in millions)

Engineering costs

Cost of contract revenu $ 212 $22.2 $19.¢ (4.6% 12.1%
Stocl-based compensatic 5.9 8.2 3.6 (27.5% 110.2%
Total cost of contract revenu 271 304 23.i (10.8% 28.2%
Research and developmt 66.7 54.1 41.( 23.2% 32.(%
Stocl-based compensatic 16.z 14.¢ 8.1 8.7% 84.(%
Total research and developm 82.¢ 69.C 49.1 20.2% 40.5%
Total engineering cost $110.C $99.4 $72.¢ 10.7% 36.5%
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For the year ended December 31, 2007 as compatbd same period in 2006, engineering costs ineckas
primarily due to expenses associated with tax ransdment expenses of approximately $4.1 millioordased
compensation expenses of $3.1 million associatéd avi increase in headcount, increased amortizatipense of
design software maintenance of $2.1 million anddased information technology expenses of appraeiyna
$1.6 million offset in part by a decrease in tatalck-based compensation expense of $0.9 millibe. thx
reimbursement expenses are associated with owided¢o reimburse current employees for the IntdRewvenue
Code Section 409A penalty taxes imposed on thecommection with their exercise of repriced optiong2006.
Additionally, stock-based compensation expensdsdiacthe effect of a change in our estimated ftufeirates for
awards outstanding.

In certain periods, the cost of contract revenuag exceed contract revenues that do not factdraerekpected
stream of future royalty payments. This can beherimpacted by expensing of pre-contract costs,campleted
contract costs where the realizability of an agsancertain, and low utilization of project resoes. During the
quarter ended December 31, 2007, we recognizedmanse of approximately $1.2 million related toestimated
loss contract. These expenditures were recognizétkeiconsolidated statement of operations in @osbntract
revenues during the fourth quarter of 2007 wheih $oss was determined. Additionally, cost of coctr@venues
exceeded contract revenues partially due to stasled compensation expense of $5.9 million recogrizeing
2007.

For the year ended December 31, 2006 as compathd same period in 2005, the increase in totaheeging
costs was primarily a result of increased stbaked compensation (approximately $11.1 milliospagmted with th
adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) in 2006, increasedrgaad benefit costs (approximately $6.7 milliosyaciated
with an average increase of approximately 52 engasyincreased bonus expense (approximately $8i8mhdue
to higher achievement of bonus targets and anasecnumber of participants in the corporate bpfas
increased information technology costs due to sipgnelated to personnel, consulting and depremiati
(approximately $2.2 million) increased depreciatoml intangible amortization expense (approximately
$2.0 million) higher payroll taxes (approximately.$ million) associated with higher stock optioremises in the
first half of 2006 and increased salary costs.

In the near term, we expect engineering expendésamitinue to increase as we make investmenten t
infrastructure and technologies required to mameair leadership position in chip interface techgs and
increase headcount.

Marketing, general and administrative costs:
Years Ended December 31 2006 to 200 2005 to 200

2007 2006 2005 Change Change
(Dollars in millions)

Marketing, general and administrative costs

Marketing, general and administrative cc $ 584 $48.2 $33.7 21.2% 43.(%
Litigation expenst 39.t 38.€ 38.2 1.4% 1.8%
Stocl-based compensatic 22.70 17.5 8.5 30.(% 105.%

Total marketing, general and administrative ¢ $120.¢ $104.¢ $80.4 15.2% 30.1%

For the year ended December 31, 2007 as compatkd same period in 2006, the increase in totaketeny,
general and administrative costs was primarily ueigher stock-based compensation expense ofrfilflidn,
professional and consulting fees of $4.1 millioayll costs associated with $3.3 million of sevemexpense,
approximately $2.5 million of tax reimbursement empes associated with Internal Revenue Code Setfligh and
increased litigation expenses of $0.6 million (whikcludes an increase of general litigation expsrof
$10.6 million in 2007, offset by a one-time bonfi$b0.0 million paid to a law firm in 2006). Thexta
reimbursement expenses are associated with owided¢o reimburse current and former non-execugivgloyees
for the Internal Revenue Code Section 409A periaktgs imposed on them in connection with their eiserof
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repriced options in 2006. Additionally, stock-basednpensation expenses include the effect of agghamour
estimated forfeiture rates for awards outstandsg/ell as the effect of performance based resttisteck units.
Costs of restatement and related legal activitieslescussed in the next section.

For the year ended December 31, 2006 as compatkd same period in 2005, the increase in totaketany,
general and administrative costs was primarilysalteof increased stock-based compensation cospsd@imately
$9.0 million) associated with the adoption of SFR& 123(R) in 2006, increased salary costs (appratély
$5.6 million) associated with an average incredsgpproximately 37 employees (29 in the U.S. and 8
internationally), increased bonus expense (appratdin $3.2 million) due to higher achievement ofbs targets
and an increased number of participants in thearatp bonus plan, increased consulting costs (appately
$1.2 million), higher payroll taxes (approximat&y.1 million) associated with payroll tax withhaidiliability for
certain repriced stock grants that no longer gué#dif incentive stock option tax treatment in tirstfhalf of 2006
and increased salary costs, increased deprecatidintangible amortization expense (approxima$aly) million)
increased litigation expense (approximately $0.fon) and increased rent expense (approximately $dllion).
Costs of restatement and related legal activitieslescussed in the next section.

In the future, marketing, general and administeaixpenses will vary from period to period basedherntrade
shows, advertising, legal, and other marketingadministrative activities undertaken, and the cleaingsales,
marketing and administrative headcount in any gperiod. Litigation expenses are expected to caetio be at or
above the 2007 expense levels due to the currghtlével of litigation activity.

Costs of restatement and related legal activities:

Years Ended

December 31, 2006 to 200 2005 to 200
2007 2006 2005 Change Change
(Dollars in millions)
Costs of restatement and related legal activ $19.E $31.4 $— (38.1)% —

Costs of restatement and related legal activitiesist primarily of investigation, audit, legal aother
professional fees related to the 207 stock option investigation and the filing loé restated financial stateme
and related litigation.

For the year ended December 31, 2007 as compatkd same period in 2006, the decrease in costs of
restatement and related legal activities was pilynassociated with the one-time accrual of $18illion in the
third quarter of 2006 related to the potentiallegtent of the consolidated class action lawsuitgieng to the
accounting for stock option grants and relatedldssaes, offset in part by higher accounting anditefiees and
consulting expenses of $6.0 million in 2007 relgtia the filing of our restated financial statenseintlate 2007.

For the year ended December 31, 2006 we incurrpbgmately $31.4 million in costs of restatemend a
related legal activities. There were no comparabkts incurred for the year ended December 31,.2I05 costs
consist primarily of settlement accruals, includthg accrual of $18.0 million in the third quartéér2006 related to
the potential settlement of the consolidated cdas®n lawsuit pertaining to the accounting forc&toption grants
and related disclosures, plus investigation, alitigation and other professional fees. The Conypaxpects to
continue to incur restatement related litigatiostsan the future arising from stock options inigesion related
claims.

Interest and other income, net

Years Ended December 31 2006 to 200 2005 to 200

2007 2006 2005 Change Change
(Dollars in millions)
Interest and other income, r $21.6  $14.F  $34.¢ 51.8% (58.9%

Interest and other income, net consists primafiiyterest income generated from investments it lojgality
fixed income securities. For the year ended Dece@bg2007 as compared to the same period in 2886ncrease
in interest and other income, net was primarily ttukigher investment yields and higher average easl
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investment balances. In addition, the year end@®6 2tcluded amortization of note issuance cos®3d? million,
including $2.4 million that was accelerated inte thurth quarter of 2006, in connection with th#icg of the
$160.0 million in convertible notes.

For the year ended December 31, 2006 as compatkd same period in 2005, the decrease in intarebt
other income, net consists primarily of gains amépurchases of the outstanding convertible rnt2805, that
were issued in the first quarter of 2005 (approxetya$24.0 million), offset in part by higher inést income
primarily due to higher cash and marketable seesrlialances and higher interest rates (approxiynde7 million)
in 2006. Year ended 2006 interest and other incoriealso includes $3.2 million of amortizationnofte issuance
costs, including $2.4 million that was accelerated the fourth quarter of 2006, in connection wittle calling of th
$160.0 million in convertible notes (see Note 1®f@ertible Notes” of Notes to Consolidated Finah8i@tements
for more information).

In the future, we expect that interest and otheoiine, net will vary from period to period basedlosm amount
of cash and marketable securities and interest.rate

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes:

Years Ended December 31 2006 to 200 2005 to 200
2007 2006 2005 Change Change
(Dollars in millions)
Provision for (benefit from) income tax $(20.7) $(11.9 $ 9.8 (74.0% (221.9)%
Effective tax rate 42.8% 46.% 25.2%

The 2007 tax rate is higher than the benefit cateudl using the U.S. statutory tax rate primarilg turesearch
and development tax credits, stock-based compensatipense associated with executives and staietaxes.
The 2006 tax rate is higher than the U.S. statuimxyate primarily due to research and developrteentredits,
partially offset by the lack of deductibility of tain stock-based compensation expense associgtedxecutives.
The 2005 tax rate is lower than the U.S. statutaxyrate primarily due to the tax benefit from &tdased
compensation expense associated with executives.

In the year ended December 31, 2007, our net @efdax assets increased by $18.2 million to $12#li&n,
primarily due to the net increase in future taxdfés related to employee stock related compensatidditional tax
credits and net operating losses unrelated to stptikn windfall benefits, offset by a decreaséuiture tax benefits
related to depreciation and amortization. Additianformation regarding our deferred tax assetisfarth below in
this Item 7, Management’s Discussion and AnalyéiBioancial Condition and Results of Operationsarnttie
heading “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimatedncome Taxes” and is incorporated herein byresfee.

Pursuant to Footnote 82 of SFAS No. 123(R), tabaities related to stock option windfall deductishsuld
not be recorded until they result in a reductiocash taxes payable. Starting in 2006, we no lomgéude net
operating losses attributable to stock option watidfeductions as components of our gross defeaedssets. The
benefit of these net operating losses will be réedrto equity when they reduce cash taxes payable.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

December 31 December 31
2007 2006
(In millions)
Cash and cash equivalel $ 119.2  $ 73.C
Marketable securitie 321t 351.1
Marketable securities, lo-term — 12.C
Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable $ies $ 440 % 436.¢
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Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(In millions)
Net cash provided by operating activit $65 $634 $ 33.¢
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi $31.¢  $(68.5) $(139.9
Net cash provided by financing activiti $7€ $35& $ 99.7

Liquidity

We derive our liquidity and capital resources pritgdrom our cash flows from operations. We congénto
generate positive operating cash flows. We curyarde cash generated from operations for capitzmditures and
investments . Based on past performance and clexpetctations, we believe our current availablecesiof funds

including cash, cash equivalents, and marketalgiergies, plus the anticipated cash generated fsparations, will
be adequate to finance our operations, capitalrekpees and stock repurchases for at least theyesx.

Operating Activities

Our positive cash flows from operating activitigsp6.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2@@Te
primarily attributable to a net loss of $27.7 naifliadjusted for $44.8 million of stock-based congation expense
and $16.5 million of depreciation and amortizat@pense, $0.4 million in loss on disposal of propand
equipment (including approximately $0.3 millionvimite off of leasehold improvements related to ¢hasure of our
previous India office), offset by cash outflows®&.7 million primarily from changes in our workiegpital,
including the tax reimbursement expenses assocwgthdur decision to reimburse current and formen-
executive employees for the Internal Revenue Ceéich 409A penalty taxes imposed on them in cotimreaevith
their exercise of repriced options in 2006. Nsaish working capital changes primarily relate tieterred tax bene!
of $21.9 million, a $4.8 million net decrease ifiedteed revenue and a $4.4 million decrease in a&ctsalaries and
benefits and other accrued liabilities, offset 0a7 million decrease in accounts receivable,.a 8bllion increase
in accounts payable, a $3.1 million increase imaaxt litigation expenses and a $0.8 million incesiasincome
taxes payable.

Cash generated by operating activities in the gaded December 31, 2006 was $63.4 million primardya
result of a net loss of $13.8 million, adjusteddertain non-cash items, including increases resuftom stock-
based compensation expense of $40.5 million, digiies of $11.2 million, amortization of intangibéssets of
$5.2 million, amortization of $3.2 million of notesuance costs, including an additional $2.4 nmiliio connection
with the notice of acceleration relating to the @D6million of our convertible notes. In additiarash generated by
operating activities was positively impacted byéal$million increase in accounts payable, a $7 [Boniincrease it
accrued salaries and benefits and other accrueitities, a $18.5 million increase in accrued ktigpn expenses and
a $0.1 million increase in income taxes payableshGgenerated by operating activities was partifiiget by an
increase in deferred taxes of $11.2 million, améase in accounts receivable and unbilled recebgadil
$1.6 million, an increase in prepaid expenses aner@assets of $0.7 million and a net increasesfarded revenue
of $1.7 million.

Cash generated by operating activities was $33ll&min the year ended December 31, 2005, and was
primarily the result of net income of $28.9 milliadjusted for certain non-cash items, includingreeiption of
$9.1 million, amortization of note issuance cogt$T1 million, amortization of intangible assefstd.3 million,
stockbased compensation of $20.5 million, tax benefitotk options of $0.7 million, and loss on dispagasset
of $0.2 million, offset by a $24.0 million gain oepurchase of convertible notes. Operating actisitvere also
affected by a decrease in accounts receivable.&6fi@idlion, a $6.5 million increase in deferred faovision, a
$2.5 million increase in accrued salaries and besnafid other accrued liabilities and a $1.4 milliocrease in
accrued litigation expenses, offset by a $0.5 arilincrease in prepaid expenses and other assk2<h anillion
decrease in accounts payable and a $0.5 millioredee in income taxes payable. This cash gendratad
operating activities was partially offset by a detrease in deferred revenue of $14.5 million tegufrom

38




Table of Contents

contract revenues recognized in excess of corttibicigs primarily related to increased revenuesX®R and
FlexlO chip interface contracts in which billingere made in the prior year.

Investing Activities

Cash provided by investing activities of approxieta$31.9 million in the year ended December 30720
primarily consisted of proceeds from the maturibésavailable-for-sale marketable securities of BZ0million,
partially offset by purchases of available-for-salarketable securities of $664.4 million, and addgl
consideration paid of $1.1 million on the acquasitof GDA. Additionally, we purchased $7.0 milliohprimarily
computer software and $2.6 million of leaseholdriovements.

Cash used in investing activities was $68.3 milliothe year ended December 31, 2006, and primarily
consisted of purchases of marketable securiti®& 5.2 million, offset by maturities of $166.2 rioh. In addition,
$1.0 million was used to acquire certain proprietssets from GDA, $0.3 million was used to purehagangible
assets, $14.9 million was used to acquire promartyequipment, primarily computer and software $8d million
was used to acquire leasehold improvements.

Cash used in investing activities was $139.3 nmillio the year ended December 31, 2005, and priynaril
consisted of purchases of marketable securiti®&847.7 million resulting from the investment of@tion of the ne
proceeds from the issuance of convertible notésebby maturities of $222.1 million. In additidgss.4 million was
used to acquire certain proprietary digital corsigies from GDA, $2.5 million was used to acquirgaiea serial lin}
intellectual property assets from Cadence and $@libn was used for the purchase of property amaigment,
including computer and software purchases in thigediStates and computer equipment, software, edde
improvements and office equipment and furnituregforew facility in India. The change is partialfjset by a
reduction in restricted cash of $2.8 million dudtte settlement in the Infineon case, which remdhedestrictions
on these assets.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $miBion in the year ended December 31, 2007. Weired
proceeds from the issuance of stock from the esermf stock options and purchases under our emplstpek
purchase plan of $11.8 million during the fourtlager of the year and paid $4.3 million under itistant payment
plans used to acquire software license agreemiatether significant financing activities occurrédring the year
primarily due to the stock option investigation aedtatement, during which we suspended our constomk
repurchase program and suspended employee stdok epercises and purchases under our employek stoc
purchase plan.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $35iBion in the year ended December 31, 2006. \Weiked
net proceeds of $57.6 million from the issuanc€o@imon Stock associated with exercises of emplefak
options and Common Stock issued under our emplsigexk purchase plan, partially offset by repurchasfeour
Common Stock of $21.0 million. In addition, we mad#$0.8 million installment payment.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $98illion in the year ended December 31, 2005. Weiked
net proceeds from the issuance of convertible nuft&292.8 million and net proceeds from the isseasf Commo
Stock associated with exercises of employee stptikis and Common Stock issued under our emplayes s
purchase plan of $8.5 million. This cash providexshf the issuance of convertible notes and CommocokStas
partially offset by the repurchase of our Commarcitof $88.2 million and the repurchases of outditam
convertible notes of $113.0 million. In additione wepaid approximately $0.4 million against anatistent
payment plan totalling $2.8 million used to acquapitalized software.

We currently anticipate that existing cash and eaghivalent balances and cash flows from our opeyat
activities will be adequate to meet our cash néadat least the next 12 months. Additionally, veé begun
repurchasing additional shares in 2008 under oarrestepurchase program which will adversely impactcash
balances. As described elsewhere in this “Managémiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esult:
of Operations” and this report, we are involveairgoing litigation related to our intellectual pesty and
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our past stock option investigation. Any adverdesaents or judgments in this litigation could bavmaterial
adverse impact on our results of operations, catinbes and cash flows in the period in which sw&nts occur.

Contractual Obligations

We lease our present office facilities in Los Alt@slifornia, under an operating lease agreemeatith
December 31, 2010. As part of this lease trangacive provided a letter of credit restricting $6IH) of our cash
collateral for certain obligations under the lea&®e cash is restricted as to withdrawal and isaged by a third
party subject to certain limitations under our istveent policy. We also lease a facility in Mount&iew,
California, through November 11, 2009, a facilityGhapel Hill, North Carolina through November 2609 and a
facility for our design center in Bangalore, Intlimough November 30, 2012. We also lease offic#itias in
Austin, Texas and various international locationder non-cancelable leases that range in termsnonth-to-
month to one year.

In May 2006, we signed an agreement to lease aoffese facility in Bangalore, India into which weahe
consolidated all of our Bangalore operations a@efember 31, 2007.

As discussed more fully in Note 15, “Convertibletdkd of the Notes to Consolidated Financial States)eve
have $160.0 million zero coupon convertible senimes (the “convertible notes”) outstanding at Delser 31,
2007.

In connection with certain German litigation, ther@an courts have requested that we set aside atgefgnd:
to cover potential court cost claims. Accordinglpproximately $1.7 million is restricted as to witawal, managed
by a third party subject to certain limitations endur investment policy and included in restrictegh to cover the
German court requirements.

As of December 31, 2007, our material contractbéibations are:
Payment Due by Year

Total 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012  Thereafter
(In thousands)

Contractual obligations(1)

Operating lease $ 20,72( $ 7,30¢ $6,41¢ $ 5,74: $62C $631 3 —
Convertible note 160,00( — — 160,00( — — —
Purchased software license agreemen 3,554 3,554 — — — — —

Total $184,27: $10,86: $6,41¢ $165,74¢ $62C $631 $ =

(1) The above table does not reflect possible paymerasnnection with uncertain tax benefits assodiatéh
FIN 48 of approximately $14.0 million as of DecemB&, 2007. As noted in Note 10, “Income Taxes, thef
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, althdtig possible that some of the unrecognizedenefits
could be settled within the next 12 months, we can@asonably estimate the outcome at this t

(2) We have commitments with various software vendorsibn-cancellable license agreements that gegerall
have terms longer than one year. The above tabienswizes those contractual obligations as of Deeerab,
2007, which are also included on our consolidatddrre sheets under current and other-term liabilities.

Contingent Warrants, Common Stock Equivalents, andptions
Warrants

In October 1998, our Board of Directors authoriaedncentive program in the form of warrants faotl of
up to 1,600,000 shares of our Common Stock toseeisto various RDRAM licensees. The warrants, whiere
issued at the time certain targets were met, hakarctise price of $2.50 per share and a life\& jiears from the
date of issuance. These warrants were to vestecwhie exercisable only upon the achievement odicert
milestones by Intel relating to shipment volumeRBMRAM chipsets. Warrants exercisable for a tofal o
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1,520,000 shares of our Common Stock had beendsswer the program. As of December 31, 2007, noants
were exercised as the defined milestones wereani¢zed, and all warrants have now expired.

Contingent Unvested Options

As of December 31, 2006, there were 721,846 coatingnvested options, which vest upon the achieneonfe
certain milestones by Intel relating to shipmentmees of RDRAM 850E chipsets. Intel has since ptaag the
850E chipset and as a result the unvested optidhsever vest. These contingent unvested optioesevgranted in
1999 and 2001 with a term of 10 years.

As of December 31, 2007, 86,498 contingent unvespdidns were forfeited. As of December 31, 200@ré
were 635,348 contingent unvested options. As nabeye, none are expected to vest.

Share Repurchase Program

In October 2001, our Board of Directors approvesthare repurchase program of our Common Stock,
principally to reduce the dilutive effect of empémystock options. To date, our Board of Direct@s dpproved the
authorization to repurchase up to 19.0 million skaf our outstanding Common Stock over an undefireziod of
time. As of December 31, 2007, we had repurchasedraulative total of 13.2 million shares of our Goon Stock
at an average price per share of $13.95 sinceotimenencement of this program. As of December 317 20ere
remained an outstanding authorization to repurcB&&enillion shares of our outstanding Common Stdak
connection with the completed stock options ingggton, repurchases of Common Stock under thisrprogvere
suspended as of July 19, 2006. We became currémbwi SEC filings as of October 17, 2007, but ratd
repurchase shares in 2007. During 2008, we begamaleasing additional shares under the share reasec
program. See Note 17, “Subsequent Events,” of Nlot€onsolidated Financial Statements for moreringgion.

Shareholder Litigation Related to Historical StockOption Practices
Derivative Lawsuits

On May 30, 2006, the Audit Committee commencedhéegrmal investigation of the timing of past stogkion
grants and related accounting issues.

On May 31, 2006, the first of three shareholdeivég¢ive actions was filed in the Northern DistraftCalifornia
against Rambus (as a nominal defendant) and cedaiant and former executives and board membars. O
August 9, 2006, these actions were consolidatedlf@urposes under the captidn,re Rambus Inc. Derivative
Litigation , Master File No. C-06-3513-JF (N.D. Cal.), and Hos&vChu and Gaetano Ruggieri were appointed lead
plaintiffs. On October 2, 2006, a consolidated claimp was filed. On November 3, 2006, plaintiffiedl an
amended consolidated complaint. The consolidatetptaint, as amended, alleges violations of ceffesdleral and
state securities laws as well as other state lawesaof action. The complaint seeks disgorgemehtiamages in @
unspecified amount, unspecified equitable reliefl attorneys’ fees and costs.

On August 22, 2006, another shareholder derivatmn was filed in Delaware Chancery Court against
Rambus (as a nominal defendant) and certain cusrahformer executives and board membdsl(v. Tate et al,
2366-N (Del. Chancery)). Pursuant to agreemerti@ptrties, no deadline for Rambus to responde@dmplaint
has been set.

On August 30, 2007, another shareholder derivatetmn was filed in the Southern District of Newrko
against Rambus (as a nominal defendant) and PriegveauseCoopers LLPHrancl v. PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP et al., No. 07-Civ.7650 (GBD)). On November 21, 2007, the New Yorkrtguanted PricewaterhouseCoof
LLP’s motion to transfer the action to the North&istrict of California. The case has not yet bdenketed in the
Northern District of California

The Special Litigation Committee (“SLC”) has cord its review of claims relating to stock optioagtices
that are asserted in derivative actions againsinaer of our present and former officers and diectThe SLC has
determined that all claims should be terminateddischissed against the named defendants in theadieg actions
with the exception of claims against Ed Larsen, wéived as Vice President, Human Resources
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from September 1996 until December 1999, and tlegio® Vice President, Administration until July 200"he
SLC has entered into settlement agreements withinasf our former officers. These settlementscmeditioned
upon the dismissal of the claims asserted agdiasetindividuals iftn re Rambus Inc. Derivative LitigatiarThe
aggregate value of the settlements to us exceefsdilion in cash and estimated equivalent vahsewell as
substantial additional value to us relating tor#slenquishment of claims to over 2.7 million stamftions. On
August 24, 2007, the written report setting fotth findings of the SLC was filed with the U.S. Distt Court for the
Northern District of California. The conclusionstbe SLC are subject to review by the court. OnoBet 5, 2007
Rambus filed a motion to terminate in accordandé tiie SLC’s recommendations. A hearing on thisiamos
scheduled for May 9, 2008.

Class Action Lawsuits

On July 17, 2006, the first of six class actiondaits was filed in the Northern District of Califéa against
Rambus and certain current and former executivdsaard members. On September 26, 2006, theseatltisa
suits were consolidated under the captlarre Rambus Inc. Securities Litigatioie-06-4346-JF (N.D. Cal.). On
November 9, 2006, Ronald L. Schwarcz was appoiletd plaintiff. An amended consolidated complaiasyiled
on February 14, 2007, naming as defendants Rarbiajn of its current and former executives anarto
members, and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. The carhplieges violations of various federal secusitisws. The
complaint seeks damages in an unspecified amountkhsas attorneys’ fees and costs. On April 2,20ambus
and certain individual defendants filed a motiomligmiss the lawsuit. PricewaterhouseCoopers Lle@ ft motion
to dismiss on May 7, 2007. Per agreement of thegsabriefing on the motions to dismiss was sudpdnand the
motions were taken off calendar. Subject to coppraval, the parties have agreed in principle smhee this
dispute. The settlement, which is subject to fomumentation as well as review by the Califormarg provides
for a payment by Rambus of $18.0 million and wdekt to a dismissal with prejudice of all claimsiagt all
defendants in the class action litigation. See N6téLitigation and Asserted Claims” of Notes torSolidated
Financial Statements for more information.

Private Lawsuits

On March 1, 2007, a pro se lawsuit was filed inNtoethern District of California by two alleged Rbos
shareholders against Rambus, certain current antefeexecutives and board members and
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLKélley et al. v. Rambus, Inc. et @-07-01238-JF (N.D. Cal.)). This action was
consolidated with a substantially identical prdasesuit filed by another purported Rambus sharedraddjainst the
same parties. The consolidated complaint againstiRa alleges violations of federal and state stéesiaws, and
state law claims for fraud and breach of fiducidwgy. Rambus and the other defendants have filetbnmoto
dismiss the consolidated complaint and a hearinthese motions is scheduled for March 14, 2008.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial caodiaind results of operations are based upon msatiolated
financial statements, which have been prepareddardance with accounting principles generally pteg in the
United States. The preparation of these finantékments requires us to make estimates and judgriet affect
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, reesrand expenses, and related disclosure of contiagsets and
liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate @ifingates, including those related to revenue reitiogn
investments, income taxes, litigation and othettiogencies. We base our estimates on historicamempce and on
various other assumptions that are believed tehasanable under the circumstances, the resultsiohviorm the
basis for making judgments about the carrying v@bfeassets and liabilities that are not readilyaapnt from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these eastr® under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting poésiaffect our more significant judgments and edtsased
in the preparation of our consolidated financiatesents.
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Revenue Recognitio
Overview

Our revenue recognition policy is based on the Acaerinstitute of Certified Public Accountants &taent of
Position (“SOP”) 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognitias amended by SOP 98-4 and SOP 98-9. For cerftaiar
revenue contracts, revenue is recognized accotdiB®P 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Conginn-Type
and Certain Production-Type Contracts”.

In application of the specific authoritative litaree cited above, we comply with Financial Accongti
Standards Board Statement of Financial Accountiogcgpts No. 5 and 6. We recognize revenue when sk
evidence of an arrangement exists, we have detivibeeproduct or performed the service, the fdixésl or
determinable and collection is reasonably assufethy of these criteria are not met, we defer gggning the
revenue until such time as all criteria are meteDwrination of whether or not these criteria hagerbmet may
require us to make judgments, assumptions and &stintbased upon current information and histoggpérience.

Our revenues consist of royalty revenues and cointexrenues generated from agreements with semictord
companies, system companies and certain resetlerggments. Royalty revenues consist of patendieoyalties
and product license royalties. Contract revenuesisbof fixed license fees, fixed engineering faed service fees
associated with integration of our chip interfaceducts into our customers’ products. Contract nees may also
include support or maintenance. Reseller arrangengamerally provide for the pass-through of a @etage of the
fees paid to the reseller by its customer for dssuo patent and product licenses. We do not reieegevenue for
these arrangements until we have received noticeveinue earned by and paid to the reseller, acaoieg by the
pass-through payment from the reseller. We do agtgpmmissions to the reseller for these arrang&snen

Many of our licensees have the right to canceftlim@nses. In such arrangements, revenue is eclygnized
to the extent that is consistent with the candelgprovisions. Cancellation provisions within suntracts
generally provide for a prospective cancellatiothwio refund of fees already remitted by custorf@rproducts
provided and payment for services rendered pritheadate of cancellation. Unbilled receivablegespnt
enforceable claims and are deemed collectible imection with our revenue recognition policy.

Royalty Revenues

We recognize royalty revenues upon notificatioroby licensees and when payments are received.efims to
the royalty agreements generally either requirenees to give us notification and to pay the t@salvithin
60 days of the end of the quarter during whichsiles occur or are based on a fixed royalty thadtigswithin
45 days of the end of the quarter. From time tetime engage accounting firms other than our incleget
registered public accounting firm to perform, om bahalf, periodic audits of some of the licenseefsorts of
royalties to us and any adjustment resulting froichsroyalty audits is recorded in the period sutjostment is
determined. We have two types of royalty reven(Bspatent license royalties and (2) product lieermyalties.

Patent licenses.We license our broad portfolio of patented ini@m to semiconductor and systems
companies who use these inventions in the developarel manufacture of their own products. Suchbagg
agreements may cover the license of part, or atipopatent portfolio. We generally recognize mewe from these
arrangements as amounts become due and paymenéigad. The contractual terms of the agreememisrgty
provide for payments over an extended period oftim

Product licenses.We develop proprietary and industry-standard afitigxface products, such as RDRAM and
XDR that we provide to our customers under protiuense agreements. These arrangements includiiesya
which can be based on either a percentage of salmsmber of units sold. We recognize revenue ftioese
arrangements upon notification from the licensestvathen payments are received.

On February 2, 2007, the Federal Trade Commissien“ETC") issued an order requiring us to limieth
royalty rates charged for certain SDR and DDR SDRekmory and controller products sold after Apri| 2207.
The FTC stayed this requirement on March 16, 280Mject to certain conditions. One such conditibthe stay
limits the royalties we can receive under certantacts so that they do not exceed the FTC’s MawinAllowable
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Royalties (“MAR”). We are using our best effortsdmmply with these orders. Amounts in excess of MA& are
subject to the order are excluded from revenueddiie, such amounts have not been significant. kpgion the
final resolution of the appeal, we may or may noable to recognize any excess amounts as additerenue.

Contract Revenues

We generally recognize revenue in accordance Wwélptovisions of SOP 81-1 for development contracts
related to licenses of our chip interface produstish as XDR and FlexlO that involve significangieeering and
integration services. Revenues derived from swen$e and engineering services may be recogniiegl the
completed contract or percentage-of-completion nktRor all license and service agreements accddataising
the percentage-of-completion method, we determingrpss to completion using input measures based up
labor-hours incurred. We have evaluated use ofututpeasures versus input measures and have degefrihiat our
output is not sufficiently uniform with respectdost, time and effort per unit of output to usepotitmeasures as a
measure of progress to completion. Part of thestract fees may be due upon the achievement dainert
milestones, such as provision of certain deliveslbly us or production of chips by the licensee fEmaining fees
may be due on pre-determined dates and includéisart up-front fees.

A provision for estimated losses on fixed pricetcacts is made, if necessary, in the period in Withe loss
becomes probable and can be reasonably estimbtee .determine that it is necessary to revise #tenates of the
work required to complete a contract, the total ami@f revenue recognized over the life of the mwitwould not
be affected. However, to the extent the new assongptegarding the total amount of work necessagomplete a
project were less than the original assumptioresctintract fees would be recognized sooner thainaitly
expected. Conversely, if the newly estimated tatabunt of work necessary to complete a projectlamger than
the original assumptions, the contract fees willdmognized over a longer period. If there is digant uncertainty
about the time to complete, or the deliverablesitiyer party, we evaluate the appropriateness /e the
completed contract method of accounting under SOR.&uch evaluation is completed by us on a
contract-by-contract basis. For all contracts whiev@nue recognition must be delayed until the reant
deliverables are substantially complete, we eveltia realizability of the assets which the accaned costs woul
represent and defer or expense as incurred basedtig conclusions of our realization analysis.

If application of the percentage-of-completion noetlesults in recognizable revenue prior to aniiting
event under a customer contract, we will recogttieerevenue and record an unbilled receivable. Artsinvoiced
to our customers in excess of recognizable reveargesecorded as deferred revenues. The timingarodints
invoiced to customers can vary significantly depegan specific contract terms and can thereforelza
significant impact on deferred revenues or unbitleckivables in any given period.

We also recognize revenue in accordance with SGB, $SOP 98-4 and SOP 98-9 for development contracts
related to licenses of our chip interface prodtités involve non-essential engineering servicespsd contract
support (“PCS”). These SOPs apply to all entitiedt £arn revenue on products containing softwahnerevsoftware
is not incidental to the product as a whole. Carttfees for the products and services provided utiehse
arrangements are comprised of license fees andegrgig service fees which are not essential tduthetionality
of the product. Our rates for PCS and for engimeeservices are specific to each development ootrdrad not
standardized in terms of rates or length. Becatiffigese characteristics, we do not have a suffiggepulation of
contracts from which to derive vendor specific alijee evidence.

Therefore, as required by SOP 97-2, after we dethe product, if the only undelivered element @3 we
will recognize revenue ratably over either the cactual PCS period or the period during which PE€&xpected to
be provided. We review assumptions regarding th® P&iods on a regular basis. If we determineithat
necessary to revise the estimates of the suppoadse the total amount of revenue to be recognmexd the life of
the contract would not be affected. However, ifleev estimated periods were shorter than the @ligissumption
the contract fees would be recognized ratably aevarorter period. Conversely, if the new estimateibds were
longer than the original assumptions, the confiees would be recognized ratably over a longeroperi
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Litigation

We are involved in certain legal proceedings, asufised in Note 16, “Litigation and Asserted Cldiofs
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ofForm 10-K. Based upon consultation with outsidensal
handling our defense in these matters and an asalfpotential results, we accrue for losses eeldt litigation if
we determine that a loss is probable and can lsamnebly estimated. If a specific loss amount cabeatstimated,
we review the range of possible outcomes and ad¢brubow end of the range of estimates. Any suahnuat would
be charged to expense in the appropriate periodiédtgnize litigation expenses in the period inalitthe litigatiot
services were provided.

Income Taxes

As part of preparing our consolidated financiatestaents, we are required to calculate the incomexpense
or benefit which relates to the pretax income sslfor the period. In addition, we are requiredgeess the
realization of the tax asset or liability to beluded on the consolidated balance sheet as okffwting dates.

This process requires us to calculate various iesiading permanent and temporary differences betwthe
financial accounting and tax treatment of certatbime and expense items, differences between fettetastate ta
treatment of these items, the amount of taxablemereported to various states, foreign taxes axdredits. The
differing treatment of certain items for tax an@¢@anting purposes results in deferred tax assetdiailities,
which are included on our consolidated balancetshee

As a result of the adoption of FIN 48 on Januar2QQ7, our unrecognized tax benefits decreased by
$0.3 million, of which $0.1 million was accounteat fis a decrease to the opening balance of accteduaficit
and $0.2 million was accounted for as an increaselditional paid in capital. In addition, $2.7 ioih of
unrecognized tax benefits were reclassified frongleerm deferred tax assets to long-term taxeslpaydhe
application of income tax law is inherently compl&ax laws and regulations are at times ambiguaod,
interpretations of and guidance regarding incomdaas and regulations change over time. This meguils to mal
many subjective assumptions and judgments regamlinincome tax exposure. Changes in our assungénd
judgments can materially affect our consolidateldmze sheets, statements of operations and stateoferast
flows.

At December 31, 2007, our consolidated balancetslimeluded net deferred tax assets of approximatel
$127.8 million, consisting of a combination of Ugid non-U.S. tax benefits for: (a) items whichéheen
recognized for financial reporting purposes, butoliwill be deducted on tax returns to be filedhe future, and
(b) loss and tax credit carryforwards. We havegrengd the required assessment of positive and imegatidence
regarding the realization of the net deferred &sets in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accountimgncome
Taxes.” This assessment included the evaluatiatleéduled reversals of temporary book/tax diffeesnestimates
of projected future taxable income and tax-planrstrigtegies. Although realization is not assuregghb on our
assessment, we have concluded that it is moreyltkain not that such assets will be realized.

Of the $127.8 million of deferred tax assets atddeiger 31, 2007, approximately $19.4 million relateet
operating loss carryforwards that start expirin@@i4, and approximately $28.8 million relate to ¢eedit
carryforwards, of which $0.5 million will start exjmg in 2008 and the remaining will start expirimg2012. The
remaining net deferred tax assets comprise theviallg deductible temporary differences:

» Deferred revenue of $0.2 million, which are expddtereverse in the next yei

 Depreciation and amortization of $19.0 million, elniare expected to reverse over the next5y

Other liabilities and reserves of $12.4 million,iefhare expected to reverse over the next 3 y
+ Stock-based compensation of $48.0 million, which are etgzkto reverse over the next 6 ye

We expect to realize the benefit of our net defbtex assets from future earnings. Therefore, éhézation of
our net deferred tax assets is solely dependeaupability to generate sufficient future taxalleame during
periods before the expiration of our tax attributEse minimum amount of domestic future taxableime that
would have to be generated to realize our defdeedssets is approximately $310 million. Our fastof
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domestic income indicates it is more likely than that the future results of operations will genesufficient
taxable income to realize our deferred tax as3éiis. forecast is highly influenced by, among otfaetors,
assumptions regarding 1) our ability to achievefotgcasted revenues, 2) our ability to effectivelgnage our
expenses in line with our forecasted revenued)8)mpact of intellectual property and other litiga, and

4) general trends in the semiconductor industryldvade.

Our forecast of income is based on assumptionstatiorent trends in our operations and future ditiign
outcomes or expected settlements, and there can Assurance that such results will be achievedradew such
forecasts in comparison with actual results anceetqul trends quarterly for purpose of our realitgtassessment.
As a result of this review, if we determine that nae insufficient future taxable income to fulbatize our net
deferred tax assets, we will record a valuatioovedince by a charge to income tax expense in thedsuch
determination is made.

Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for stodetiawards and our Employee Stock Purchase Plag tins
intrinsic method in accordance with APB Opinion 125, “ Accounting for Stock Issued to EmployeddN 44,
“Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving SkeBased Compensation, an Interpretation of APB @pin
No. 25" FASB Technical Bulletin (“FTB”) No. 97-1'Accounting under Statement 123 for Certain Empéogtock
Purchase Plans with a Lo-Back Option,”and related interpretations and provided the reguiro forma
disclosures of SFAS No. 128ccounting for Stock-Based Compensatibin accordance with APB No. 25, a non-
cash, stock-based compensation expense was reeddoizany options for which the exercise price Wa®w the
market price on the actual grant date and for aaptg that were modified from their original term$e charge for
the options with an exercise price below the mapkiee on the actual grant date was equal to tinebeun of options
multiplied by the difference between the exercigegoand the market price of the option shareserattual grant
date. That expense was amortized over the veséiriggof the options. The charge for modificatiofi®ptions in
general was equal to the number of options modifiedtiplied by the difference between the markétgof the
options on the modification date and the granteprithe charge for modified options was taken olverrémaining
service period, if any.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No.RP3ghich requires the measurement at fair value an
recognition of compensation expense for all stoaged payment awards. We selected the modified gctisp
method of adoption which recognizes compensatigeese for the fair value of all stock-based paysgrdnted
after January 1, 2006 and for the fair value ofalards granted to employees prior to January @6 #tat remain
unvested on the date of adoption. We use the Biaticles-Merton (“BSM”) option pricing model to estite the
fair value of our stock option and Employee StockdRase Plan (“ESPP”) awards consistent with tlogipions of
SFAS No. 123(R). The BSM option-pricing model regaithe estimation of highly complex and subjective
variables. These variables include expected vitigtéxpected life of the award, expected divideaie and
expected risk-free rate of return. The assumptionexpected volatility and expected life are tve assumptions
that most significantly affect the grant date faatue. The expected stock price volatility assumptivas determine
using the implied volatility of our Common Stock.eWise implied volatility for both our stock optiomsd ESPP
shares based on freely traded options in the orkety as we believe implied volatility is moreleetive of marke
conditions and a better indicator of expected Vdlathan historical or blended volatility. If the is not sufficient
volume in our market traded options for any period,will use an equally weighted blend of histor@ad implied
volatility. The expected term assumption for owcktoption grants was determined using a MontedCGanhulation
model which projects future option holder behayiatterns based upon actual historical option egesci
SFAS No. 123(R) also requires the application fufréeiture rate to the calculated fair value ofcit@ptions on a
prospective basis. Our assumption of forfeiture rapresents the historical rate at which our stiaded awards
were surrendered prior to vesting over the traifmgr years. If our assumption of forfeiture rab@nges, we would
have to make a cumulative adjustment in the cuperibd. We monitor the assumptions used to comietéair
value of our stock options and ESPP awards onwaebasis and we will revise our assumptions gsgpiate. In
the event that assumptions used to compute thedhie of these awards are later determined todecurate or if
we change our assumptions significantly in futurgquls, stock-based compensation expense and sultsref
operations could be materially impacted. See Nd®unmary of Significant Accounting
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Policies” section “Stock-based compensation” ofdédb Consolidated Financial Statements for mdarimation
regarding the valuation of stock-based compensation

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Piels” of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemémta
full description of recent accounting pronounceraéntluding the respective expected dates of adiopti

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisk

We are exposed to financial market risks, primaaiiging from the effect of interest rate fluctoats on our
investment portfolio. Interest rate fluctuation nase from changes in the market’s view of theliguaf the
security issuer, the overall economic outlook, Hredtime to maturity of our portfolio. We mitigatt@s risk by
investing only in high quality, highly liquid instments. Securities with original maturities of g@@r or less must
be rated by two of the three industry standarahgatigencies as follows: Al by Standard & Poor’'shi?Moody’s
and/or F4 by Fitch. Securities with original maturitiesgreater than one year must be rated by two ofdhevfing
industry standard rating agencies as follows: AAStandard & Poor’s, Aa3 by Moody’s and/or AA- biych. By
corporate policy, we limit the amount of our creslposure to $10.0 million for any one commeraalier. Our
policy requires that at least 10% of the portfdd®min securities with a maturity of 90 days or léssaddition, we
may make investments in securities with maturitipgo 36 months. However, the bias of our investrpeticy is
toward shorter maturities.

We invest our cash equivalents and short-term niaoke securities in a variety of U.S. dollar finehc
instruments such a&easuries, Government Agencies, Repurchase Agregn@mmercial Paper and Bankers’
AcceptanceOur policy specifically prohibits trading securgtiéor the sole purposes of realizing trading psofit
However, we may liquidate a portion of our portfolfi we experience unforeseen liquidity requirersefrt such a
case if the environment has been one of risingesteates we may experience a realized loss,aipiif the
environment has been one of declining interessrae may experience a realized gain. As of Dece®ibge2007,
we had an investment portfolio of fixed income nedable securities of $321.5 million excluding casld cash
equivalents. If market interest rates were to iaseeimmediately and uniformly by 10% from the levasd of
December 31, 2007, the fair value of the portfelimuld decline by approximately $1.3 million. Actuakults may
differ materially from this sensitivity analysis.

We bill our customers in U.S. dollars. Although fhectuation of currency exchange rates may impaict
customers, and thus indirectly impact us, we doatteimpt to hedge this indirect and speculatie @ur overseas
operations consist primarily of business developnoéfices of from 3 to 11 people in any one courgng one
design center in India. We monitor our foreign eagy exposure; however, as of December 31, 200believe
our foreign currency exposure is not material efatiogwarrant foreign currency hedging.

The table below summarizes the book value, fame/alinrealized gains (losses) and related weightethge
interest rates for our marketable securities photfas of December 31, 2007 and 2006:

December 31, 200
Unrealized Average Rate o
Book Gain/ Return
Fair Value Value (Loss) (Annualized)
(Dollars in thousands)

Marketable securities

United States government debt securi $111,66¢ $11156¢ $  10C 4.4%
Corporate notes and bon 209,82: 209,75: 71 4.2%
Total marketable securiti¢ $321,49. $321,32( $ 171
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December 31, 2006
Unrealized Average Rate o
Book Gain/ Return
Fair Value Value (Loss) (Annualized)
(Dollars in thousands)

Marketable securities

United States government debt securi $226,81: $227,57¢ $ (763 4.2%
Corporate notes and bon 136,22 136,41 (193) 5.2%
Total marketable securiti¢ $363,03° $363,99: $ (956

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dz

See Item 15 “Exhibits and Financial Statement Salesd of this Form 10-K for required financial satents
and supplementary data.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcégnting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedure

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our CEO and CFO, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofdisaiosure controls and procedures, as such terendefined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated undeBduerities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended @xelfange
Act”), as of December 31, 2007, the end of thequkdovered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. isare
controls and procedures are designed to ensuranfbanation required to be disclosed by us inrdygorts we file
or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, me®ee, summarized and reported on a timely basishanduch
information is accumulated and communicated to rgameent, including our CEO and CFO. To the exteat th
components of our internal control over financegarting are included within our disclosure corgrahd
procedures, they are included in the scope of mamagt's annual assessment of our internal conter financial
reporting.

Based on this evaluation, our management, includingCEO and CFO, has concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were not effective as aebwer 31, 2007 because of the material weakneng iimternal
control over financial reporting discussed belowtwthstanding the material weakness described\edar
management performed additional analyses, recatioiis and other postesing procedures and has concluded
the Company’s consolidated financial statementsHferperiods covered by and included in this AnfRegbort on
Form 10-Kare fairly stated in all material respects in adeoice with generally accepted accounting principiehe
U.S. for each of the periods presented herein.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahcia
reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)1&{der the Exchange Act. Our management, inclyittie CEO
and CFO conducted an evaluation of the effectivenésur internal control over financial reportiag of
December 31, 2007 using the criteria set forthheyGommittee of Sponsoring Organizations of theadvway
Commission (“COSQ") irnternal Control-Integrated Framework

Internal control over financial reporting is a pess designed to provide reasonable assurance ireg#rd
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacet of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. Intecoaltrol over financial reporting includes thoseigiek and
procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenanceodnds that, in reasonable detail, accurately ainly freflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets afahgpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance thas#a@ions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation ofifiahstatements in accordance with GAAP, andthegipts and
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expenditures of the company are being made ordgé@ordance with authorizations of management aredtirs of
the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assuraega&rding prevention or timely detection of unawitred
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygsats that could have a material effect on itsfired statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or dete
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjecheorisk that
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesdlitions, or that the degree of compliance wWithpolicies
or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combamatif deficiencies, in internal control over fingaic
reporting, such that there is a reasonable po#gitiiat a material misstatement of the companyisual or interim
financial statements will not be prevented or degon a timely basis. Management has determiradué have
the following material weakness in our internal trohover financial reporting as of December 31020

Insufficient personnel with appropriate accountkigpwledge and training.We did not maintain a sufficient
complement of personnel with an appropriate le¥@ocgounting knowledge, experience and traininthe
application of generally accepted accounting pples commensurate with our financial reporting resaents.
Specifically, this deficiency resulted in audit astiments that corrected an understatement of revand audit
adjustments to deferred revenue, deferred renpgpty and equipment, depreciation, consulting egpsrand
certain accrual accounts and disclosures in thedatimtated financial statements for the year endedeinber 31,
2006 and in an audit adjustment that correctednalenstatement of operating expenses and relatatldegrual
accounts and disclosures in the consolidated finhstatements for the year ended December 31,,200%arily
arising from an insufficient review by us of relevénformation obtained through communications wiftiid parties
Additionally, this deficiency could result in miagtments of the aforementioned accounts and digeleshat woul
result in a material misstatement to the annuatterim consolidated financial statements that wiowt be
prevented or detected. Accordingly, managementhsermined this control deficiency constitutes derial
weakness.

Based on the above described material weaknessyanggement, including our CEO and CFO have cord
that we did not maintain effective internal contoekr financial reporting as of December 31, 2@2&ed on the
criteria inInternal Control-Integrated Framewoiksued by the COSO.

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has beditealiby
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registiblic accounting firm, as stated in their rémdrich
appears herein.

Implemented or Planned Remedial Actions of the Matéal Weakness

In response to the identification of the materiakkness described above, management has initreed t
following corrective actions:

 During the quarter ended December 31, 2007, wel lsineew VP of Finance, with experience in public
accounting as well as in senior accounting roles public company, who will oversee all of our aggting
functions.

« During the quarter ended December 31, 2007 and farifiling the financial statements, we have diged
two Assistant Corporate Controllers; one to oversgenue recognition and financial systems andther
to oversee external reporting. We have also hiréeeral Ledger and Consolidations Mana

« During the quarter ended December 31, 2007, wenejall of our finance, accounting and stock
administration staff to attend training in varicargas of U.S. generally accepted accounting priesipn this
regard, members of our finance, accounting andatipers departments have attended revenue recagnitio
SEC reporting and stock administration traininghie fourth quarter of 200

* We have on-going efforts to improve communicatibagveen finance personnel responsible for comgletin
reviews of our accrual accounts and operationsopeed responsible for the execution of the worktarse
transactions and have instituted quarterly closetimgs involving finance and operations personaied
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« We will continue our efforts to review our interrantrol over financial reporting with the intentautomate
previously manual processes specifically in thesu legal billing administratiol

Additionally, management is investing in on-goirffpes to continuously improve the control envirogint and
has committed considerable resources to the cantgiimprovement of the design, implementation, dosutation,
testing and monitoring of our internal controls.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been changes in our internal contral favancial reporting during the most recently cdated
fiscal quarter that have materially affected, @ wasonably likely to materially affect, our imak control over
financial reporting as described above in the eactiimplemented or Planned Remedial Actions oflvtagerial
Weakness.”

Iltem 9B. Other Information

None.
PART llI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govente

The information responsive to this item is incogied herein by reference to our Proxy Statemerado2008
annual meeting of stockholders to be filed with $eeurities and Exchange Commission pursuant talgggn 144
not later than 120 days after the end of the figeal covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-Ke information
under the heading “Our Executive Officers” in Raitem 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K isals
incorporated herein by reference.

We have a Code of Business Conduct and EthicdlIfof aur directors, officers and employees. Oud€of
Business Conduct and Ethics is available on oursitelat http://investor.rambus.com/governance/stbim /. To
date, there have been no waivers under our CoBegihess Conduct and Ethics. We will post any waivié and
when granted, of our Code of Business Conduct ahid$€on our website.

Item 11. Executive Compensatio

The information responsive to this item is incogied herein by reference to our Proxy Statemerddo2008
annual meeting of stockholders to be filed with 8seurities and Exchange Commission pursuant talgeégn 14A
not later than 120 days after the end of the figeal covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners afbnagement and Related Stockholder Matt

The information responsive to this item is incogied herein by reference to our Proxy Statemerado2008
annual meeting of stockholders to be filed with $eeurities and Exchange Commission pursuant talg&ggn 144
not later than 120 days after the end of the figeal covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abitector Independenci

The information responsive to this item is incogied herein by reference to our Proxy Statemerddo2008
annual meeting of stockholders to be filed with $eeurities and Exchange Commission pursuant talg&ggn 144
not later than 120 days after the end of the figeal covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Servici

The information responsive to this item is incogied herein by reference to our Proxy Statemerado2008
annual meeting of stockholders to be filed with $eeurities and Exchange Commission pursuant talg&ggn 144
not later than 120 days after the end of the figeal covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedul

(a)(1) Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statementshef Registrant and Report of PricewaterhouseCodgd?s
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm,iiackided herewith:

_Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfdinm 52
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&00200¢ 53
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeded December 31, 2007, 2006, and - 54
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity @adhprehensive Income for the years ended

December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2( 55
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the ysailed December 31, 2007, 2006 and = 57
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statem 58
Consolidated Supplementary Financial Data (unady 95
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Rasnimg.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the index appearing under Item 151{ap¢esent
fairly, in all material respects, the financial fiilm of Rambus Inc. and its subsidiaries at Decendi, 2007 and
2006, and the results of their operations and tash flows for each of the three years in theggeended
December 31, 2007 in conformity with accountingipifples generally accepted in the United StateSnoérica.
Also in our opinion, the Company did not maintamall material respects, effective internal cohtreer financial
reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on aitstiablished iinternal Control — Integrated Framewoissued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission (COSO) because a material mesak
in internal control over financial reporting reldt® insufficient personnel with appropriate acammknowledge
and training existed as of that date. A materigdkmess is a deficiency, or a combination of deficies, in internal
control over financial reporting, such that thexaireasonable possibility that a material misstate of the annual
or interim financial statements will not be prewathor detected on a timely basis. The material wesdkreferred to
above is described in Management’s Report on lat&Zontrol Over Financial Reporting appearing urtiem 9A.
We considered this material weakness in determitliaghature, timing, and extent of audit testsiapph our audit
of the 2007 consolidated financial statements,@andpinion regarding the effectiveness of the Canys internal
control over financial reporting does not affect opinion on those consolidated financial statemenie
Company’s management is responsible for thesediabstatements, for maintaining effective interoahtrol over
financial reporting and for its assessment of fifiecéveness of internal control over financial ogfing included in
managemens report referred to above. Our responsibilityigxpress opinions on these financial statememtoa
the Company’s internal control over financial repay based on our integrated audits. We conduatecodits in
accordance with the standards of the Public Compaecpunting Oversight Board (United States). Thetsendards
require that we plan and perform the audits toiobtasonable assurance about whether the finastei@ments are
free of material misstatement and whether effedtiternal control over financial reporting was ntained in all
material respects. Our audits of the financialestegnts included examining, on a test basis, evaenpporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statemastessing the accounting principles used andfisaymt
estimates made by management, and evaluating dralbfinancial statement presentation. Our autiihtzrnal
control over financial reporting included obtainiag understanding of internal control over finahmgorting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness eaististesting and evaluating the design and operefiectiveness
internal control based on the assessed risk. Qlitsaaiso included performing such other procedasewe
considered necessary in the circumstances. Wevbdliat our audits provide a reasonable basisdpppinions.

As discussed in Note 10 of the Notes to the Codatdid Financial Statements, effective January Q7 2the
Company changed the manner in which it accountarfoertainty in income taxes.

As discussed in Note 2 of the Notes to the Conatdidl Financial Statements, effective January 16 20@
Company changed the manner in which it accountstmk-based compensation.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassu
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdthe preparation of financial statements for exaepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipieee A company’s internal control over finanaiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that (fapeto the maintenance of records that, in redsergetail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disghositions of the assets of the company; (iiyvule reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as nactsgarmit preparation of financial statementsd@cordance wit
generally accepted accounting principles, andréipts and expenditures of the company are breadg only in
accordance with authorizations of management anedtdirs of the company; and (iii) provide reasoeassurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitexd acquisition, use, or disposition of the comps assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegsts.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or déte
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjecheorisk that
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesdlitions, or that the degree of compliance wWithpolicies
or procedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
February 29, 2008
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RAMBUS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31
2007 2006
(In thousands, excep
shares and per share

amounts)
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $119,39: $ 73,30«
Marketable securitie 321,49: 351,05!
Accounts receivabl 442 84¢
Unbilled receivable 1,47¢ 1,74¢
Deferred taxe 11,59¢ 11,38¢
Prepaids and other current as¢ 8,34¢ 4,40:
Total current asse 462,74¢ 442,74
Marketable securities, long tei — 11,98:
Restricted cas 2,28¢ 2,281
Deferred taxes, long ter 116,20¢ 98,19:
Intangible assets, n 13,44: 18,691
Property and equipment, r 24,581 26,01¢
Goodwill 4,45¢ 3,31t
Other asset 3,62¢ 1,38(
Total asset $ 627,34 $604,61
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 11,28: $ 10,42¢
Accrued salaries and benet 9,98¢ 12,78¢
Accrued litigation expense 26,23¢ 23,14:
Income taxes payab 834 197
Other accrued liabilitie 5,06( 5,87¢
Deferred revenu 2,75¢€ 6,002
Convertible note — 160,00(
Total current liabilities 56,15: 218,43t
Convertible note 160,00( —
Long-term income taxes payat 2,91 —
Other lon¢term liabilities 1,19¢ 2,331
Deferred revenue, less current port — 1,55¢
Total liabilities 220,26 222,32¢
Commitments and contingencies (Note 6 and
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Convertible preferred stock, $.001 par val
Authorized: 5,000,000 share
Issued and outstanding: no shares at Decembef8Z,éhd December 31, 20 — —
Common Stock, $.001 par valt
Authorized: 500,000,000 shar
Issued and outstanding 105,294,534 shares at Dece8thp2007 and 103,820,383 share
December 31, 200 10t 104
Additional paid in capita 601,82: 550,21(
Accumulated defici (194,96¢) (167,396
Accumulated other comprehensive income (I 124 (630)
Total stockholder equity 407,08 382,28t
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $627,34° $604,61°

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Years Ended December 31

2006 2005

(In thousands, except per share amount

$168,91¢  $130,32:
26,40¢ 26,87¢

195,32 157,19¢

30,39: 23,73¢
68,977 49,11¢
104,56: 80,41¢
31,43¢ —

235,36t 153,26

(40,04:) 3,931
14,337  34,83(

(25,70f) 38,76
(11,889 9,821

$(13,81 $ 28,94(

$ (019 $ 0.2¢

$ (019 $ 0.2¢

103,04t 99,87¢

103,04 103,53(

2007
Revenues
Royalties $154,30¢
Contract revenue 25,63¢
Total revenue 179,94(
Costs and expense
Cost of contract revenue 27,12
Research and developme! 82,871
Marketing, general and administrativ 120,59°
Costs of restatement and related legal activ 19,457
Total costs and expens 250,05!
Operating income (los: (70,11%)
Interest and other income, r 21,75¢
Income (loss) before income tax (48,35¢)
Provision for (benefit from) income tax (20,697)
Net income (loss $(27,669)
Net income (loss) per shal
Basic $ (0.29)
Diluted $ (0.29)
Weighted average shares used in per share catmsz
Basic 104,05¢
Diluted 104,05¢
* Includes stoc-based compensatio
Cost of contract revenu $ 5,91C
Research and developm $ 16,19¢
Marketing, general and administrati $ 22,70:

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Balances at December 31, 2(
Components of comprehensive incor
Net income
Foreign currency translation adjustme
Unrealized loss on marketable securi
net of tax

Total comprehensive incon

Issuance of common stock upon exerci
of options, restricted stock, and
employee stock purchase pl

Repurchase and retirement of comn
stock under repurchase pl

Deferred stoc-based compensatic

Reversal of deferred stock-based
compensatiol

Amortization of stoc-based compensatic

Tax benefit of equity incentive pla

Balances at December 31, 2(
Components of comprehensive incor
Net loss
Foreign currency translation adjustme
Unrealized gain on marketable
securities, net of ta

Total comprehensive lo:

Issuance of common stock upon exerci
of options, restricted stock, and
employee stock purchase pl

Repurchase and retirement of common
stock under repurchase pl

Stock-based compensatic

Reversal of deferred stc-basec
compensatiol

Accumulated

55

Additional Deferred Other
Common Stock Paid-in Stock-Based Accumulated Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital Compensatior Deficit Gain (Loss) Total
(In thousands)

102,97. $ 102 $496,75. $ (39,889 % (102,520 % (87€) $353,57¢
— — — — 28,94( —  28,94(
— — — — — (160) (160
— — — — — (609) (609
28,17:
1,45¢ 1 8,52 — — — 8,52:
(5,029 (5) (28,359 — (59,807) — (88,16¢)
— — 2,96 (2,967 — — —
— — (2,039 2,03¢ — — —
— — — 20,69 — — 20,69
— — 66¢ — — — 66¢
99,39 99 478,51 (20,129 (133,387 (1,647 323,46
— — — — (13,81¢) — (13,819
— — — — — (24) (29
— — — — — 1,041 1,041
(12,799
5,12: 6 57,55 — — —  57,55¢
(700) 1) (75€) — (20,19¢) — (20,95
— — 38,90¢ — —  38,90¢
— —  (20,12) 20,12 — — —
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME — (Continued)

Accumulated

Additional Deferred Other
Common Stock  Paid-in Stock-Based Accumulated Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital Compensatior Deficit Gain (Loss) Total
(In thousands)
Tax shortfall from equity incentive plal —3$ — 3% (3899% — $ — $ — $ (3,899
Balances at December 31, 2( 103,82( 104 550,21( — (167,391 (63C) 382,28t
FIN 48 Tax Adjustment (Note 1( — — 23¢ — 94 — 33<
Balance at January 1, 20 103,82( 104 550,44¢ — (167,307 (630) 382,62:
Components of comprehensive incor
Net loss — — — — (27,664 — (27,669
Foreign currency translation adjustme — — — — — 66 66
Unrealized gain on marketable securi
net of tax — — — — — 68¢ 68¢
Total comprehensive lo: (26,910
Reversal of liability-based stock awards to
equity — — 2,13¢ — — — 2,13¢

Issuance of common stock upon exercis

options, nonvested equity stock and

stock units, and employee stock purct

plan 1,47¢ 1 11,831 — — — 11,83
Repurchase and retirement of comn

stock under repurchase pl — — — —
Stock-based compensatic — —  43,67¢ — — — 43,67¢

Tax shortfall from equity incentive plal — — (6,277) — — —  (6,27)
Balances at December 31, 2( 105,29' $ 10F $601,82. $ — $ (194,960 $ 124 $407,08:

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

56




Table of Contents

RAMBUS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31
2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie

Net income (loss $ (27,664 $ (13,816 $ 28,94(
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to @sthcprovided by operating activitie
Stocl-based compensatic 44,81( 40,52 20,46(
Depreciatior 11,20: 11,24¢ 9,10z
Amortization of intangible assets and note issuarocts 5,28¢ 8,40¢ 5,41(
Tax benefit from equity incentive pla — — 66¢
Deferred tax (benefit) provisic (21,86¢) (11,249 6,52¢
Loss on disposal of property and equipr 44k 342 221
Write-off of cos-based investmel — 163 —
Gain on repurchase of convertible nc — — (24,019
Change in operating assets and liabilities, neffefct of business acquisitior
Accounts receivable and unbilled receivat 674 (1,640 481
Prepaids and other ass (6,190 (730 (451
Accounts payabl 5,104 6,05t (2,506
Accrued salaries and benefits and other accrubiities (4,359 7,231 2,581
Accrued litigation expense 3,091 18,51( 1,41¢
Income taxes payab 81€ 99 (5149
Increases in deferred rever 2,264 22,22¢ 17,38¢
Decreases in deferred rever (7,065) (23,959 (31,91)
Net cash provided by operating activit 6,54¢ 63,42¢ 33,79:
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of property and equipm (7,006 (14,909 (8,036
Purchases of leasehold improveme (2,610 (3,089 (531
Acquisition of intangible asse (30 (300) (2,500
Acquisition of busines (1,139 (2,000 (5,439
Purchases of marketable securi (664,42() (215,18() (347,700
Maturities of marketable securiti 707,09: 166,19: 222,14
Decrease (increase) in restricted c 1 (8) 2,78¢
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 31,88¢ (68,292 (139,27)
Cash flows from financing activitie
Payments under installment payment arrangel (4,250 (800) (400
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock undetame stock plan 11,83: 57,55¢ 8,52
Repurchase and retirement of common s — (20,95 (88,16¢)
Net proceeds from issuance of convertible n — 292,75(
Repurchase of convertible no — —  (112,98))
Net cash provided by financing activiti 7,581 35,80« 99,71¢
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equts: 69 (29 (160
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 46,087 30,91 (5,919
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢ 73,30¢ 42,39; 48,31(
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $119,39: $ 73,30¢ $ 42,39
Non-cash investing and financing activitie
Property and equipment acquired under installmapient arrangeme $ 1251 $ — $ 2,80cC
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Taxes paic $ 1,04¢ $ 234 $ 2,62«
Taxes refunde $ — 51¢ $ —

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Formation and Business of the Compan

Rambus Inc. (the “Company” or “Rambus”) designs,ad@ps and licenses chip interface technologiesatea
foundational to nearly all digital electronics puotks. Rambus’ chip interface technologies are desidgo improve
the time-to-market, performance, and cost-effeciss of its customers’ semiconductor and systemugte for
computing, communications and consumer electrapgdications. Rambus was incorporated in Califormi&larch
1990 and reincorporated in Delaware in March 1997.

We have reclassified certain prior year balancestdorm to the current year’s presentation. Nohhese
reclassifications had an impact on reported nedrire (loss) for any of the periods presented. Seée RigSummary
of Significant Accounting Policies”, for adoptiofiBASB Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 48, “Accountingf
Uncertainty in Income Taxes” — an interpretatiorF&fSB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income &six

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Financial Statement Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemientade the accounts of Rambus and its wholly owned
subsidiaries, Rambus K.K., located in Tokyo, Jagrash Rambus, located in George Town, Grand Caynif$, of
which Rambus Chip Technologies (India) Private ltédj Rambus Deutschland GmbH, located in Pforzheim,
Germany and Rambus Korea, Inc., located in Seaure& are subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts an
transactions have been eliminated in the accompgrognsolidated financial statements. Investmenéstities
with less than 20% ownership by Rambus and in wRiambus does not have the ability to significamfluence
the operations of the investee are accounted fogubke cost method and are included in other asset

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith generally accepted accounting principleguiees
management to make estimates and assumptiondfiztttae reported amounts of assets and liakslied
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements and the redaimounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting pekitdal results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition
Overview

Rambus’ revenue recognition policy is based onimerican Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97-2, “Software RevemRecognition” as amended by SOP 98-4 and SOP. B89
certain of Rambus’ revenue contracts, revenuecisgieized according to SOP 81-Bctounting for Performance
Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Caif”.

In application of the specific authoritative litewee cited above, Rambus complies with FinanciaddAmting
Standards Board Statement of Financial Accountiogdg€pts No. 5 and 6. Rambus recognizes revenue when
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, Ratdsudelivered the product or performed the seriie fee is
fixed or determinable and collection is reasonasiyured. If any of these criteria are not met, Remuefers
recognizing the revenue until such time as alkddtare met. Determination of whether or not therggeria have
been met may require the Company to make judgmasdgsimptions and estimates based upon currentriafimn
and historical experience.

Rambus’ revenues consist of royalty revenues anttact revenues generated from agreements with
semiconductor companies, system companies andrceziller arrangements. Royalty revenues cookisatent
license royalties and product license royaltiemt@aet revenues consist of fixed license feesdfigagineering fees
and service fees associated with integration of lReenchip interface products into its customgnsiducts. Contra
revenues may also include support or maintenaneselRr arrangements generally provide for
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the pass-through of a percentage of the fees pdltetreseller by its customer for use of Ramipasént and produ
licenses. Rambus does not recognize revenue fee tirrkangements until it has received notice cfmae earned k
and paid to the reseller, accompanied by the gassigh payment from the reseller. Rambus doesanot p
commissions to the reseller for these arrangements.

Many of Rambus’ licensees have the right to catiwl licenses. In such arrangements, revenuelys on
recognized to the extent that is consistent wiéhdhncellation provisions. Cancellation provisianthin such
contracts generally provide for a prospective chatben with no refund of fees already remitteddmstomers for
products provided and payment for services renderied to the date of cancellation. Unbilled reediles represent
enforceable claims and are deemed collectible mmeoction with the Company’s revenue recognitiorigyol

Royalty Revenues

Rambus recognizes royalty revenues upon notifindiipits licensees and when payments are receies.
terms of the royalty agreements generally eithguire licensees to give Rambus notification angayp the royaltie
within 60 days of the end of the quarter duringahhthe sales occur or are based on a fixed rotiadtyis due withi
45 days of the end of the quarter. From time t@fiRambus engages accounting firms other thandependent
registered public accounting firm to perform, omiais’ behalf, periodic audits of some of the liczis reports of
royalties to Rambus and any adjustment resultiognfsuch royalty audits is recorded in the periochsadjustment
is determined. Rambus has two types of royaltymaes: (1) patent license royalties and (2) proticehse
royalties.

Patent licenses.Rambus licenses its broad portfolio of patentegtions to semiconductor and systems
companies who use these inventions in the developar@ manufacture of their own products. Suchmkagg
agreements may cover the license of part, or flRamnbus’ patent portfolio. Rambus generally reéogmrevenue
from these arrangements as amounts become dueagmepts are received. The contractual terms of the
agreements generally provide for payments ovextended period of time.

Product licenses.Rambus develops proprietary and industigndard chip interface products, such as RDF
and XDR that Rambus provides to its customers updetuct license agreements. These arrangemeitusiénc
royalties, which can be based on either a percergégales or number of units sold. Rambus recegnievenue
from these arrangements upon notification fromlitensee and when payments are received.

On February 2, 2007, the Federal Trade Commisshen“ETC”) issued an order requiring Rambus totithe
royalty rates charged for certain SDR and DDR SDRekmory and controller products sold after Apri| 2207.
The FTC stayed this requirement on March 16, 280M@ject to certain conditions. One such conditibthe stay
limits the royalties Rambus can receive under gedantracts so that they do not exceed the FTGigiMum
Allowable Royalties (“MAR”). The Company is using best efforts to comply with these orders. Ameunt
excess of MAR that are subject to the order aréuded from revenue. As of December 31, 2007, $2lHomhas
been excluded from revenue. Depending on the fesadlution of the appeal, the Company may or mayaable
to recognize any excess amounts as additional veven

Contract Revenues

Rambus generally recognizes revenue in accordaitbehe provisions of SOP 81-1 for development cacts
related to licenses of its chip interface produstsh as XDR and FlexIO that involve significangieeering and
integration services. Revenues derived from swen$e and engineering services may be recogniiegl the
completed contract or percentage-of-completion nktRor all license and service agreements accddataising
the percentage-of-completion method, Rambus detesrprogress to completion using input measuresdhgson
labor-hours incurred. Rambus has evaluated usatpfibmeasures versus input measures and has detdrthat
its output is not sufficiently uniform with respeotcost, time and effort per unit
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of output to use output measures as a measur®gfgss to completion. Part of these contract fesg e due upon
the achievement of certain milestones, such asgioovof certain deliverables by Rambus or productf chips by
the licensee. The remaining fees may be due odgiermined dates and include significant up-freetst

A provision for estimated losses on fixed pricetcacts is made, if necessary, in the period in Wil loss
becomes probable and can be reasonably estimaiambus determines that it is necessary to reakisestimates
of the work required to complete a contract, thaltamount of revenue recognized over the lifehefd¢ontract
would not be affected. However, to the extent tbw assumptions regarding the total amount of wedessary to
complete a project were less than the originalragsions, the contract fees would be recognized sotiran
originally expected. Conversely, if the newly estted total amount of work necessary to completeopg was
longer than the original assumptions, the confiees will be recognized over a longer period. #réhis significant
uncertainty about the time to complete, or thevdetibles by either party, Rambus evaluates theoappteness of
applying the completed contract method of accogntinder SOP 81-1. Such evaluation is completeddamiRis on
a contract-by-contract basis. For all contractsrelievenue recognition must be delayed until thereot
deliverables are substantially complete, Rambukuetes the realizability of the assets which theuawulated costs
would represent and defers or expenses as inchasetl upon the conclusions of its realization aisly

If application of the percentage-of-completion neethesults in recognizable revenue prior to aniiting
event under a customer contract, the Company @dthgnize the revenue and record an unbilled reolgiva
Amounts invoiced to Rambus’ customers in excessadgnizable revenues are recorded as deferredueseThe
timing and amounts invoiced to customers can vinyificantly depending on specific contract termsl @an
therefore have a significant impact on deferreénexes or unbilled receivables in any given period.

Rambus also recognizes revenue in accordance Wh%-2, SOP 98-4 and SOP 98-9 for development
contracts related to licenses of its chip interfaucts that involve non-essential engineerimgises and post
contract support (“PCS”). These SOPs apply torgities that earn revenue on products containifigveoe, where
software is not incidental to the product as a wh@lontract fees for the products and servicesigedwinder these
arrangements are comprised of license fees andesrgig service fees which are not essential tduhetionality
of the product. Rambusates for PCS and for engineering services arefgpereach development contract and
standardized in terms of rates or length. Becabtifgese characteristics, the Company does not aaudficient
population of contracts from which to derive vendpecific objective evidence.

Therefore, as required by SOP 97-2, after Ramblisgede the product, if the only undelivered elemsPCS,
Rambus will recognize revenue ratably over eitherdontractual PCS period or the period during WRES is
expected to be provided. Rambus reviews assumptigasding the PCS periods on a regular basisaitfifus
determines that it is necessary to revise the aestisnof the support periods, the total amountwémae to be
recognized over the life of the contract would betaffected. However, if the new estimated periedse shorter
than the original assumptions, the contract feasldvbe recognized ratably over a shorter periochv@csely, if the
new estimated periods were longer than the origisalmptions, the contract fees would be recogmiatathly over
a longer period.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Rambus’ allowance for doubtful accounts is deteadinsing a combination of factors to ensure thaniRes’
trade and unbilled receivables balances are nastated due to uncollectibility. The Company perierongoing
customer credit evaluation within the context & thdustry in which it operates, does not requaiateral, and
maintains allowances for potential credit losseswstomer accounts when deemed necessary. A spalbifivance
for a doubtful account up to 100% of the invoicd v provided for any problematic customer balanézelinquen
account balances are written-off after managemastletermined that the likelihood of collectiomdt possible.
For all periods presented, Rambus had no allowBmaoubtful accounts.
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Research and Development

Costs incurred in research and development, whicludle engineering expenses, such as salarieskteld
benefits, depreciation, professional services ardieead expenses related to the general developrhBambus’
products, are expensed as incurred. Software dewvelot costs are capitalized beginning when a pt&luc
technological feasibility has been establishedeming when a product is available for generalasdeto
customers. Rambus has not capitalized any softderelopment costs since the period between edtaigis
technological feasibility and general customerasteis relatively short and as such, these costsria been
significant.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using an assefaility approach, which requires the recognitidrdeferred
tax assets and liabilities for expected futuregaants that have been recognized differently in Ratconsolidate:
financial statements and tax returns. The measureafeurrent and deferred tax assets and liadslits based on
provisions of the enacted tax law and the effetfatare changes in tax laws and rates. A valuasitowance is
established when necessary to reduce deferregsatsato amounts expected to be realized.

In addition, the calculation of the Compasiyax liabilities involves dealing with uncertaggiin the applicatio
of complex tax regulations. Effective January 1020he Company adopted the provisions of FIN 4& CTompan
considers many factors when evaluating and estméts tax positions and tax benefits, which maguree periodic
adjustments and which may not accurately anticipateal outcomes. See Note 10, “Income Taxes adidlitional
information regarding the adoption of FIN 48.

Stock-Based Compensation

For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 aris] #8Company maintained stock plans coveringadr
range of potential equity grants including stockiams, restricted stock, performance stock andkstmits. In
addition, the Company sponsors Employee Stock RseRlans (“ESPP”), whereby eligible employeesatitied
to purchase Common Stock semi-annually, by meatimitéd payroll deductions, at a 15% discount frtva fair
market value of the Common Stock as of specifiesladbee Note 7, “Employee Stock Option Plans,” atel to
Consolidated Financial Statements for a detailetrilgtion of the Company’s plans.

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopte@®imit of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)
No. 123(R),“Share-Based Payment”, which is a revision of SRS 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation”. SFAS No. 123(R) requires the measene and recognition of compensation expense in the
Company’s statement of operations for all sharetbggyment awards made to Rambus employees, dseotd
consultants including employee stock options, neteeequity stock and equity stock units, and egggastock
purchases related to all Rambus’ stock-based cosagien plans. Stock-based compensation expenseasured at
grant date, based on the estimated fair valuesoéittard, reduced by an estimate of the annualetedof stock
option forfeitures, and is recognized as expense the employees’ expected requisite service peusitig the
straight-line method. In addition, SFAS No. 123(Bjuires the benefits of tax deductions in excéssamgnized
compensation expense to be reported as a finanastyflow, rather than as an operating cash floprascribed
under previous accounting rules. The Company ssddtte modified prospective method of adoption civhi
recognizes compensation expense for the fair vafladl sharebased payments granted after January 1, 2006 a
the fair value of all awards granted to employedsr o January 1, 2006 that remain unvested ord#te of
adoption. This method does not require a restateofgrior periods. However, awards granted antstvested ol
the date of adoption will be attributed to expeasder SFAS No. 123(R), including the applicatioriasfeiture rate
on a prospective basis. Rambus’ forfeiture rateesgts the historical rate at which Rambus stadet awards
were surrendered prior to vesting over the traifmg years. SFAS No. 123(R) requires forfeituebe estimated
the time of grant and revised on a cumulative hafsigecessary, in subsequent periods if actual
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forfeitures differ from those estimates. Priorigcél year 2006, the Company accounted for forfegas they
occurred, for the purposes of pro forma informatimder SFAS No. 123.

Periods prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R)

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accountedrfggloyee stock-based awards and its ESPP using the
intrinsic value method in accordance with APB N5, BIN 44, “Accounting for Certain Transactions dhxing
Stock-Based Compensation, an Interpretation of &piion No. 25,” FASB Technical Bulletin (“FTB")

No. 9%-1, “Accounting under Statement 123 for Certain Eoype Stock Purchase Plans with a Look-Back Ogtion,
and related interpretations. The Company accouoteton-employee stock-based awards under thevddile
method in accordance with Emerging Issues TaskeHOEITF") No. 96-18 “Accounting for Equity Instruemtsthat
are Issued to Other than Employees for AcquirimgnaConjunction with Selling, Goods or Servicé&nder the
intrinsic value method, stock-based compensatige®ese for options has been recognized in the Coyrgpan
Consolidated Statement of Operations only if thereise price of the Company’s stock options gratded
employees and directors was less than the faireb&edue of the underlying stock at the date ohgead shares
granted under the ESPP were not issued at gréateat 15% discount.

Had stock-based compensation for 2005 been detedniased on the estimated fair value at the getetfdr
all equity awards consistent with the provision$S6fAS No. 123, the Company’s net income and easnieg share
for the year ended December 31, 2005 would have adgisted to the following pro forma amounts:

2005
(In thousands,
except per share amounts)

Net income, as reporte $ 28,94(
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expensgdiedlin reported net earnings,
net of tax 12,17+
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation expatesrdned under the fair valu
method, net of ta (45,177
Pro forma net los $ (4,057
Basic earnings (loss) per shi
As reportec $ 0.2¢
Pro forma $ (0.09)
Diluted earnings (loss) per she
As reportec $ 0.2¢
Pro forma(1 $ (0.09)
Weighted average shares used in per share catmsz
Basic and diluted(1 99,87¢

(1) Because the pro forma disclosures result in aasst the diluted shares used in the pro formalmees
calculations for diluted pro forma loss per sharthe same as the basic sha

Adoption of SFAS No. 123(R)

Effective January 1, 2006, Rambus adopted SFASLRI®(R), which requires the measurement and redognit
of compensation expense in the Company'’s stateafeygerations for all share-based payment awardierna
Rambus employees and directors, including emplsy@ek options and employee stock purchases refatali
Rambus’ stock-based compensation plans basedioraé=d fair values.
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SFAS No. 123(R) requires companies to estimatéaih@alue of stoclbased compensation on the date of ¢
using an optiorpricing model. The fair value of the award is retiagd as expense over the requisite service pe
in Rambus’ consolidated statement of operationsguie straightine method consistent with the methodology 1
under SFAS No. 123. Under SFAS No. 123(R) thetatted stock-based compensation expense must beecky
an estimate of the annualized rate of stock ofdtdieitures. The unrecognized expense of awardyetotested at
the date of adoption is recognized in net incorassl in the periods after the date of adoptiomgittie same
valuation method and assumptions determined uhaesriginal provisions of SFAS No. 123, Additionyall
Rambus’ deferred stock compensation balance ofl$2dlion as of December 31, 2005, which was acted for
under APB No. 25, was reclassified into its additibpaid in capital upon the adoption of SFAS NB(R) on
January 1, 2006.

The following table summarizes stock-based compensaxpense related to employee stock options and
employee stock purchase grants under SFAS No. }28(fhe years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006:

December 31 December 31
2007 2006
(In thousands)

Stocl-based compensation expense by type of av

Employee stock optior $ 4232( $ 38,10:
Employee stock purchase plan 53 1,14¢
Nonvested equity stock and equity stock u 2,431 1,27¢
Total stocl-based compensation expel 44,81( 40,52:
Tax effect on stoc-based compensation expel 17,31: 15,55¢
Net effect of stoc-based compensation expense on results of operi $  27,49¢ $ 24,964

(1) During 2007, the Company reversed approximatel $tllion of compensation expense related to the
employee stock purchase plan due to a changeiiatstof expected contributior

Stock Options: During the years ended December 31, 2007 and, Bd@bus granted 3,202,800 and
2,397,850 stock options, respectively, with anneated total grant-date fair value of $39.4 millemd
$42.0 million, respectively. During the years en@Etember 31, 2007 and 2006, Rambus recorded baxsd
compensation related to stock options of $42.3ioniland $38.1 million, respectively, for all unvestoptions
granted prior and after the adoption of SFAS N&(R2, including the modification charge for theengion of
expiring options discussed below.

The effect of recording stock-based compensatiothi®year ended December 31, 2007 includes a eharg
resulting from the Company’s modifying the termsl8D stock option grants by offering an extensibtine to
exercise. An additional charge was taken duringyfa to extend the time of the extension of thgts
previously extended in 2006. Because the Compaspesuled all stock option exercises as of July @962n
connection with the stock option investigation, sahtially all of the Company’s employees and doexwhose
options were expiring and terminating employeesseh@maining time to exercise vested options whaice
expired were given extensions of time to exerdissé options during the period that their optigosraached
expiration. The total modification charge of $3.8lion (of which $2.2 million was equity related @$1.1 million
was liability related) and $1.1 million for the yeanded December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectisahgcluded in
the above table under the caption “Employee stqtions.”

On October 22, 2007, the Company entered intomaitation agreement with John Danforth, its thericgen
legal advisor and former Vice President and Ger@aainsel. In connection with this agreement, them@any
extended Mr. Danforth’s time to exercise his vestiedk options by approximately 12 months. Thel toté-cash
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compensation charge related to this extensionpsoagmately $0.8 million and is included in the abdable under
the caption “Employee stock options”.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised $45.2 million, $110.2 million and $10.2 million ftire years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respactiaginsic value is the total value of exercistthres based
the price of the Company’s common stock on the daexercise less the cash received from the emegloyo
exercise the options.

The total cash received from employees as a rebalinployee stock option exercises was $11.2 millio
$55.3 million and $5.5 million for the years endgecember 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

There were no tax benefits realized as a resudhgiloyee stock option exercises, stock purchase pla
purchases, and vesting of equity stock and stoitk tor the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2al@6lated in
accordance with SFAS No. 123 (R) and approxim&kély million for the year ended December 31, 2005,
respectively, calculated in accordance with APB Rm.

Employee Stock Purchase Plamuring the years ended December 31, 2007 and, ®fxibus recorded stock-
based compensation related to ESPP of $53,000a&d#llion, respectively. Compensation expensednnection
with ESPP for the year ended December 31, 2006desl a charge resulting from the Company’s modifyirior
offerings. In accordance with the terms of the 1P@vchase Plan, if the fair market value on anggipurchase
date is less than the fair market value on thetgtate, the grant offering is cancelled and altipguants are enrolle
in the next subsequent grant offering. A modificatcharge is recorded as a result of this graetioff cancellation
and the issuance of a new grant offering. Durirggytbars ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, the @gmpa
recorded modification charges of $0.0 million afid2bmillion, respectively, related to the 1997 Page Plan whic
is included in the table above under the captiomgioyee Stock Purchase Plan.”

As of July 19, 2006, the 1997 Purchase Plan wasesuted in connection with the stock option investan.
Therefore, no purchases were made under the 19@¢hdae Plan until the Company became current dilinigs
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on l@xt@7, 2007. The last purchase under the 199 hBRsedPlan
was made on October 31, 2007 and the 1997 Puréiasevas terminated pursuant to its terms.

Valuation Assumptions

Rambus estimates the fair value of stock optioirsguthe Black-Scholes-Merton model (“BSM”). Thistie
same model which it previously used in preparisgio forma disclosure required under SFAS No. TAg BSM
model determines the fair value of stock-based eorsation and is affected by Rambus’ stock prictherdate of
the grant as well as assumptions regarding a nuoflieghly complex and subjective variables. Theagables
include expected volatility, expected life of theaad, expected dividend rate, and expected risk4fage of return.
The assumptions for expected volatility and expetife are the two assumptions that significanffget the grant
date fair value. The BSM option-pricing model waveloped for use in estimating the value of traolgtiibns that
have no vesting or hedging restrictions and ailg ftdnsferable. Because employee stock options lkartain
characteristics that are significantly differerdrfr traded options, and because changes in thectiubjassumptions
can materially affect the estimated value, if actaaults differ significantly from these estimatstck-based
compensation expense and Rambus’ results of opesatould be materially impacted.
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The fair value of stock awards and ESPP offerisgsstimated as of the grant date using the BShbopti
pricing model assuming a dividend yield of 0% almel additional weighted-average assumptions asllistéhe
following table:

Stock Option Plans
Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Expected stock price volatilil 53%- 69% 61%- 78% 54%- 81%
Risk-free interest rat 3.5%- 4.9% 4.4%-5.0% 3.6%- 4.4%
Expected term (in year 6.2 6.3- 6.6 4.0-6.0
Weightec-average fair value of stock options grar $12.29 $17.51 $10.11

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Years Ended December 31

2007 2006(1) 2005
Expected stock price volatilil 64% — 51%- 67%
Risk-free interest rat 4.2% — 3.2%- 4.4%
Expected term (in year 0.5 — 0.5-2.0
Weightec-average fair value of purchase rights granted utidepurchase ple  $6.62 — $6.14

(1) No grants were made under the employee stock psegblan in 2006. See Note"Employee Stock Option
Plans”

Expected Stock Price VolatilityEffective January 1, 2006, Rambus evaluated ¢haraptions used to estim.
volatility and determined that under Staff AccongtBulletin (“SAB”) No. 107, given the volume of market activ
in its market traded options greater than one yeaquld use the implied volatility of its neargstthe-money
traded options. The Company believes that the isapied volatility is more reflective of markebaditions and a
better indicator of expected volatility. If theenot sufficient volume in its market traded opsipthe Company will
use an equally weighted blend of historical andli@apvolatility. For the year ended December 3102 ahe
Company used an equally weighted historical andketdrased implied volatility for the computationstbckbasec
compensation.

Risk-free Interest Rate:Rambus bases the risk-free interest rate usgeiBSM valuation method on implied
yield currently available on the U.S. Treasury -coupon issues with an equivalent term. Where fipeeed terms
of Rambus’ stock-based awards do not corresportdthé terms for which interest rates are quotedhiiRes used
the nearest rate from the available maturities.

Expected Term: The expected term of options granted represhatpériod of time that options granted are
expected to be outstanding. Prior to the adoptfdF&AS No. 123(R), the Company used only historitah to
estimate option exercise and employee terminatitimmthe model. For the years ended December @17 2nd
2006, the average expected life was determinedj@sMonte Carlo simulation model. The expected teflaSPP
grants was based upon the length of each respgntirebase period or tranche for each offering {6.3.0 years).

Tax Effects of Stock-Based Compensation

Rambus will only recognize a tax benefit from sthased awards in additional paideapital if an increment:
tax benefit is realized after all other tax atttdmicurrently available have been utilized. In &ddj Rambus has
elected to account for the indirect effects of ktbased awards on other tax attributes, such asfiearch tax
credits, through the statement of operations asgbane tax effect of stock-based compensation.
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On January 1, 2006, Rambus adopted the “long méthatcordance with SFAS No. 123(R) to calculdue t
excess tax credit pool. The long method requirgstailed calculation of the January 1, 2006 balari¢he portion
of the excess/shortfall tax benefit credits recdrifethe additional paid-in capital account. Theeffect on stock-
based compensation is calculated as the stock-lcasepensation that the Company believes is dedactib
multiplied by the applicable statutory tax rate.

See Note 10 “Income Taxes” for additional inforroati

Computation of Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Earnings (loss) per share is calculated in accaelarith SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share”. Basimigs
(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the @ (loss) by the weighted average number of comshares
outstanding during the period. Diluted earningsg)ger share is calculated by dividing the eas{tags) by the
weighted average number of common shares and pdbgwlilutive securities outstanding during theipd.
Potentially dilutive common shares consist of inceatal common shares issuable upon exercise & sfuons,
employee stock purchases, nonvested equity statktack units and shares issuable upon the cooveosi
convertible notes. The dilutive effect of the corilde notes is calculated under the if-convertezthod. The
dilutive effect of outstanding shares is refledtediluted earnings per share by application oftthasury stock
method. This method includes consideration of thewnts to be paid by the employees, the amountadss tax
benefits that would be recognized in equity if ititruments were exercised and the amount of ugrezed stock-
based compensation related to future services.dtenfial dilutive common shares are included indbputation
of any diluted per share amount when a loss isrtego

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments witiginal or remaining maturities of three monthdess at
the date of purchase. The Company maintains its lcances with high quality financial institutioasd has not
experienced any material losses.

Marketable Securities

Available-forsale securities are carried at fair value, basegumted market prices, with the unrealized gair
losses reported, net of tax, in stockholders’ goart part of accumulated other comprehensive inddmss). The
amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted foorization of premiums and accretion of discodatmaturity,
both of which are included in interest and otheoime, net. Realized gains and losses are recordtétespecific
identification method and are included in inter@sd other income, net. The Company reviews itsstments in
marketable securities for possible permanent impats on a regular basis. If any loss on investrisdoglieved to
be other than temporary, a charge will be takentirest and other, net. Due to the high creditityuand short terr
nature of the Company'’s investments, there hava hegermanent impairments noted to date. Theifitzg®n of
funds between short-term and long-term is baseti@Company’s anticipated future needs of fundofmrations
or other purposes.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The amounts reported for cash equivalents, marletsurities, account receivables, unbilled reataes,
accounts payable, accrued liabilities and convertliebt are considered to approximate fair valaset upon
comparable market information available at the eetpe balance sheet dates.

Property and Equipment

Computer equipment, computer software and furnidune fixtures are stated at cost and depreciated on
straight-line basis over an estimated useful Iffthoee years. Certain software licenses are deiestover three to
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five years, depending on the term of the licengasehold improvements are amortized on a straiighhsis over
the shorter of their estimated useful lives orittigal terms of the leases. Upon disposal, assedsrelated
accumulated depreciation are removed from the ats@nd the related gain or loss is included inltegrom
operations.

Goodwill

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Qtimtangible Assets"Rambus assesses the impairmet
goodwill on an annual basis, and potentially moegdiently if events or changes in circumstancegate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable.

SFAS No. 142 prescribes a two-phase process faimmpent testing of goodwill. The first phase scretor
impairment, while the second phase (if necessaggsures the impairment. Rambus completed itspfirase
impairment analysis as of December 31, 2007 anddaw instance of impairment of its recorded godidyfi
$4.5 million at December 31, 2007. If Rambus’ esties or the related assumptions change in thesfuRambus
may be required to record an impairment charggdmdwill to reduce its carrying amount to its estied fair value

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Other IntangébAssets

Rambus evaluates the recoverability of long-livesleds with finite lives in accordance with SFAS 1ld4,
“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assétintangible assets, including purchased technobmd other
intangible assets, are carried at cost less acatetubmortization. Finite-lived intangible assetstaeing amortized
on a straight-line basis over their estimated udefes of three to ten years. SFAS No. 144 requiszognition of
impairment of londived assets whenever events or changes in cireumoss indicate that the carrying value am
of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairmieaitge is recognized in the event the net book vailseich
assets exceeds the future undiscounted cash fltrimitable to such assets. A significant impairtn&ffinite-lived
intangible assets could have a material adversetedh Rambus’ financial position and results afragions.

Foreign Currency Translation

For foreign subsidiaries using the local currengyteeir functional currency, assets and liabilities translated
using current exchange rates in effect at the lsalaheet date and revenue and expense accoutri@rstated usin
the weighted average exchange rate during theghehidjustments resulting from such translationiaotuded in
stockholders’ equity as foreign currency transkatoljustments and aggregated within accumulateat oth
comprehensive income (loss). Gains or losses iegudlom foreign currency transactions are recoridettie results
of operations and have not been significant for geryods presented. For foreign subsidiaries uiadJ.S. dollar
as their functional currency, remeasurement adjeisteafor non-functional currency monetary assetsliamilities
are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchangeineeffect at the balance sheet date. Revenxpsnses, gains or
losses are translated at the average exchangirale period, and nomonetary assets and liabilities are transl
at historical rates. The resultant remeasuremeans @and losses of these foreign subsidiaries asasejains and
losses from foreign currency transactions are gedlin other expense, net in the results of opmrati

Segment Reporting

SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of aerfarise and Related Information”, established sisasl
for reporting information about operating segmeénta company’s financial statements. Operating ssgsare
defined as components of an enterprise about vd@pharate financial information is available thaaluated
regularly by the chief operating decision makedéeiding how to allocate resources and in assegs&rfgrmance.
Rambus has identified one operating and reportiggnent, the design, development and licensing ipfiokerface
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technologies and architectures. This segment agenathree geographic regions: North America, Asid Europe.
Enterprise-wide information is provided in accordamwith SFAS No. 131. Information concerning thegraphic
breakdown of revenues and identifiable assetstifog in Note 12, “Business Segments, Exports ldliagor
Customers.”

Advertising

Rambus expenses all advertising costs as inculwheertising costs were not significant in 2007, 2&@hd
2005.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the ahangquity of a business enterprise during a defriom
transactions and other events and circumstancesriom-owner sources, including foreign currencygration
adjustments and unrealized gains and losses oremabik securities. Other comprehensive income)(lsss
presented in the statements of stockholders’ eguitycomprehensive income.

Litigation

Rambus is involved in certain legal proceedingsdsiaupon consultation with outside counsel handtsg
defense in these matters and an analysis of pateesiults, Rambus accrues for losses relatedidation if it
determines that a loss is probable and can bemabloestimated. If a loss cannot be estimated,lRameviews th
range of possible outcomes and accrues the lovoktiag range of estimates. Any such accrual woeldhmarged to
expense in the appropriate period. Rambus recoglitigation expenses in the period in which thigdition
services were provided.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Stansl&alard (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 141R, “Business
Combinations”. This Statement replaces SFAS No. B#AS No. 141R establishes principles and requérgmfor
how the acquirer of a business recognizes and mesaguits financial statements the identifiablseds acquired, ti
liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling intereshe acquiree. SFAS No. 141R also provides @juie for
recognizing and measuring the goodwill acquirethenbusiness combination and determines what irdtiom to
disclose to enable users of the financial statesnen¢valuate the nature and financial effectheftusiness
combination. SFAS No. 141R applies prospectivelgusiness combinations for which the acquisitiote ds.on or
after the beginning of the first annual reportirggipd beginning on or after December 15, 2008. Chmpany
believes the adoption of this pronouncement witllmeve a material impact on the Company'’s finanstalements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160ntdatrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements — an amendment of ARB No. 51”. SFAS180.requires that ownership interests in subsiekdneld
by parties other than the parent, and the amoucomsolidated net income, be clearly identifietelad, and
presented in the consolidated financial statemeitkén equity, but separate from the parsrgquity. It also requir
that once a subsidiary is deconsolidated, anymethinoncontrolling equity investment in the forreabsidiary be
initially measured at fair value. Sufficient dissioes are required to clearly identify and distisglbetween the
interests of the parent and the interests of tmematrolling owners. The provisions of SFAS No. 180 be
effective for the Company beginning January 1, 20Q0& Company believes the adoption of this proeeuorent
will not have a material impact on the Companyrsficial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159¢"“Fhir Value Option for Financial Assets and Finainc
Liabilities — Including an amendment of FASB Sta@mhNo. 115”. SFAS No. 159 is effective for the Gamy in
the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2008. SFAS1¥6. permits an entity to choose to measure mara€iial
instruments and certain other items at fair valugpacified election dates. Subsequent unrealiaets@nd losses

68




Table of Contents

RAMBUS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

on items for which the fair value option has beletted will be reported in earnings. The Compariielses the
adoption of this pronouncement will not have a matémpact on the Company'’s financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150y WValue Measurements”. SFAS No. 157 defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring faline in accordance with generally accepted accogiptiinciples,
and expands disclosures about fair value measutemime provisions of SFAS No. 157 are effectivetfe
Company beginning January 1, 2008. The Compang\mdithe adoption of this pronouncement will noteha
material impact on the Company’s financial statetsien

3. Business Risks and Credit Concentratiot

Rambus operates in the intensely competitive semigctor industry, which has been characterizedrimep
erosion, rapid technological change, short protifectycles, cyclical market patterns, litigatioegarding patent at
other intellectual property rights, and heightemgdrnational and domestic competition. Significeethnological
changes in the industry could adversely affect afireg results.

Rambus markets and sells its chip interfaces @reow base of customers and generally does notreequ
collateral. For the year ended December 31, 2@¥&nue from Fujitsu, Elpida, Qimonda and Toshil@hea
accounted for 10% or more of its total revenues.tke year ended December 31, 2006, revenue frgitsiru
Elpida, Qimonda and Intel each accounted for 10%hare of its total revenues. For the year endecebber 31,
2005, revenue from Intel, Elpida, Toshiba and Msiti#a, each accounted for 10% or more of Rambual to
revenues. Rambus expects that its revenue contientvéll decrease over time as Rambus licensesaestomers.

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, Rambus’ casltasidl equivalents were invested with two financial
institutions in the form of commercial paper, momegrket accounts, and demand deposits. Rambusserpto
market risk for changes in interest rates relatesarily to its investment portfolio. Rambus plaéessinvestments
with high credit issuers and, by policy, attemptéirnit the amount of credit exposure to any orseiés. As stated in
Rambus’ policy, it will ensure the safety and preagon of Rambus’ invested funds by limiting ddfaisk and
market risk. Rambus has no investments denominiatiedeign country currencies and therefore issudtject to
foreign exchange risk from these assets.

Rambus mitigates default risk by investing in higldit quality securities and by positioning itstfaio to
respond appropriately to a significant reductiom icredit rating of any investment issuer or guemarT he portfolio
includes only marketable securities with activeoselary or resale markets to enable portfolio ligyid
4. Marketable Securities

Rambus invests its excess cash primarily in U.8egunent agency and treasury notes; commercialkpape
corporate notes and bonds; and municipal notebands that mature within three years.

All marketable securities are classified as avéldbr-sale and are summarized as follows:

December 31, 2007

Weighted
Unrealized Rate of
Fair Value Book Value Gain/(Loss] Return
(Dollars in thousands)
Marketable securities:
United States government debt securi $111,66¢ $111,56¢ $ 10C 4.4%
Corporate notes and bon 209,82. 209,75: 71 4.9%

Total marketable securiti¢ $321,49. $321,32( $ 171
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December 31, 2006

Weighted
Unrealized Rate of
Fair Value Book Value  Gain/(Loss] Return
Marketable securities:
United States government debt securi $226,81: $22757¢ $ (769 4.2%
Corporate notes and bon 136,22: 136,41 (193) 5.2%

Total marketable securitie $363,03 $363,99:. $ (956

The estimated fair value of marketable securitiassified by date of contractual maturity and theogiated
unrealized gains (losses) at December 31, 2002@06 are as follows:

Unrealized Gain

Years Ended (Loss) as of
December 31, December 31,
2007 2006 2007 2006

(In thousands)

Contractual maturity:
Due within one yea $247,22° $351,05¢ $ 32 $(942)
Due from one year through three ye 74,26 11,98:  13¢ (14)

$321,49. $363,03° $171 $(956€)

The classification of funds between short-term lamg-term is based on the Company’s anticipatearéut
needs of funds for operations or other purposeafA¥cember 31, 2007 and 2006, there were marlestab
securities, long term, of $0 million and $12.0 ioifl, respectively.

5. Balance Sheet Detail:
Property and Equipment, net
Property and equipment, net is comprised of thieviehg:

December 31,

2007 2006
(In thousands)

Computer equipmet $24,44:  $21,62¢
Computer softwar 31,02¢ 25,81¢
Furniture and fixture 7,00¢ 6,03t
Leasehold improvemen 12,63: 10,49¢
Construction in progres 2,21¢ 8,43:

77,32¢ 72,41
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (52,739 (46,399

$24,58° $26,01¢

The Company disposed of approximately $0.3 milbbteasehold improvements in connection with vamati
the previous India facilities during 2007. Depré¢ioia expense for the years ended December 31, 2005, and
2005 was $11.2 million, $11.2 million and $9.1 ioifl, respectively.
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Goodwill

Changes in the carrying value of goodwill in thangeended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows

2007 2006
(In thousands)
Beginning balance at Januar $3,31f  $3,31f
Gooduwill acquired during the peric 1,13¢ —
Ending balance at December $4,45¢  $3,31f

During 2007, Rambus recorded an increase to gobdfs#1.1 million due to an earn-out payment to GDA
Technologies.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (LosSs)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) isprsed of the following:
December 31

2007 2006
(In thousands)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (Ic

Foreign currency translation adjustme $25 $(4))
Unrealized gain (losses) on available for sale sges, net of ta 99 (589
Total $124  $(630

6. Commitments and Contingencie:

Rambus leases its present office facilities in Atiss, California, under an operating lease agredrteough
December 31, 2010. As part of this lease transactite Company provided a letter of credit restig$600,000 of
its cash as collateral for certain obligations urtte lease. The cash is restricted as to withdrangis managed t
a third party subject to certain limitations untfee Company’s investment policy. Rambus also leadasility in
Mountain View, California, through November 11, 20@ facility in Chapel Hill, North Carolina throhg
November 15, 2009 and a facility for the Com(’s design center in Bangalore, India through Novengp, 2012.
The Company also leases office facilities in Austiexas and various international locations unaercancelable
leases that range in terms from month-to-montmiaear.

In May 2006, Rambus signed an agreement to leasavaffice facility in Bangalore, India into whiéhhas
consolidated all of the Company’s Bangalore openatias of December 31, 2007.

On February 1, 2005, Rambus issued $300.0 millggregate principal amount of zero coupon convextibl
senior notes (the “convertible notes”) due Febrdar010 to Credit Suisse First Boston LLC and Bela¢ Bank
Securities as initial purchasers who then solcctirevertible notes to institutional investors. Rasikiected to pay
the principal amount of the convertible notes istcevhen they are due. Subsequently, Rambus remadizatotal ¢
$140.0 million face value of the outstanding cotitbé notes. As a result, the convertible notestauiding and
payable as of December 31, 2005 were reduced 10.Gh6illion.

On August 17, 2006, Rambus received a notice afulefrom U.S. Bank National Association, as trestine
“Trustee”) for the convertible notes. The noticeaated that the Company'’s failure to file its FariQ for the
quarter ended June 30, 2006 constituted a defad#nSections 7.2 and 14.1 of the indenture, dadeaf
February 1, 2005 between Rambus and the Trusteélitienture”). The notice stated that per Sec@idnof the
Indenture, if Rambus did not cure the default witkixty days of August 17, 2006, an event of defawluld occur.
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On October 25, 2006, Rambus received a notice fhaTrustee stating that since the Company hadured
the default that had been asserted by the Trudteahe sixty day cure period, an event of deféiald in fact
occurred as of October 16, 2006. On January 227,2R@mbus received an additional notice of defaaih the
Trustee relating to the Company'’s failure to fieForm 10-Cfor the quarter ended September 30, 2006. On Jy
2007, Rambus received a notice of acceleration tf@Trustee stating that under direction receifvech holders o
more than 25% in aggregate principal amount obthtstanding convertible notes, the Trustee wasaded the
unpaid principal plus accrued interest and unggigddated damages immediately due and payable.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company reclassifiecaggregate principal amount of the convertibkesof
$160.0 million from non-current liabilities to cemt liabilities and reflected them as due in I&ssitone year. In
addition, related issuance costs of approximat8I2 #illion were expensed in 2006, including apjrately
$2.4 million which was accelerated into the quaeteding December 31, 2006.

On September 20, 2007, Rambus received a notioetfie Trustee for the convertible notes, rescintlieg
acceleration of the convertible notes containetthénletter from the Trustee dated July 31, 2007vaaiding all
existing Events of Default as defined in the Indeat The notice indicated that the Trustee hadvedealirection
from holders holding a majority in aggregate pniatiamount of the convertible notes outstandingaose all
existing Events of Default and to rescind the am@ion of the convertible notes.

As of December 31, 2007, the convertible notes len reclassified to non-current liabilities il th
accompanying consolidated balance sheet sincedhg@ny has been current with its SEC filings si@ceober
2007.

As of December 31, 2007, Rambus’ material contedaibligations are:
Payment Due by Year

Total 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Thereafter
(In thousands)

Contractual obligations(1)

Operating lease $ 20,72 $ 7,30¢ $6,41¢ $ 5,747 9$62C $631 $ —
Convertible note 160,00( — — 160,00( — — —
Purchased software license agreements
2 3,55¢ 3,554 — — — — —
Total $184,27: $10,862 $6,41¢ $165,74 $62C $631 $ =

(1) The above table does not reflect possible paysria connection with uncertain tax benefits agged with
FIN 48 of approximately $14.0 million as of DecemB&, 2007. As noted below, although it is possthb
some of the unrecognized tax benefits could béesettithin the next 12 months, the Company cannot
reasonably estimate the outcome at this t

(2) Rambus has commitments with various softwarelees for non-cancellable license agreements taeglly
have terms longer than one year. The above tabiensuwizes those contractual obligations as of Deeei8b,
2007, which are also included on Rambus’ consaidi#dalance sheets under current and other long-term
liabilities.

Rent expense was approximately $6.6 million, $6il6an and $5.1 million for the years ended DecemBg,

2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Deferred rent, included primarily in other longgteliabilities, was approximately $0.4 million andl.® million
as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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In connection with certain German litigation, ther@an courts have requested that the Companyidet as
adequate funds to cover potential court cost clafkasordingly, approximately $1.7 million is restiéd as to
withdrawal, managed by a third party subject tdaiedimitations under the Company’s investmeniqoand
included in restricted cash to cover the Germamtaeqguirements.

Indemnifications

Rambus enters into standard license agreemertis ortlinary course of business. Although Rambus doé
indemnify most of its customers, there are timeenvan indemnification is a necessary means of doiisiness.
Indemnifications cover customers for losses suffeneincurred by them as a result of any patemydght, or othe
intellectual property infringement claim by anyrthparty with respect to Rambus’ products. The maxn amount
of indemnification Rambus could be required to makder these agreements is generally limited te feeeived b
Rambus. Rambus estimates the fair value of itsnimdfécation obligation as insignificant, based uptnhistory of
litigation concerning product and patent infringernelaims. Accordingly, Rambus has no liabilitiesorded for
indemnification under these agreements as of Deeeth 2007 or 2006.

Several securities fraud class actions, privatelats and shareholder derivative actions were filestate and
federal courts against certain of the Company’saritrand former officers and directors relatechieogtock option
granting actions under investigation. As permitteder Delaware law, Rambus has agreements wherebfficers
and directors are indemnified for certain eventeaaurrences while the officer or director is, @saserving, at
Rambus’ request in such capacity. The term ofridernnification period is for the officer’s or ditecs term in
such capacity. The maximum potential amount ofripayments Rambus could be required to make uhdse
indemnification agreements is unlimited. Rambusédsector and officer insurance policy that resRiIRambus’
exposure and enables Rambus to recover a portifuiuwé amounts to be paid. As a result of thedenmification
agreements, Rambus continues to make paymentshaif bécurrent and former officers. As of DecemBéy
2006, the Company had made payments of approxiyn®@e® million on their behalf. As of December 2007, the
Company had made payments of approximately $5.IfomilThese payments were recorded under costs of
restatement and related legal activities in thesobidated statements of operations.

Warranties

Rambus offers some of its customers a warrantyitthatoducts will conform to their functional sjifezations.
To date, there have been no payments or matests awurred related to fulfilling these warrantligations.
Accordingly, Rambus has no liabilities recordedtfase warranties as of December 31, 2007 or Deze@ih
2006. Rambus assesses the need for a warrantyahoara quarterly basis, and there can be no gtesrdhat a
warranty accrual will not become necessary in theré.

7. Employee Stock Option Plans
Stock Option Plans

The Company has three stock option plans undertwgriants are currently outstanding: the 1997 S@gton
Plan (the “1997 Plan”), the 1999 Non-statutory &tGption Plan (the “1999 Plan”) and the 2006 Eqtrityentive
Plan (the “2006 Plan”). Grants under all plansdgfly have a requisite service period of 60 montlasie straight-
line or graded vesting schedules (the 1997 and p88% only) and expire not more than ten yeans fiate of
grant. Effective with stockholder approval of tH#8 Plan in May 2006, no further awards are beiagerunder th
1997 Plan and the 1999 Plan but the plans willinaetto govern awards previously granted underahpians.

The 2006 Plan was approved by the stockholdersap B006. The 2006 Plan, as amended, providesdor th
issuance of the following types of incentive awalgsstock options; (ii) stock appreciation righsi) restricted
stock; (iv) restricted stock units; (v) performarsteres and performance units; and (vi) other stodash awards.
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This plan provides for the granting of awards asldéan fair market value, but such grants woulddemted against
the numerical limits of available shares at a rafié.5 to 1. The Board of Directors reserved 8,800 shares in
March 2006 for issuance under this plan, subjestdokholder approval. Upon stockholder approvahif Plan on
May 10, 2006, the 1997 Plan was replaced and tB8 Pgan was terminated. Those who will be eligibleawards
under the 2006 Plan include employees, directadscansultants who provide services to the Compaiyits
affiliates. These options typically have a reqeisiervice period of 60 months, have straight-liesting schedules,
and expire not more than ten years from date aftgiidhe Board expects that the number of shareswed for
issuance under the 2006 Plan will be sufficierdgerate the plan for two years from its inceptiagthaut having to
request the approval of additional shares fromQbmpany’s stockholders. The Board will periodicabyiew
actual share consumption under the 2006 Plan agchmbiie a request for additional shares earlieatar ithan this
period, as needed.

As of December 31, 2007, 4,589,131 shares of #@08)00 shares approved under the 2006 Plan remain
available for grant. The 2006 Plan is now Rambugy plan for providing stock-based incentive comgation to
eligible employees, executive officers and non-ayet directors and consultants.

A summary of shares available for grant under tbmgany’s plans is as follows:

Shares Available

__forGrant

Shares available as of December 31, 2 5,630,60:
Additional shares reserve 2,211,271
Stock options grante (3,333,74)
Stock options forfeite 1,209,32.
Nonvested equity stock and stock units gra (125,000
Shares available as of December 31, Z 5,592,46!
Additional shares reserve 10,818,83
Stock options grante (2,397,850
Stock options forfeite: 4,879,81!
Stock options expire (10,923,68)
Nonvested equity stock and stock units grau (103,389
Shares available as of December 31, z 7,866,20i
Stock options grante (3,202,80i)
Stock options forfeite 1,791,36.
Stock options expired under former pl: (1,523,09)
Nonvested equity stock and stock units grante (342,53)
Total available for grant as of December 31, 2 4,589,13

(1) For purposes of determining the number of sharagadte for grant under the 2006 Plan against tagimurr
number of shares authorized, each restricted gfranited reduces the number of shares availablgrémt by
1.5 shares and each restricted stock forfeitectasers shares available for grant by 1.5 sh

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, the Compaeversed approximately $2.1 million of liabilitglated to
variable options modifications to additional paideapital.

On October 18, 2007, the Company commenced a tefiger(the “Offer”) to certain of its employeesder
which they would be allowed to increase the exerpisce or choose a fixed period exercise terntéotain options
in order to avoid certain negative tax consequenoéer Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Codesimilar
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state law. A total of 164 eligible option holdeticipated in the Offer. The Company acceptedaifoendment
options to purchase an aggregate of 3,959,225sbétae Company’s Common Stock, of which optians t
purchase 781,178 shares of the Company’s Commark 8tere amended by making a fixed date election. In
connection with the surrender of those optionsafoendment, the Company has amended those optidhs on
expiration date of the Offer following the expitiof the Offer. There was no material incremeotethpensation
expense recognized as a result of the Offer.

General Stock Option Information

The following table summarizes stock option acyivinder the 1997, 1999 and 2006 plans for the theaes
ended December 31, 2007 and information regardouk ©ptions outstanding, exercisable, and vesteldeapecte
to vest as of December 31, 2007.

Options Outstanding Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Price Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Per Share Term Value
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amount:

Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 24,964,008 % 16.2¢
Options grante: 3,333,74l 15.61
Options exercise (1,060,98) 5.22
Options forfeitec (1,209,32) 23.0¢
Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 26,027,51 16.3(
Options grante: 2,397,85I 26.9¢
Options exercise (4,872,67) 11.3¢
Options forfeitec (4,879,81) 18.8(
Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 18,672,87 18.3:
Options grante: 3,202,801 18.7:
Options exercise (1,333,57) 8.4:
Options forfeitec (1,791,36) 22.8¢

Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 18,750,73  $ 20.1% 5.85  $99,10¢

Vested or expected to vest at December 31, : 17,052,900 $ 20.7¢ 5.8C $84,79:

Options exercisable at December 31, 2 10,913,14 $ 20.4¢ 4.64 $69,62:

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table abopeagents the total pre-tax intrinsic value forhe-money
options at December 31, 2007, based on the $2M8ihg stock price of Rambus’ Common Stock on Demem31,
2007 on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, which didwalve been received by the option holders haapitbn
holders exercised their options as of that date.tdtal number of in-the-money options outstanding exercisable
as of December 31, 2007 was 13,092,080 and 7,782,88pectively. Additionally, the weighted averagercise
price per share for options outstanding as of DéeeB1, 2007 reflects the effects of the tendegradfscussed
above.
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The following table summarizes the information abstock options outstanding and exercisable as of
December 31, 2007:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average
Range of Exercise Number Remaining Exercise Number Exercise
Prices Outstanding Contractual Life Price Exercisable Price
$2.50- $4.86 2,707,52. 3.6t $ 4.1f 2,068,671 $ 4.6¢€
$5.93- $13.51 2,041,69. 4.5(C 11.0Z 1,700,02. 10.6¢
$13.58- $15.23 2,286,20 6.0¢€ 14.61 1,236,79: 14.4C
$15.26- $17.04 1,918,091 4.9¢ 16.2C 1,412,63 16.0¢
$17.14- $18.44 1,215,08: 6.27 17.7¢ 838,94 17.8i
$18.69- $18.69 2,053,25! 9.0¢ 18.6¢ 337,12¢ 18.6¢
$18.90- $22.94 1,972,43. 8.4: 21.1% 634,05. 21.8¢
$24.04- $31.80 1,876,35! 6.34 28.0¢ 659,86 28.6:
$32.05- $54.63 1,943,40: 5.2 38.2¢ 1,288,33! 38.7¢
$54.70- $92.62 736,69 2.5C 69.57 736,69 69.57
$ 2.50- $92.62 18,750,73 5.8 $ 20.17 10,913,14 $ 20.4¢

As of December 31, 2007, there was $66.0 milliototdl unrecognized compensation cost, net of exegec
forfeitures, related to non-vested share-based eosgiion arrangements granted under the stockopléms. That
cost is expected to be recognized over a weightedage period of 2.9 years. The total fair valughares vested i
of the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2@35$262.0 million, $183.6 million and $271.6 o,
respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plans

The Company has two employee stock purchase pland997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “1997
Purchase Plan”) and the 2006 Employee Stock PuedHalsin (the “2006 Purchase Plan”). The 1997 PsecRéan
provided for offerings of four consecutive overlagpsix month offering periods. Under the 1997 ase Plan,
employees were able to purchase stock at the loi@5% of the fair market value on the first daytloé 24 month
offering period (the enrollment date), or the pas# date (the exercise date). Employees generafly mot able to
purchase more than the number of shares havinlya geeater than $25,000 in any calendar year,easuored at
the beginning of the offering period.

The 1997 Purchase Plan was suspended effectivd 9uB006 due to the stock option investigationaAssult
the Company did not issue any shares of Commork$iteder the plan until the Company became curreritso
filings with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarOctober 17, 2007. For all participants who tel@édo stay i
the 1997 Purchase Plan, contributions made thrdutyhl9, 2006 were applied towards the first pusehdate
subsequent to the reinstatement of the plan whichiroed on October 31, 2007. The plan terminatéstfe with
the October 31, 2007 purchase date in accordanbdtaigoverning documents.

In March 2006, the Company adopted the 2006 Empl@teck Purchase Plan, as amended @B86 Purchas
Plan”) and reserved 1,600,000 shares, subjecoukisblder approval which was received on May 1@&20
Employees generally will be eligible to participaehis plan if they are employed by Rambus forenthan
20 hours per week and more than five months iseafiyear. The 2006 Purchase Plan provides fansixth
offering periods, with a new offering period comrogg on the first trading day on or after May 1 &wlvember 1
of each year. Under this plan, employees may psektock at the lower of 85% of the beginning efaffering
period (the enroliment date), or the end of eadérivig period (the exercise date). Employees gdigaray not
purchase more than the number of shares havintua geeater than $25,000 in any calendar year,eesored at
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the purchase date. As of December 31, 2007, tleare been no shares issued, and therefore, theee wer
1,600,000 shares available for issuance under@B6é Purchase Plan. The first offering period unibisrplan
commenced on November 1, 2007. The first purchaseid expected to be in April 2008.

As of December 31, 2007, there was $0.7 milliototdl unrecognized compensation cost related tcedbese(
compensation arrangements granted under the EngBigek Purchase Plan. That cost is expected tedognizec
over four months.

Contingent Unvested Options

As of December 31, 2006, there were 721,846 coetihgnvested options, which vest upon the achienenfe
certain milestones by Intel relating to shipmenuwees of RDRAM 850E chipsets. Intel has since ptiasg the
850E chipset and as a result the unvested optidhsever vest. The impact of the unvested optibas been
excluded from the calculation of net income (Iqss) share.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, 86,498ngmmt unvested options were forfeited. The faufes o
the contingent unvested options are included ifdheitures in the table summarizing stock optamtivity.

As of December 31, 2007, there were 635,348 coetingnvested options. As noted above, none arectege
to vest.

Nonvested Equity Stock and Stock Units

On February 1, 2006, Rambus entered into an ameantkdestated employment agreement with its themse
Vice President and General Counsel, John DanfBritsuant to the terms of the Agreement, Mr. Dahfaas
granted 36,603 and 26,780 nonvested equity stoitk an February 1, 2006 and May 2, 2006, respdgtivéde
nonvested equity stock units were valued at fairketavalue at the date of grant, assuming no sheaoedd be
forfeited, giving each a valuation of $1.0 milliarhich will be attributed to expense over the 21 48dnonth
vesting periods beginning February 1, 2006 and RI&3006, respectively. For the years ended DeceBhe2007
and 2006, Rambus recorded stock-based compensé@mproximately $1.0 million for each year. Unrgoized
stock-based compensation cost related to thesésgreas $0 and $1.0 million at December 31, 200720085,
respectively.

On April 11, 2006, Rambus granted its Chief Finah€ifficer, Satish Rishi, 40,000 shares of honwsguity
stock at an exercise price of $0.001 per sharesd’bbhares are not transferable until vested andimrgsted shares
are subject to repurchase upon termination. Theewiad equity stock grant was valued at fair markkte at the
date of grant, assuming no shares would be fodeging it a valuation of $1.6 million which wible attributed to
expense over the four year vesting period beginAjmgl 11, 2006. For the years ended December 8Q72nd
2006, Rambus recorded stock-based compensatigegpoddamately $0.4 million and $0.3 million, respieety,
related to this grant. Unrecognized stock-basedpemrsation cost related to this grant was $0.9 aniléind
$1.3 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, resypelgt

In 2007, Rambus granted nonvested equity stock tmitertain officers and employees, totaling
228,355 shares. These awards have a service amdjenerally a service period of four years, a agegenerally
a performance condition contingent on filing of fRegistration Statement on Form S-8 for the Comjiza2006
Equity Incentive Plan. The Company met this perfamge condition in October 2007. These nonvesteityespock
grants were valued at fair market value at the datgant, assuming no shares would be forfeitadng them a faii
value of approximately $4.3 million. For the yeaded December 31, 2007, Rambus recorded stock-based
compensation of approximately $1.0 million. Unrecizgd stock-based compensation cost related te tests
was $3.3 million at December 31, 2007.

77




Table of Contents

RAMBUS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

The following table reflects the activity relatedrionvested equity stock and stock units for ther yaded
December 31, 2007:

Weighted-
Average
Grant-Date
Nonvested Share Shares Fair Value
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 73,770 $ 36.1¢
Granted 228,35 $ 18.8¢
Vested (57,949 $ 30.0¢
Forfeited — % —
Nonvested at December 31, 2(C 24417 $ 21.4]

8. Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred and Common Stock

In February 1997, Rambus established a Stockh®gdts Plan pursuant to which each holder of Rambus
Common Stock shall receive a right to purchasethonasandth of a share of Series E Preferred Stock125 per
right, subject to a number of conditions. Suchtsgire subject to adjustment in the event of acedseor
commencement of a tender offer not approved bythad of Directors. In July 2000, the Rambus Bazrd
Directors agreed to restate the exercise pricé@® $er right in an Amended and Restated Pref@hedes Rights
Agreement. In November 2002, the Rambus Board mfdirs agreed to restate the exercise price tp86@ght ir
an Amended and Restated Preferred Shares Rightehgnt.

Share Repurchase Program

In October 2001, Rambus’ Board of Directors (th@dBl1") approved a share repurchase program of its
Common Stock, principally to reduce the dilutivéeet of employee stock options. To date, the Bdwslapproved
the authorization to repurchase up to 19.0 milbares of the Company’s outstanding Common Stoek aw
undefined period of time. As of December 31, 2ambus had repurchased a cumulative total of 18l®m
shares of its Common Stock at an average pricetgge of $13.95 since the commencement of this@negAs of
December 31, 2007, there remained an outstandihg@aation to repurchase 5.8 million shares of Ras
outstanding Common Stock. In connection with theagleted stock option investigation, repurchaseSafhmon
Stock under this program were suspended as ofl®)I2006. The Company has become current withBtS filings
as of October 17, 2007, but did not repurchasesshiar2007.

Rambus records stock repurchases as a reductgtadicholders’ equity. As prescribed by APB Opinia. 6,
“Status of Accounting Research BulletinRambus records a portion of the purchase pricheofépurchased sha
as an increase to accumulated deficit when theafdbe shares repurchased exceeds the averagrabpgoceeds
per share received from the issuance of CommorkSEnaring the year ended, December 31, 2007, thagamy
did not repurchase any Common Stock. During the geded December 31, 2006, the cumulative prickethare
repurchased exceeded the proceeds received froisstience of the same number of shares. The eatess
$20.2 million was recorded as an increase to actatedideficit for the year ended December 31, 2006.

9. Benefit Plans

Rambus has a 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan (the “4PR{&n") qualified under Section 401(k) of the hmiz!
Revenue Code of 1986. Each eligible employee megt &b contribute up to 60% of the employee’s ahnua
compensation to the 401(k) Plan, up to the InteRelenue Service limit. Rambus, at the discretfatsdBoard of
Directors, may match employee contributions to4@#(k) Plan. In conjunction with modifications tther
employee benefits, effective January 1, 2006, thi@any match provision under the 401(k) Plan wadifieal
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from 10% of the eligible employee’s contribution50%, up to the first 6% of an eligible employegimlified
earnings. For the years ended December 31, 2002@06 Rambus made matching contributions totaling
approximately $1.3 million and $1.1 million, resfieely.

10. Income Taxes

The provision for (benefit from) income taxes isngrised of:

Years Ended December 31
2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)

Federal.
Current $ $ (856 $1,69:
Deferred (18,697 (9,33¢)  5,23¢
State:
Current 2 (21¢) 37t
Deferred (2,982 (1,909 1,28¢
Foreign:
Current 1,17¢ 42¢ 1,22¢
Deferred (197) — —

$(20,697) $(11,889) $9,821

The differences between Rambus’ effective tax aatkthe U.S. federal statutory regular tax rate are

Years Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005
Provision (benefit) at U.S. federal statutory 1 (35.0% (35.0% 35.(%
Provision (benefit) at state statutory r (5.5)% (5.5)% 5.7%
R&D credit 2.7% (8.8)% (2.6)%
Executive compensatic (2.7% 1.2% A7.7%
Non-deductible stoc-based compensatic 1.C% 1.4% 3.C%
Other 2.1% 0.2% 1.2%

(42.9% (46.9%  25.%

The effective tax rate may be impacted by foreimgels option expense and stock option expense tktate
executive officers that may not be deductible. ABBAS No. 123(R) requires that the tax benefitotk option
deductions relating to incentive stock options B&PPs be recorded in the period of disqualifyirggadsition. This
could result in significant fluctuations in the efive tax rate between accounting periods.
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The components of the net deferred tax assetssefmlaws:

December 31
2007 2006
(In thousands)

Deferred tax asset

Deferred revenu $ 187 $ 84t
Depreciation and amortizatic 19,01¢ 22,90¢
Other liabilities and reservi 12,41( 11,71
Employee stoc-based compensatic 594 694
Deferred equity compensatis 47 ,45: 33,66¢
Net operating loss carryove 19,38( 15,79:
Tax credits 28,76¢ 23,95¢

Total deferred tax asse $127,80: $109,58:

Management periodically evaluates the realizabilftthe deferred tax assets based on all avaiabtence,
both positive and negative. The realization ofdeferred tax assets is solely dependent on the @ayfgability to
generate sufficient future taxable income duringquis before the expiration of tax statutes. Fosgshincome is
based on assumptions about current trends in agesand future litigation outcomes or expectetieseents, and
there can be no assurance that such results walthieved. The Company reviews such forecastsrirpatison
with actual results and expected trends at leastteply for the purpose of realizability assessmAstof
December 31, 2007, management has concluded tkahdre likely than not that the Company’s $12%Wi8ion of
net deferred tax assets will be realized. If marsage determines that it will have insufficient freuttaxable income
to fully realize its net deferred tax assets, tlhen@any will record a valuation allowance by a cleai@income tax
expense in the period such determination is made.

As of December 31, 2007, Rambus has federal atel s¢d operating loss carryforwards for income tax
purposes of $131.6 million and $118.2 million, msjvely, which expire from 2014 through 2027. As o
December 31, 2007, Rambus has federal and sta&@rchsand development tax credit carryforwardsrfioome tax
purposes of $15.2 million and $8.0 million, respeady. The federal research and development taditcre
carryforwards expire from 2012 through 2027 andstiaée tax credit can be carried forward indeflpite

Pursuant to Footnote 82 of SFAS No. 123(R), taxbaities related to stock option windfall deductishsuld
not be recorded until they result in a reductiocagh taxes payable. Starting in 2006, the Comparignger
includes net operating losses attributable to stgtlon windfall deductions as components of itssgrdeferred tax
assets. The Company’s unrealized federal and s¢ateperating losses excluded as of December 38 2@re
$62.9 million and $65.2 million, respectively. TBempany’s unrealized federal and state net oper&tsses
excluded as of December 31, 2007 were $81.1 midiwch $86.7 million, respectively. These unrealizetl
operating losses have been reduced for the impatbck option shortfalls recorded in 2007 and 20@6ulting in ¢
reduction of deferred tax assets and additional peacapital of $6.3 million and $3.9 million, resgively. The
benefit of these net operating losses will be réedrto additional paid-in capital when they redcash taxes
payable.

The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48, “Aottting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” — an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, “Accongtfor Income Taxes”, on January 1, 2007. As alreduhe
adoption of FIN 48, the Company'’s unrecognizedaemefits decreased by $0.3 million, of which $0illiom was
accounted for as a decrease to the opening batdr@eumulated deficit and $0.2 million was accedrfor as an
increase in additional paid- in capital. In additiopon the adoption of FIN 48, $2.7 million of eoognized tax
benefits were reclassified from long-term deferti@dassets to long-term income taxes payable.
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On January 1, 2007, the Company had $12.4 millfameecognized tax benefits, including $7.4 million
recorded as a reduction of long-term deferred $sets, which is net of approximately $2.3 millidrfexleral tax
benefits. As of December 31, 2007, the Company#i&d0 million of unrecognized tax benefits, inclugli
$8.5 million recorded as a reduction of long-terefietred tax assets, which is net of approximatglg $nillion of
federal tax benefits, and including $2.9 millionamg-term income taxes payable. If recognized raymately
$8.3 million, net of federal benefits, would beosted as an income tax benefit in the consolidstegtments of
operations, and $3.1 million, net of federal betsefivould be recorded as an increase in additipaial in capital.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amsusftunrecognized income tax benefits for the yeated
December 31, 2007 is as follows (amounts in thodsan

2007

Balance at January 1, 20 $12,39¢
Tax positions related to current ye
Additions 1,61C
Reductions —
Tax positions related to prior yea
Additions —
Reductions —
Settlement: —
Lapses in statutes of limitatiol —

Balance at December 31, 2C $14,00¢

Although it is possible that some of the unrecogditax benefits could be settled within the nexirighths, th
Company cannot reasonably estimate the outconmesairne.

Rambus recognizes interest and penalties relateddertain tax positions as a component of thenrectax
provision (benefit). At January 1, 2007 and Decendde 2007, an insignificant amount of interest aedalties are
included in long-term income taxes payable.

Substantially all of the Company’s income is getestan the U.S. At December 31, 2007, no deferagdd
have been provided for any portion of the approxatya$1.6 million of undistributed earnings of tBempany’s
international subsidiaries, since these earnings baen, and under current plans will continuegtopermanently
reinvested in these subsidiaries. The amount of t&b&hat would be required upon repatriationh&f Company’s
undistributed foreign earnings would be immatesigbf December 31, 2007. The Company’s operatiohwdia
currently operate under a tax holiday, which wxpee in 2009.

Rambus files U.S. federal income tax returns a$ ageincome tax returns in various states anddorei
jurisdictions. Rambus is currently under a payesthmination by the Internal Revenue Service folyders ende
December 31, 2004 and 2005. The Company is alseredmination by the California Franchise Tax Bdar the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2003 and the yearsceDéeember 31, 2003 and 2004. Although the outcoinagy
tax audit is uncertain, the Company believes itd@ejuately provided for any additional taxes thay be required
to be paid as a result of such examinations. IQbmpany determines that no payment will ultimateyrequired,
the reversal of these tax liabilities may resultain benefits being recognized in the period winet tonclusion is
reached. However, if an ultimate tax assessmemegbscthe recorded tax liability for that item, aditional tax
provision may need to be recorded. The impact o adjustments in the Company’s tax accounts coale a
material impact on the consolidated results of afi@ns in future periods. The Company is subjecfeoeral
examination by the IRS for tax years ended 200dutin 2006. The Company is also subject to exanoindty the
State of California for tax years ended March 3)2through December 31, 2006. In addition, any R&&xit
carryforward generated in prior years and utilizethese or future years may also be subject tomeation
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by the IRS and the State of California. The Comparatso subject to examination in various otheisglictions for
various periods.

In the event of a change in ownership, as defimetbufederal and state tax laws, Rambus’ net operliss
and tax credit carryforwards could be subject touah limitations. The annual limitations could ritsn the
expiration of the net operating loss and tax credityforwards prior to utilization.

11. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Earnings (loss) per share is calculated in accaelaith, SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share”. Basimings
(loss) per share is calculated by dividing theinevme (loss) by the weighted average number ofncomshares
outstanding during the period. Diluted earningsg)goer share is calculated by dividing the eas{tags) by the
weighted average number of common shares and pdtgwdilutive securities outstanding during theipd.
Potentially dilutive common shares consist of inceatal common shares issuable upon exercise & sfuons,
employee stock purchases, restricted stock andatest stock units and shares issuable upon theersion of
convertible notes. The dilutive effect of the corilde notes is calculated under the if-convertezthnd. The
dilutive effect of outstanding shares is refledtediluted earnings per share by application oftthasury stock
method. This method includes consideration of thewnts to be paid by the employees, the amountadss tax
benefits that would be recognized in equity if ittrument was exercised and the amount of unrézedstock-
based compensation related to future services.dtenfial dilutive common shares are included indbputation
of any diluted per share amount when a net losspisrted.

The following table sets forth the computation asiz and diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Years Ended December 31
2007 2006 2005
(In thousands, except per share amount

Numerator:

Net income (loss $(27,669) $(13,816) $ 28,94(
Denominator

Weighted average shares used to compute basit 104,05¢ 103,04t 99,87¢

Dilutive potential shares from stock options, E&PH nonvested equity

stock and stock uni — — 3,654

Weighted average shares used to compute dilutec 104,05¢ 103,04t 103,53(
Net income (loss) per shal

Basic $ (02) $ (013 $ o0.2¢

Diluted $ (027 $ (015 $ o0.2¢

For all periods presented, approximately 5.9 millshares that would be issued upon the conversitireo
contingently issuable convertible notes were exa@tlifiilom the calculation of earnings per share bezée
conversion price was higher than the average marie of the Common Stock during this period. tharyears
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, optiopgrtihase approximately 9.8 million, 8.2 million and
14.9 million shares, respectively, were excludeanfthe calculation because they were anti-dilugifter
considering proceeds from exercise, taxes andecklatrecognized stock-based compensation expeoisthd=year
ended December 31, 2007, an additional 3.8 milifaares, including nonvested equity stock and stndts, that
would be dilutive have been excluded from the wiEdhaverage dilutive shares because there waslassdbr the
period. For the year ended December 31, 2006, ditiathl 5.5 million shares, including nonvestediiggstock an
stock units, that would be dilutive were excludezhi the calculation of weighted average dilutivargls because
there was a net loss for the period.
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12. Business Segments, Exports and Major Customers

Rambus operates in a single industry segment,eahigid, development and licensing of chip interface
technologies and architectures. Four customersuated for 20%, 15%, 15%, and 10% respectivelyewénues in
the year ending December 31, 2007. Four custoncersiated for 18%, 13%, 12% and 10%, respectivdly, o
revenues in the year ended December 31, 2006.dustwmers accounted for 26%, 17%, 11% and 10%,
respectively, of revenues in the year ended DeceBhe2005. Rambus expects that its revenue coratimt will
decrease over the long term as Rambus licensesustamers.

Rambus sells its chip interfaces and licenses $tocers in the Far East, North America, and EurBgeenue
from customers in the following geographic regiorese recognized as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)
Japar $124,66: $119,88: $ 96,46¢
North America 26,447 49,18¢ 46,09¢
Taiwan 1,43¢ 97t 22C
Korea 61€ 1,15¢ 8,44(
Singapore 58¢ — —
Europe 26,19 24,12: 5,97¢

$179,94( $195,32: $157,19¢

Revenues are attributed to individual countrie®ediag to the countries in which the licensees are
headquartered. At December 31, 2007, of the $24lidmof total long-lived assets, approximately®2 million
are located in the United States and $3.6 milli@nlacated in India.

13. Acquisition

On April 15, 2005, Rambus completed the acquisitiba portion of GDA Technologies (“GDA”) including
certain proprietary digital core designs for a ipnéary total of $6.4 million in cash, includingatisaction costs.
Rambus did not have a pre-existing relationshifn @DA before the acquisition. Under the terms efplirchase
agreement, Rambus paid a total of $5.3 millionasihcto GDA at the initial closing. Rambus was cacttrally
obligated to pay out an additional $1.0 milliorconjunction with its acquisition of intellectualggrerty from GDA,
and paid this amount in the quarter ended Marct28@6. In addition, Rambus paid $0.2 million fogdéfees
incurred in connection with this transaction. Thkeusition has been recorded using the purchaskeadetf
accounting in accordance with SFAS No. 141, “Busin@ombinations”. As a result of the acquisitioanf®us
recorded $3.7 million of purchased intangible asaed $2.7 million of goodwill.

In addition to the $6.4 million preliminary purcleagrice, the purchase agreement calls for an a#rpayment
that is based on future performance and eventsetthéd terms of the purchase agreement, the ednpagment is
computed on cash collections from the sale or ieesf acquired GDA products. Effective April 11080 Rambus
and GDA entered into an amendment to the origigedement that extended the earn-out period fromyeaefrom
the initial closing date to March 31, 2007. The adment also reduced the maximum earn-out amoumt fro
$5.0 million to $3.8 million. In March 2007, the @pany was notified, and later confirmed, that aaallections
from the sale or license of these products hadesdestthe minimum amount as defined in the purchgssement
and that additional payments were due GDA. As altigRambus recorded a liability for the earn-oayment and
an increase to goodwill of approximately $1.1 roitlin the first quarter of fiscal 2007. The liabjlrelated to the
earn-out has been paid as of December 31, 200@l goodwill related to this acquisition is $3.9 lioih. See
Note 14,"Amortizable Intangible Assets”, for more informati on the purchased intangible assets.
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14. Amortizable Intangible Assets

The components of the Company’s intangible assets Becember 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 veere a

follows:
December 31, 200
Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount
(In thousands)
Patents $ 9941 $ (4,367 $  5,57¢
Intellectual propert 10,08¢ (7,759 2,32¢
Customer contracts and contractual relations 8,00( (3,349 4,65¢
Existing technolog! 2,70C (1,829 872
Non-competition agreemel 10C (90) 10
Total intangible asse $ 30,82t $ (17,389 $ 13,44
December 31, 200!
Gross
Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount
(In thousands)

Patents $9911 $ (3,209 ¢ 6,70¢
Intellectual propert 10,08« (5,232 4,85:
Customer contracts and contractual relations 8,00( (2,459 5,54¢
Existing technolog! 2,70C (1,159 1,54
Non-competition agreemel 10C (57) 43
Total intangible asse $30,79¢ $ (12,099 $ 18,69

Amortization expense for intangible assets forytbars ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was
$5.3 million, $5.2 million and $4.3 million, respiaely.

The estimated future amortization expense of iritdagssets as of December 31, 2007 was as follows
(amounts in thousands):

Years Ending December 31 Amount
2008 $ 4,35¢
2009 2,95¢
2010 1,921
2011 1,59:
2012 1,321
Thereafte 1,29

$13,44:

The valuation and useful lives of the acquiredrigthle assets were allocated based on estimateddiaies at
the acquisition dates. The value of the agreemafdng with interviews and management’s estimateewsed to
determine the useful lives of the assets. The ircapproach, which includes an analysis of the flasfs and risks
associated with achieving such cash flows, wagtimeary technique utilized in valuing the acquipstented
technology. Key assumptions included estimateswémue growth, cost of revenues, operating expearsks
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income taxes. The discount rates used in the vatuat intangible assets reflected the level df associated with
the particular technology and the current returin@estment requirements of the market.

15. Convertible Notes

On February 1, 2005, Rambus issued $300.0 millggregate principal amount of zero coupon convextibl
senior notes due February 1, 2010 to Credit StBseBoston LLC and Deutsche Bank Securities jmigate
offering that were then sold to institutional inias.

The convertible notes are unsecured senior obdigatiranking equally in right of payment with allRambus’
existing and future unsecured senior indebtedresssenior in right of payment to any future in@eloiess that is
expressly subordinated to the convertible notes.

The convertible notes are convertible at any timer o the close of business on the maturity diatie, in
respect of each $1,000 principal of convertibleesot

« cash in an amount equal to the lesse

(1) the principal amount of each note to be convertet

(2) the “conversion value,” which is equal to (a) tippléicable conversion rate, multiplied by (b) the
applicable stock price, as define

« if the conversion value is greater than the priakcggmount of each note, a number of shares of Rambu
Common Stock (the “net shares”) equal to the sutheflaily share amounts, calculated as defined.
However, in lieu of delivering net shares, Ramlaists option, may deliver cash, or a combinatibnash
and shares of its Common Stock, with a value egutile net shares amou

The initial conversion price is $26.84 per shar€ofmmon Stock (which represents an initial conwersate o
37.2585 shares of Rambus Common Stock per $1,006 gl amount of convertible notes). The initiahwersion
price is subject to adjustment as defined.

The convertible notes are carried at fair valuBetember 31, 2007 and 2006 due to the cash setttdasure
The convertible notes are subject to repurchasash in the event of a fundamental change involRambus at a
price equal to 100% of the principal amount. Ramipay be obligated to pay an additional premium gy in
shares of Common Stock) in the event the convertibtes are converted following a fundamental ckampe
premium is based on numerous factors and coulghie 83% per $1,000 principal amount of convertiti¢es.

Upon the occurrence of an event of default, RambhBgations under the convertible notes may become
immediately due and payable. An event of defaulteiined as:

« default in the payment when due of any principady of the convertible notes at maturity, uporreise of
a repurchase right or otherwis

« default in the payment of liquidated damages, ¥f, avhich default continues for 30 da

« default in Rambus’ obligation to provide noticetiog occurrence of fundamental change when reqbiyed
the indenture

« failure to comply with any of Rambus’ other agreatsdn the convertible notes or the indenture upon
receipt of notice to it of such default from thesiiee or to Rambus and the trustee from holdemstdess
than 25% in aggregate principal amount at matwfitfyhe convertible notes, and Rambus fails to ¢are
obtain a waiver of) such default within 60 day®aift receives such notic

- failure to pay when due the principal of, or accatien of, any indebtedness for money borrowed AynBus
or any of its subsidiaries in excess of $30.0 millprincipal amount, if such indebtedness is
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discharged, or such acceleration is not annulledhé end of a period of ten days after writteriaeto
Rambus by the trustee or to Rambus and the trbgtdee holders of at least 25% in principal amaifrthe
outstanding convertible notes; a

« certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reoizgion relating to Rambu
Rambus may not redeem the convertible notes grithrdir maturity date.

During 2005, Rambus repurchased $140.0 million fedee of the outstanding convertible notes, foriee of
approximately $113.0 million, leaving a net balan€&160.0 million at December 31, 2005. These refpases
were financed from Rambus’ investment portfolio.tiéé time of the issuance, Rambus recorded $7Bmiof
related note issuance costs in long-term othet@asskated to these repurchases, which was subsiygueduced to
$4.2 million. There is no amortization of note iasae costs in 2007 due to the acceleration ofettmaining
amortization into the fourth quarter of 2006 in neation with the notice of acceleration relativehie convertible
notes as discussed below. For the years ended Dec&@t, 2006 and 2005, Rambus recorded amortizakipanse
of $3.2 million and $1.1 million, respectively.

On August 17, 2006, Rambus received a notice afulefrom U.S. Bank National Association, as trestine
“Trustee”) for the convertible notes. The noticeaated that the Company'’s failure to file its FarQ for the
quarter ended June 30, 2006 constituted a defad&nSections 7.2 and 14.1 of the indenture, dadeuf
February 1, 2005 between Rambus and the Trusteélitienture”). The notice stated that per Sec@idnof the
Indenture, if Rambus did not cure the default witkixty days of August 17, 2006, an event of defawluld occur.
On October 25, 2006, Rambus received a notice fhanTrustee stating that since the Company hadured the
default that had been asserted by the Trusteenntitiei sixty day cure period, an event of default imafact occurre:
as of October 16, 2006. On January 22, 2007, Ramdwme$ved an additional notice of default from Thastee
relating to the Company’s failure to file its Fof@-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006.uiyr31, 2007,
Rambus received a notice of acceleration from thust€e stating that under direction received fratdérs of more
than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the antding convertible notes, the Trustee was declahaginpaid
principal plus accrued interest and unpaid liquedadamages immediately due and payable. As of Deee81,
2006, Rambus had reclassified the aggregate pahaipount of the convertible notes of $160.0 nrillfcom non-
current liabilities to current liabilities and refited them as due in less than one year.

On September 20, 2007, Rambus received a notioetfte Trustee for the convertible notes, rescindlirg
acceleration of the convertible notes containetthénletter from the Trustee dated July 31, 2007weaiging all
existing Events of Default as defined in the Indeat The notice indicated that the Trustee hadvedealirection
from holders holding a majority in aggregate priatiamount of the convertible notes outstandingade all
existing Events of Default and to rescind the am@ion of the convertible notes.

As of December 31, 2007, the convertible notes len reclassified to non-current liabilities ie th
accompanying consolidated balance sheet sincedhgp@&ny has become current with its SEC filings atober
2007.

16. Litigation and Asserted Claims
Hynix Litigation
U.S District Court of the Northern District of Cdrnia

On August 29, 2000, Hynix (formerly Hyundai) andiwvas subsidiaries filed suit against Rambus in the
U.S. District Court for the Northern District of [farnia. The complaint, as amended and narroweautiph motion
practice, asserts claims for fraud, violationseafdral antitrust laws and deceptive practices imeotion with
Rambus’ participation in JEDEC, and seeks a detdargudgment that the Rambus patents-in-suit are
unenforceable, invalid and not infringed by Hyrdempensatory and punitive damages, and attorriegs. Rambt
denied Hynix’s claims and filed counterclaims fatgnt infringement against Hynix.
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The case was divided into three phases. In thiepiivase, Hynix tried its unclean hands defensenpégj on
October 17, 2005 and concluding on November 1, 200&s January 4, 2006 Findings of Fact and Qasiohs of
Law, the court held that Hynix’s unclean hands dséefailed. Among other things, the court found Rambus did
not adopt its document retention policy in badHfaitid not engage in unlawful spoliation of evidepand that whil
Rambus disposed of some relevant documents purkuastdocument retention policy, Hynix was nogjpdiced
by the destruction of Rambus documents.

The second phase of the Hynix-Rambus trial — oemiahfringement, validity and damages — began on
March 15, 2006, and was submitted to the jury onlAy3, 2006. On April 24, 2006, the jury returnaderdict in
favor of Rambus on all issues and awarded Rambaisieof approximately $307 million in damages, lexiing
prejudgment interest. Specifically, the jury fouhdt each of the ten selected patent claims wasostgal by the
written description, and was not anticipated odezad obvious by prior art; therefore, none ofghtent claims
were invalid. The jury also found that Hynix infged all eight of the patent claims for which theyjwas asked to
determine infringement; the court had previoushedained on summary judgment that Hynix infringkd bther
two claims at issue in the trial. On July 17, 200, court granted Hynix’s motion for a new trial the issue of
damages unless Rambus agreed to a reduction tidftttigury award to approximately $134 million. Tbeurt founc
that the record supported a maximum royalty rate%ffor SDR SDRAM and 4.25% for DDR SDRAM, whicleth
court applied to the stipulated U.S. sales of mgfimg Hynix products through December 31, 2005.J0lg 27, 200€
Rambus elected remittitur of the jury’s award tpmximately $134 million. No opinion has issueditde on
Hynix’s post-trial motions for judgment as a matétaw and new trial on certain issues relatingatidity and
infringement; likewise, no opinion has issued ttedan Rambus’s post-trial motion for prejudgmengiast.

The third phase of the Hynix-Rambus trial — Hyniafirmative JEDEC-related allegations against Rasns-
was scheduled to begin on August 21, 2006. Howehrertrial was postponed after the Federal Tradar@ission
(the “FTC”) issued its liability opinion finding &t Rambus engaged in deceptive conduct at JEDEDIation of
Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act ogusti 2, 2006, (see below) because the court coadltitht
there was a potential that certain findings byRR€ could be accorded prima facie evidentiary efiethe third
phase. On April 24, 2007, the court ordered a doatdd trial of certain common JEDEC-related claatisged by
the manufacturer parties (i.e., Hynix, Micron, Narand Samsung) and defenses asserted by Ramlibis action
( Hynix v Rambus Case No. C 00-20905 RMW) and three others pentufifigre the same courRambus Inc. v.
Samsung Electronics Co. Ltd. et aCase No. 05-02298 RMVRambus Inc. v. Hynix Semiconductor Inc., et al.
Case No. 05-00334, aihmbus Inc. v. Micron Technology, Inc., et,&ase No. C 06-00244MW, each describe
in further detail below). After much briefing andabargument on the issues, the court issued assefiorders
between September 2007 and January 2008 denyimgahefacturer partieshotions requesting the courtto 1) g
prima facie evidentiary effect to certain findingsthe FTC; 2) grant summary judgment in favor ghkt on its
state unfair competition claim and its equitablk®pgel defense based on certain FTC findings; drudiBaterally
estop Rambus from challenging certain enumeratelings of the FTC in the context of the fraud clsiamd
equitable estoppel defenses brought by Hynix, Micamsung, and Nanya. The court also vacatediiigre
holding that findings by the FTC could be accorgecha facie evidentiary effect in the coordinatedlt

On December 14, 2007, the court excused Samsungtfre coordinated trial based on Samsaragjreement 1
certain conditions, including trial of its claimganst Rambus by the court within six months follagvthe
conclusion of the coordinated trial. The coordidat@al involving Rambus, Hynix, Micron and Nanyadan on
January 29, 2008, and is expected to continue gfrtive end of March 2008.

European Patent Infringement Case

Beginning on September 4, 2000, Rambus filed gatrest Hynix in multiple European jurisdictions for
infringement of EP 0 525 068 (the”068 patent”).niaus later filed a further infringement action agaiHynix in
Mannheim, Germany on a second patent, EP 1 022t6d2'642 patent”). Both patents were opposed lyyik,
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Micron, and Infineon in the European Patent OffiERO). The '068 patent was revoked by an Appealdoa
2004, and a hearing in the opposition with respetiie '642 patent has not yet been scheduled a@uaiy 8, 2008,
the Mannheim court issued an Order of Cost witpeesto the '068 proceeding requiring Rambus tmbeirse
Hynix court fees in the amount of $0.6 million. $lEmount is recorded under accrued litigation egpgin the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

Micron Litigation
U.S District Court in Delaware: Case No. 00-792-SLR

On August 28, 2000, Micron filed suit against Rasibuthe U.S. District Court in Delaware. The sgserts
violations of federal antitrust laws, deceptived&gractices, breach of contract, fraud and negige
misrepresentation in connection with Ramhpes'ticipation in JEDEC. Micron seeks a declaratbmonopolizatio
by Rambus, compensatory and punitive damagesnetitsrfees, a declaratory judgment that eight Rawyatents
are invalid and not infringed, and the award to idicof a royalty-free license to the Rambus patdRésnbus has
filed an answer and counterclaims disputing Micsoriaims and asserting infringement by Micron oflive
U.S. patents.

This case has been divided into three phases isaime general order as in tHgnix 00-20905 action:
(1) unclean hands; (2) patent infringement; anda(@jtrust, equitable estoppel, and other JEDE@&tedlissues. A
bench trial on Micron’s unclean hands defense begadovember 8, 2007 and concluded on Novembe2d®/.
The court ordered post-trial briefing on the isefiezhen Rambus became obligated to preserve dodsrbenause
it anticipated litigation. A hearing on that issaescheduled for April 24, 2008.

U.S District Court in Delaware: Case No. 06-269-SLR

On February 21, 2006, Micron filed suit against Ramin the U.S. District Court in the Eastern Déstof
Virginia, asserting claims for violation of the fdl civil Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Orgatians Act
(RICO) and Virginia state conspiracy laws. Amonigastthings, the complaint alleges document spoliadind
litigation misconduct. Rambus believes these cldank merit. On March 29, 2006, the Delaware cguanted
Rambus’ motion to enjoin Microa’suit in the Eastern District of Virginia, and ttese was subsequently transfe
to the U.S. District Court in Delaware.

On May 26, 2006, Rambus moved to dismiss Microntsglaint on the grounds that, among other things:
(1) Micron’s claims are barred by the statute wiitations; (2) Micron’s claims fail on the meriemd (3) Micron’s
claims are barred by théoerr-Penningtordoctrine. This action has been assigned to themtgiedicial position left
by the elevation of Judge Kent A. Jordan to thetéthStates Court of Appeals for the Third Circuice December
2006, but it has been recently reassigned to Cuigfle Sue L. Robinson. A hearing on Rambus’ mdtatismiss
is scheduled for March 28, 2008.

U.S. District Court of the Northern District of Gfalrnia

On January 13, 2006, Rambus filed suit againstdwién the U.S. District Court in the Northern Distrof
California. Rambus alleges that fourteen Rambusmaiare infringed by Micron’s DDR2, DDR3, GDDR8gda
other advanced memory products. Rambus seeks caaipeyand punitive damages, attorndgg’s, and injunctiv
relief. Micron has denied Rambus’ allegations andlleging counterclaims for violations of fedeaatitrust laws,
unfair trade practices, equitable estoppel, frandirgegligent misrepresentation in connection wigdmRus’
participation in JEDEC. Micron seeks a declaratbmonopolization by Rambus, injunctive relief, quensatory
and punitive damages, attorneys’ fees, and a daolgrjudgment of invalidity, unenforceability, and
noninfringement of the fourteen patents in suit.

As explained above, the court ordered a coordintaidwithout Samsung) of certain common JEDE Giexl
claims and defenses assertetlimix v RambusCase No. C 00-20905 RMWRambus Inc. v. Samsung Electronics
Co. Ltd. et al, Case No. 05-02298 RMVRambus Inc. v. Hynix Semiconductor Inc., et &lase
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No. 05-00334, andRambus Inc. v. Micron Technology, Inc., et &ase No. C 06-00244 RMW. The coordinated
trial involving Rambus, Hynix, Micron and Nanya laegon January 29, 2008, and is expected to contimoagh
the end of March 2008. In these cases (exceph&diynix 00-20905 action), a hearing on claim constructiod a
the parties’ cross-motions for summary judgmenindringement and validity is currently scheduled fdarch
25-26, 2008. One or more trials on Rambus’ pat@nhgement claims is set to begin on January 0992

European Patent Infringement Cases

On September 11, 2000, Rambus filed suit againstdvliin multiple European jurisdictions for infrieignent o
its ‘068 patent (described above), which was leggoked. Additional suits were filed pertainingthe '642 patent
and a third Rambus patent, EP 1 004 956 (the “{&86&nt"). Rambus’ suit against Micron for infringen of the
'642 patent in Mannheim, Germany, has not beewecti

One proceeding in Italy relating to the '642 pateat adjourned at a hearing on June 15, 2007, gsath
bearing its own costs. In a second proceedingiy telating to the956 patent, the court has scheduled a hearit
April 18, 2008, regarding continuation of the predimgs. On September 29, 2005, Rambus receivdtbafiom
Micron seeking to toll a statute of limitations joek in Italy for a purported cause of action resgifrom a seizure
of evidence in Italy in 2000 carried out by Rampussuant to a court order. Micron asserts thatateages
allegedly caused by this seizure equal or exce@d3$8illion. Micron formally filed suit against Rdmas relating to
this seizure in February 2006. Rambus filed itstemi defense on April 24, 2006. The Italian cowas brdered
further briefing on issues related to Rambus’ suitaly for infringement of its ‘068 patent. A hiérg in the Italian
court is set for March 26, 2008, on both proceeslingolving the '068 patent and Micron’s claim filmmages
related to seizure of evidence.

DDR2, GDDR2 & GDDRS3 Litigation (“DDR2")
U.S District Court in the Northern District of C&dirnia

On January 25, 2005, Rambus filed a patent infrimveyg suit in the U.S. District Court in the NorthdDistrict
of California court against Hynix, Infineon, Nanymd Inotera. Infineon and Inotera were subsequeigmissed
from this litigation and Samsung was added as arizint. Rambus alleges that certain of its patestinfringed b
certain of the defendants’ SDRAM, DDR, DDR2, DDRBDR2, GDDR3, GDDR4 and other advanced memory
products. Hynix, Samsung and Nanya have denied Rslinstaims and asserted counterclaims against Raufiiop
among other things, violations of federal antitdasts, unfair trade practices, equitable estopd, fraud in
connection with Rambus’ participation in JEDEC.

As explained above, the court ordered a coordintataidwithout Samsung) of certain common JEDE Gexl
claims and defenses assertetlimix v RambusCase No. C 00-20905 RMWRambus Inc. v. Samsung Electronics
Co. Ltd. et al, Case No. 05-02298 RMVRambus Inc. v. Hynix Semiconductor Inc., et &lase No. 05-00334, and
Rambus Inc. v. Micron Technology, Inc., el, Case No. C 06-00244 RMW. The coordinated triabining
Rambus, Hynix, Micron and Nanya began on Januar2@98, and is expected to continue through theoénd
March 2008. In these cases (except forHlgaix 00-20905 action), a hearing on claim constructiot the parties’
cross-motions for summary judgment on infringenserd validity is currently scheduled for March 25-2608.

One or more trials on Rambus’ patent infringemédaitits is set to begin on January 19, 2009.

Samsung Litigation
U.S District Court in the Northern District of C&dirnia

On June 6, 2005, Rambus filed a patent infringeraeittagainst Samsung in the U.S. District Couthim
Northern District of California alleging that Samg's SDRAM and DDR SDRAM parts infringe nine of Ransbu
patents. Samsung has denied Rambus’ claims andessseunterclaims for non-infringement, invalidépd
unenforceability of the patents, violations of wai$ antitrust and unfair competition statutes, thezf license, and
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breach of duty of good faith and fair dealing. Santgshas also counterclaimed that Rambus aided lzettbd
breach of fiduciary duty and intentionally inteddrwith Samsung’s contract with a former employg&riowingly
hiring a former Samsung employee who allegedly sgduproprietary Samsung information. Rambus haeden
Samsung’s counterclaims and moved to dismiss cesfdbamsung’s defenses and counterclaims.

As explained above, the court ordered a coordintaidof certain common JEDE&ated claims and defen:
asserted itynix v RambusCase No. C 00-20905 RMWambus Inc. v. Samsung Electronics Co. Ltd. etGhse
No. 05-02298 RMW ,Rambus Inc. v. Hynix Semiconductor Inc., ef @lase No. 05-00334, afthmbus Inc. v.
Micron Technology, Inc., et ¢, Case No. C 06-00244 RMW. The court subsequertiysed Samsung from the
coordinated trial on December 14, 2007, based oms8ag’s agreement to certain conditions, includiiay of its
claims against Rambus within six months followihg tonclusion of the coordinated trial. In thessesgexcept for
the Hynix 00-20905 action), a hearing on claim constructiod the parties’ crossiotions for summary judgment
infringement and validity is currently scheduled Kdarch 25-26, 2008, and one or more trials on Rashpatent
infringement claims is set to begin on January2D®9.

U.S District Court in the Eastern District of Virga

On June 7, 2005, Samsung sued Rambus in the WsBicDCourt in the Eastern District of Virginiaedéng a
declaratory judgment that four Rambus patentsraraid, unenforceable and/oot infringed. Rambus answered
complaint, disputing Samsurgtlaims. Rambus granted Samsung covenants noét8amsung for infringement
the four patents for which Samsung sought decleyaidief. Rambus subsequently offered to pay Sag'su
attorneys’ fees, but Samsung did not accept ther.ocin November 8, 2005, the Virginia court grarResinbus’
motion to dismiss with respect to Samsung'’s cldmnsleclaratory judgment but denied Rambus’ motidtt
respect to Samsung'’s claim for attorneys’ feesymansto 35 U.S.C. § 285. On July 19, 2006, the Miegcourt
issued orders finding that: (1) it had subject ergtirisdiction over Samsung’s motions; (2) Samsisrey
“prevailing party;” (3) Rambus had spoliated evidetn anticipation of litigation against DRAM maacfurers
such as Samsung; (4) Rambus’ spoliation renderedabe exceptional; (5) Rambus did not asserbitaterclaims
in subjective bad faith or for the purpose of véxat(6) Rambus’ counterclaims were not objectiiehgeless at the
time they were filed; and (7) Samsung was notledtiio an award of attorneys’ fees.

Rambus filed a notice of appeal to the Federalu@tiam August 16, 2006. Oral argument was heard on
August 7, 2007. No opinion has issued to date.

Delaware Chancery Court

On June 23, 2005, Samsung sued Rambus in the Del@hancery Court asserting claims similar to its
counterclaims in the Northern District of Califcaraction. As part of the conditions under which Sang would be
excused from the coordinated trial on JEDEC-rel&sdes in the Northern District of California,gfaction was
dismissed pursuant to a stipulation entered on Dbee 20, 2007.

FTC Complaint

On June 19, 2002, the FTC filed a complaint agdRashbus. The FTC alleged that through Ramhkasbn ant
inaction at a standards setting organization callEdEC, Rambus violated Section 5 of the FTC Act imay that
allowed Rambus to obtain monopoly power in — ot thaacting with intent to monopolize it createdangerous
probability of monopolization in — synchronous DRARthnology markets. The FTC also alleged that Resmb
action and practices at JEDEC constituted unfathods of competition in violation of Section 5 bEtFTC Act. A:
a remedy, the FTC sought to enjoin Rambus’ riglgrtfmrce patents with priority dates prior to J4886 as against
products made pursuant to certain existing andéulteEDEC standards.
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On February 17, 2004, the FTC Chief Administratiasv Judge issued his initial decision dismissingETC's
complaint against Rambus on multiple independemtirggls (the “Initial Decision”). The FTC’s Complai@bunsel
appealed this decision.

On August 2, 2006, the FTC released its July 306208pinion and order reversing and vacating tlteln
Decision and determining that Rambus violated $adiiof the Federal Trade Commission Act. Followfingher
briefing and oral argument on issues relating toady, the FTC released its opinion and order oredgnon
February 5, 2007. The remedy order sets the maxinoyalty rate that Rambus can collect on the mastufe, use
or sale in the United States of certain JEDEC-cianpbarts after the effective date of the Ordsradlows: 0.25%
for SDRAM products; 0.5% for DDR SDRAM products5% for SDRAM memory controllers or other non-
memory chip components; and 1.0% for DDR SDRAM menuoontrollers or other non-memory chip components.
The order specifies that these maximum rates wiihbeffect for three years, after which time theximum rates
for these products will be 0%. The order also méexithat Rambus offer a license for these prochtaistes no
higher than the maximums set by the FTC, includirigrther cap on rates for the affected non-merpoogucts.
The order further requires Rambus to take certaipssto comply with the terms of the order and iapple
disclosure rules of any standard setting orgarimatf which it may become a member.

The FTC’s order explicitly does not set maximunesabr other conditions with respect to Rambragalty rate
for DDR2 SDRAM, other post-DDR JEDEC standardsoomon-JEDEC-standardized technologies such aetho
used in RDRAM or XDR DRAM.

On March 16, 2007, the FTC issued an order granimgrt and denying in part Rambus’ motion fotay of
the remedy pending appeal. The March 16 order pefR@mbus to acquire rights to royalty paymentsuga of the
patented technologies affected by the Februaryr2dy order during the period of the stay in exadshe FTC-
imposed maximum royalty rates on SDRAM and DDR SDRgroducts, provided that funds above the maximum
allowed rates be placed into an escrow accoung tidiributed in accordance with the ultimate deni®f the court
of appeals. In an opinion accompanying its ordes,RTC clarified that it intended its remedy to*foeward-
looking” and “prospective only,dnd therefore unlikely to be construed to requiaenBus to refund royalties alre:
paid or to restrict Rambus from collecting royaltfer the use of its technologies during past jkio

On April 27, 2007, the FTC issued an order grantmgart and denying in part Rambus’ petition for
reconsideration of the remedy order. The FTC's oathel accompanying opinion on Rambus’ petition for
reconsideration clarified the remedy order in dartaspects. For example, (a) the FTC explicithtest that the
remedy order does not require Rambus to make refangrohibit it from collecting royalties in exeesf maximur
allowable royalties that accrue up to the effectiaée of the remedy order; (b) the remedy ordermwvadified to
specifically permit Rambus to seek damages irdiian up to three times the specified maximum adible royalty
rates on the ground of willful infringement and ailpwable attorneys’ fees; and (c) under the renurder,
licensees may pay Rambus a flat fee in lieu of inghroyalties, even if this results in payments\abthe FTCS rate
caps in certain circumstances.

Rambus has appealed the FTC's liability and renmedgrs to the United States District Court of Afdpdar
the District of Columbia. Oral argument was heagthiiary 14, 2008. No opinion has issued to date.

Indirect Purchaser Class Action

On August 10, 2006, the first of nine class actamsuits were filed against Rambus in 2006 allegilofations
of federal and state antitrust laws, violationstatte consumer protection laws, and various comaartliaims
based almost entirely on the same conduct whichtiasubject of the FTC’s July 31, 2006 opiniontékhof these
lawsuits filed outside of California were dismisgadsuant to agreement of the parties. The remgsikof these
cases were consolidated under the captiore Rambus Antitrust Litigation06-4852 RMW (N.D. Cal.). The
consolidated complaint seeks injunctive and detdayaelief, disgorgement, restitution and compémsaand
punitive damages in an unspecified amount, andretys’ fees and costs. On March 28, 2007, Ramiec di
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motion to dismiss the consolidated complaint. Oy 24, 2007, the court heard oral argument on Ramimwtion
and took the matter under submission. No final oh#e been issued to date.

European Commission Competition Directorate-General

On or about April 22, 2003, Rambus was notifiedtsy European Commission Competition Directorate-
General (Directorate) (the “European Commissiohét it had received complaints from Infineon andchty
Rambus answered the ensuing requests for informptiampted by those complaints on June 16, 200&bRa
obtained a copy of Infineon’s complaint to the Eagan Commission in late July 2003, and on Octoh2083, at
the request of the European Commission, filedeisponse. The European Commission sent Rambusarfurt
request for information on December 22, 2006, wiRelmbus answered on January 26, 2007. On Aug@807,
Rambus received a statement of objections fronkEtirepean Commission. The statement of objectideged that
through Rambus’ participation in the JEDEC stanglaetting organization and subsequent conduct, Reamb
violated European Union competition law. Rambusdfi response to the statement of objections ocob®cB1,
2007, and a hearing was held on December 4-5, 20G¥ matter is currently under submission by theopean
Commission.

Superior Court of California for the County of SaRrancisco

On May 5, 2004, Rambus filed a lawsuit against BliciHynix, Infineon and Siemens in San Francisco
Superior Court (the “San Francisco court”) seekdagrages for conspiring to fix prices (CaliforniasB& Prof.
Code 88 1672@t seq), conspiring to monopolize under the Cartwright fZalifornia Bus. & Prof. Code 8§ 16720
et seq), intentional interference with prospective ecomatdvantage, and unfair competition (CaliforniasB&
Prof. Code 8§88 17206t seq). This lawsuit alleges that there were concerféatts beginning in the 1990’s to deter
innovation in the DRAM market and to boycott Ramhusg/or deter market acceptance of Rambus’ RDRAM
product. Subsequently, Infineon and Siemens wesmidsed from this action (as a result of a settfémith
Infineon) and three Samsung-related entities wdded as defendants.

On June 28, 2007, Hynix filed a motion for summjaiggment on the ground that Rambus’ claims shoald b
dismissed on the grounds that they allegedly wenepulsory counterclaims in théynix 00-20905 action.
Following briefing and oral argument, the court igelnHynix’s motion in an order filed November 2,020 Hynix
sought review of the trial court’s order by the i€ahia Court of Appeal, which the appellate casutmmarily
denied on January 17, 2008. On January 28, 2008 xHijed a petition for review of this decision liye California
Supreme Court. Rambus filed an answer requestatginix’s petition be denied. Discovery in thiseaemains
ongoing during the pendency of this petition.

Alberta Telecommunications Research Centre Litigati

On November 15, 2005, Alberta Telecommunicationsedech Centre, dba TR Labs, a Canadian company,
filed suit against Rambus in the U.S. District Ganrthe Eastern District of Virginia. The complaalleges that
Alberta is the owner of U.S. patent no. 5,361,21& (277 patent”), and asserts claims for
interferences-in-fact pursuant to 35 U.S.C. 8§ 28tlvben the '277 patent and Rambus’ U.S. patents243,703
(the 703 patent”) and 5,954,804 (the “’804 patgninfringement of the '277 patent by Rambus; amjust
enrichment. Alberta seeks an order assigning tienslof the '703 and '804 patent to Alberta, diggoment of
Rambus’ profits from licensing the '703 and '804eyds, compensatory and punitive damages, attorfess and
injunctive relief. Rambus filed an answer on Febyu0, 2006, denying Alberta’s claims.

Rambus moved to dismiss Alberta’s claims on Jan26r2006, and to transfer the action to the Nerthe
District of California. On April 13, 2006, the Viiga court ordered that this matter be transfeteetthe Northern
District of California in its entirety (without deting Rambusmotion to dismiss). The case was filed in the Nemt
District of California on April 17, 2006. On Octab23, 2006, the court granted in part Rambus’ nmottmdismiss
with leave to amend. Alberta filed an amended camplon November 8, 2006. On August 30, 2007,
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Rambus filed an answer denying the allegationkénaimended compliant. On January 9, 2008, thevease
dismissed pursuant to the parties’ stipulation dasea settlement agreement between the parties.

Stock Option Investigation Related Claims

On May 30, 2006, the Audit Committee commencedchéermnal investigation of the timing of past stogkion
grants and related accounting issues.

On May 31, 2006, the first of three shareholdeivég¢ive actions was filed in the Northern DistraftCalifornia
against Rambus (as a nominal defendant) and cetiaiant and former executives and board membéessd
actions have been consolidated for all purposesruthe captionin re Rambus Inc. Derivative LitigatigrMaster
File No. C-06-3513-JF (N.D. Cal.), and Howard Chd &aetano Ruggieri were appointed lead plainfiffe
consolidated complaint, as amended, alleges viwlatof certain federal and state securities lawsedlsas other
state law causes of action. The complaint seekmdiement and damages in an unspecified amounieaifid
equitable relief, and attorneys’ fees and costs.

On August 22, 2006, another shareholder derivaoimn was filed in Delaware Chancery Court against
Rambus (as a nominal defendant) and certain cuarahformer executives and board membdsl(v. Tate et al,
2366-N (Del. Chancery)). Pursuant to agreemerth@pirties, no deadline for Rambus to responde@dmplaint
has been set.

On October 18, 2006, the Board of Directors forraegpecial Litigation Committee (the “SLC”) to evata
potential claims or other actions arising from sheck option granting activities. The Board of BRi@s has
appointed J. Thomas Bentley, Chairman of the AGditnmittee, and Abraham Sofaer, a retired fededgguand
Chairman of the Legal Affairs Committee, both ofomh joined the Rambus Board of Directors in 2005;dmprise
the SLC.

On August 24, 2007, the final written report segtforth the findings of the SLC was filed with tbeurt. As se
forth in its report, the SLC determined that adliois should be terminated and dismissed againstaimed
defendants ifn re Rambus Inc. Derivative Litigatiomith the exception of claims against named defenHan
Larsen, who served as Vice President, Human Ress@irem September 1996 until December 1999, anmd the
Senior Vice President, Administration until July020 The SLC entered into settlement agreementsaeitiain
former officers of the Company. These settlemergsanditioned upon the dismissal of the claimgdsd against
these individuals iftn re Rambus Inc. Derivative LitigatiariThe aggregate value of the settlements to thepaagn
exceeds $6.5 million in cash and estimated equitaiglue as well as substantial additional valughe&oCompany
relating to the relinquishment of claims to ovef fillion stock options. The SLC stated its intentto assert
control over the litigation. The conclusions andammendations of the SLC are subject to reviewhieycourt. On
October 5, 2007, Rambus filed a motion to termimai@ccordance with the SLC’s recommendations. &ring on
this motion is scheduled for May 9, 2008.

On August 30, 2007, another shareholder derivatetmn was filed in the Southern District of Newrko
against Rambus (as a nominal defendant) and PriegveauseCoopers LLPHrancl v. PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP et al., No. 07-Civ.7650 (GBD)). On November 21, 2007, the New Yorkrtguanted PricewaterhouseCoor.
LLP’s motion to transfer the action to the North&istrict of California. The case has not yet bdenketed in the
Northern District of California

On July 17, 2006, the first of six class actiondaits was filed in the Northern District of Califéa against
Rambus and certain current and former executivddaard members. These lawsuits have been contsalidader
the caption/n re Rambus Inc. Securities Litigatio©-06-4346-JF (N.D. Cal.) and Ronald L. Schwares w
appointed lead plaintiff. The amended consolidattplaint names as defendants Rambus, certaia ofiitent an
former executives and board members, and Priceln@aiseCoopers LLP. The complaint alleges violatais
various federal securities laws and seeks damagas unspecified amount as well as attornégess and costs. Aft
Rambus and certain other defendants filed motiomsimiss the lawsuit, the parties agreed in ppiedio
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settle this dispute. The settlement, which is sutlife final documentation as well as review andrapal by the
court, provides for a payment by Rambus of $180ani(included in accrued litigation expense i th
accompanying consolidated balance sheets) wouttitéea dismissal with prejudice of all claims agiall
defendants in the consolidated class action litgat

On March 1, 2007, a pro se lawsuit was filed inNtoethern District of California by two alleged Rbos
shareholders against Rambus, certain current anmtefeexecutives and board members, and
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLKélley et al. v. Rambus, Inc. et @-07-01238-JF (N.D. Cal.)). This action was
consolidated with a substantially identical prdasesuit filed by another purported Rambus sharedraddjainst the
same parties. The consolidated complaint againstiRa alleges violations of federal and state sgesriaws, and
state law claims for fraud and breach of fiducidngy. Rambus and the other defendants have filggbnsoto
dismiss the consolidated complaint and a hearinthese motions is scheduled for March 14, 2008.

All of these cases relate to stock options isstliesre can be no assurance that additional clairast@ns
arising out of or related to stock option issuek mat be asserted against Rambus and its currdiormer
executives and board members.

Potential Future Litigation

In addition to the litigation described above, gapants in the DRAM and controller markets conérto adopt
Rambus technologies into various products. Rambasbtified many of these companies of their udRarhbus
technology and continues to evaluate how to prooeeithese matters. There can be no assurancenthahgoing ¢
future litigation will be successful. Rambus spesdisstantial company resources defending its @delbl property
in litigation, which may continue for the foreseksatuture given the multiple pending litigationhéoutcomes of
these litigations — as well as any delay in thegolution — could affect Rambus’ ability to liceriteintellectual
property going forward.

The Company records a contingent liability wheis fpprobable that a loss has been incurred andntioeiat is
reasonably estimable in accordance with SFAS NtA&;ounting for Contingencies”.

17. Subsequent Event:

During the first quarter of 2008, the Company repased 1.4 million shares with an aggregate vdlue o
$24.9 million. As of February 25, 2008, there remeal an outstanding authorization to repurchasendlibn shares
of our outstanding Common Stock.
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RAMBUS INC.

CONSOLIDATED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL DATA
Quarterly Statements of Operations
(Unaudited)

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31,
2007 2007 2007 2007 2006 2006 2006 2006
(In thousands, except for per share amounts

Revenue
Royalties $ 36,040 $ 35,327 $ 39,19C $ 43,74¢ $ 44,01 $ 41,527 $ 41,69¢ $ 41,68
Contract revenue 4,48¢ 6,38¢ 8,35: 6,40 8,571 4,42 7,74% 5,664
Total revenue 40,53 41,71¢ 47,54% 50,15( 52,59( 45,94¢ 49,44+ 47,34¢
Costs and expense
Cost of contract revenu 8,24¢ 5,781 6,88: 6,21°F 7,38: 6,121 9,521 7,36¢
Research and developme 22,53¢ 18,31: 18,591 23,43( 17,42« 17,69t 15,84: 18,017
Marketing, general and

administrative 40,94( 29,91« 24,77¢ 24,96t 22,69: 24,11« 32,88: 24,87
Costs of restatement and related

legal activities 82€ 4,16¢ 7,45% 7,00¢ 5,74¢ 23,79¢ 1,89/ —
Total costs and expenses 72,55( 58,17¢ 57,71( 61,61¢ 53,24« 71,72¢ 60,13¢ 50,257
Operating income (los: (32,01¢ (16,462) (10,167 (11,469 (654) (25,782 (10,69 (2,919
Interest and other income, net 5,267 5,64¢ 5,657 5,19 2,344 4.47: 4,07¢ 3,44~
Income (loss) before income tax (26,755  (10,81¢) (4,510 (6,275 1,69C (21,309 (6,619 53¢
Provision for (benefit from) incon

taxes (12,197 (4,31¢) (1,790 (2,387 379 1,337  (12,72%) (119)
Net income (loss $(14,559) $ (6,499 $ (2,720 $ (3,88)) $ 2,06¢ $(22,64f) $ 6,10¢ $ 652
Net income (loss) per she—

basic $ (01H) $ (.06 $ (009 $ (0.0H $ 00z $ (022 $ 0.06e $ 0.01
Net income (loss) per she—

diluted $ (01H) $ (006 $ (009 $ (0.0H $ 0.0z $ (022 $ 0.06e $ 0.01
Shares used in per shi

calculations— basic 104,75« 103,82( 103,82( 103,82( 103,80¢ 103,79. 103,41: 101,14:
Shares used in per share

calculations— diluted 104,75« 103,82( 103,82( 103,82( 108,20¢ 103,79. 110,49! 109,28

(1) Stocl-based compensatic
included in — Cost of contract

revenues $ 1841 $ 133 $ 164 $ 1,091 $ 1,80t $ 1,842 $ 2,52« $ 1,987
Research and developmt $ 6,37¢ $ 3,190 $ 3,24¢ $ 3,38: $ 346( $ 4,26¢ $ 3,000 $ 4,17(
Marketing, general and

administrative $ 818¢ $ 4,13t $ 5431 $ 494 $ 4421 $ 4,366 $ 3,822 $ 4,857

(2) Interest income and other income, net in thetfoquarter of 2006 includes $2.4 million relatedhe acceleration of the
amortization of note issuance cost in connectidh tie notice of acceleration relating to our catilake notes (see Note 15,
“Convertible Note”).

@)(2) Financial Statement Schedule

All schedules not listed above have been omittedbee they are not applicable, not required, oimfeemation required to
be set forth therein is included in the consoliddteancial statements or notes thereto.

@@®3) Exhibits
See Exhibit Index immediately following the signatypages.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas
duly caused this report to be signed on its behathe undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

RAMBUS INC.

By: /s/ SaTisH RisHI

Satish Rishi
Senior Vice President, Finance and
Chief Financial Officer

Date: February 29, 2008

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persbose signature appears below hereby
constitutes and appoints Satish Rishi as his tnaddavful agent, proxy and attorney-in-fact, withl fpower of
substitution and resubstitution, for him and intésne, place and stead, in any and all capaditi€®, act on, sign,
and file with the Securities and Exchange Commisaiay and all amendments to this Annual Report on
together with all schedules and exhibits theratpa¢t on, sign, and file such certificates, instients, agreements
and other documents as may be necessary or appriconnection therewith, and (iii) take any aficctions
that may be necessary or appropriate to be dorfellagor all intents and purposes as he mightauld do in
person, hereby approving, ratifying and confirmatighat such agent, proxy and attorney-in-facamy of his
substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be dongitive thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe
following persons on behalf of the registrant amthie capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl HarRoLD HUGHES Chief Executive Officer, President and February 29, 20C
Harold Hughes Director (Principal Executive Officer)
sl SaTISH RisHI Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief February 29, 20C
Satish Rishi Financial Officer (Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer)

/sl KeviIN KENNEDY Chairman of the Board of Directors February 29, 20C
Kevin Kennedy

/sl J. THOMAS BENTLEY Director February 29, 20C
J. Thomas Bentley

s/ SUNLIN CHou Director February 29, 20C
Sunlin Chou
/sl BRuce DuNLEVIE Director February 29, 20C

Bruce Dunlevie
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Signature

/sl P. MiCHAEL FARMWALD

P. Michael Farmwald

/s/ PENELOPEHERSCHER

Penelope Herscher

/s/ MARK HorowITZ

Mark Horowitz

/s/ DAVID SHRIGLEY

David Shrigley

/s ABRAHAM D. SOFAER

Abraham D. Sofaer
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit
Number Description of Documen
3.1(1) Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatioRegistrant filed May 29, 199
3.2(2) Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restatedifidate of Incorporation of Registrant filed
June 14, 200(
3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant datec:hber 13, 2007
4.1(12) Form of Registrar s Common Stock Certificat
4.2(4) Amended and Restated Information and Registratight® Agreement, dated as of January 7, 1997,
between Registrant and the parties indicated tie
4.3.1(5) Amended and Restated Preferred Stock Rights Agneemiated as of July 31, 2000, between
Registrant and Fleet National Bai
4.3.2(6) First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Pegfe&Stock Rights Agreement, dated as of
April 23, 2003, between Registrant and EquiservesT€ompany, N.A., as successor to Fleet Nat
Bank.
4.4(7) Indenture, between the Registrant and U.S. BanlohatAssociation, dated February 1, 2005
(including the form of Zero Coupon Convertible SeriNote due February 1, 2010 there
4.5(7) Registration Rights Agreement, among the Regist@rdit Suisse First Boston LLC and Deutsche
Bank Securities Inc., dated February 1, 2(
1C.1(4) Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into lggRtrant with each of its directors and executive
officers.
1C.3(13)* 1997 Stock Plan (as amended and restated as df4A@2007) and related forms of agreeme
1C.4(11)* 1997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and related fofmgreements
10.5(13)* 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan (as amendedestdted as of April 4, 2007) and related form
of agreement
1C.6(8)* 2006 Equity Incentive Plan and related forms otegrents
1C.7(10)* 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (as amendecestaded as of February 21, 20(
1C.8(13)* Offer Letter of Thomas R. Lavelle, dated OctoberBW6, between the Registrant and Thomas R.
Lavelle.
1C.9(3) Development Agreement, dated as of January 6, 2808nd among Registrant, Sony Computer
Entertainment Inc. and Toshiba Corporati
1C0.10(3) Redwood and Yellowstone Semiconductor Technologghse Agreement, dated as of January 6,
2003, between Registrant, Sony Corporation and Smmgputer Entertainment In
1C.11(12 Standard Office Lease, dated as of March 10, 19&tiyeen Registrant and SouthBay/ Lath
1C0.12(9) Office Lease dated as of August 27, 1999, betwesgidRant and Los Altos -El Camino Associate
LLC.
211 Subsidiaries of Registrar
231 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.
24 Power of Attorney (included in signature pag
311 Certification of Principal Executive Officer, puisut to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, gaedipursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer, pursnot to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, gedlpursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002
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AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS

OF

RAMBUS INC.

(As Amended and Restated as of November 13, 2007)

ARTICLE |

CORPORATE OFFICES

1.1 REGISTERED OFFICE

The registered office of the corporation shaliin the City of Wilmington, County of New Castftate of Delaware. The name of the
registered agent of the corporation at such lonatid he Corporation Trust Company.

1.2 OTHER OFFICES

The board of directors may at any time essabdither offices at any place or places where ¢hgocation is qualified to do business.

ARTICLE Il

MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS

2.1 PLACE OF MEETINGS

Meetings of stockholders shall be held at jplage, within or outside the State of Delawarejgiested by the board of directors. In the
absence of any such designation, stockholders’inggeshall be held at the registered office ofdbmporation.

2.2 ANNUAL MEETING

The annual meeting of stockholders shall bd bach year on a date and at a time designatstieblyoard of directors. At the meeting,
directors shall be elected and any other propenbss may be transacted.

2.3 SPECIAL MEETING

A special meeting of the stockholders maydikd at any time by a majority of the Board ofégitors of the Corporation. No other person
or persons are permitted to call a special meelNimgbusiness may be conducted at a special meettirgg than the business specified by the
Board of Directors as specified in its notice dfing of the meeting delivered to the Corporatiapsiovided below by Section 2.4 and 2.5.




2.4 NOTICE OF STOCKHOLDERMEETINGS

All notices of meetings with stockholders $tal in writing and shall be sent or otherwise giwte accordance with Section 2.5 of these
bylaws not less than ten (10) nor more than si&@) flays before the date of the meeting to eadkistidder entitled to vote at such meeting.
The notice shall specify the place, date, and bbtine meeting, and, in the case of a special mggtire purpose or purposes for which the
meeting is called.

2.5 MANNER OF GIVING NOTICE; AFFIDAVIT OF NOTTE

Written notice of any meeting of stockholdéfsnailed, is given when deposited in the Unitddt& mail, postage prepaid, directed to the
stockholder at such stockholder’s address as gaspon the records of the corporation. An affidai/ithe Secretary or an Assistant Secretary
or of the transfer agent of the corporation thatribtice has been given shall, in the absenceofifbe prima facie evidence of the facts
stated therein.

2.6 QUORUM

The holders of a majority of the stock issaed outstanding and entitled to vote thereat, ptdegperson or represented by proxy, shall
constitute a quorum at all meetings of the stodltéd for the transaction of business except aswibe provided by statute or by the
certificate of incorporation. If, however, such qum is not present or represented at any meetitigeastockholders, then either (i) the
Chairman of the meeting or (ii) the stockholderttlenl to vote thereat, present in person or regaresd by proxy, shall have power to adjourn
the meeting from time to time, without notice ottiegn announcement at the meeting, until a quosupndsent or represented. At such
adjourned meeting at which a quorum is presen¢prasented, any business may be transacted thiat Ingige been transacted at the meeting
as originally noticed.

2.7 ADJOURNED MEETING; NOTICE

When a meeting is adjourned to another timglace, unless these bylaws otherwise requirec@oieed not be given of the adjourned
meeting if the time and place thereof are annoulatéide meeting at which the adjournment is takénhe adjourned meeting the corporai
may transact any business that might have beesattad at the original meeting. If the adjournnigfidor more than thirty (30) days, or if
after the adjournment a new record date is fixedife adjourned meeting, a notice of the adjoumeéting shall be given to each stockhao
of record entitled to vote at the meeting.

2.8 CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

The chairman of any meeting of stockholdeedlstetermine the order of business and the praeealiuthe meeting, including such
regulation of the manner of voting and the condadidiusiness.
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2.9 VOTING

The stockholders entitled to vote at any nmeetif stockholders shall be determined in accordavith the provisions of Section 2.12 of
these bylaws, subject to the provisions of SectRirisand 218 of the General Corporation Law of ival® (relating to voting rights of
fiduciaries, pledgors and joint owners of stock &msoting trusts and other voting agreements).

Except as may be otherwise provided in théfimate of incorporation or as may be otherwisguieed by applicable law, each stockholder
shall be entitled to one vote for each share oftabgtock held by such stockholder.

Except as may be otherwise provided in théfwate of incorporation or these bylaws, or agyrba otherwise required by applicable law:

() in all matters other than the electaf directors, the affirmative vote of the majgrif shares present in person or represented by
proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on tHgextt matter shall be the act of the stockholders;

(ii) directors shall be elected by a plity of the votes of the shares present in pesaepresented by proxy at the meeting and en
to vote on the election of directors; and

(iii) where a separate vote by a classl@agses or series is required, the affirmative wbtthe majority of shares of such class or cksse
or series present in person or represented by mbthe meeting shall be the act of such classasses or series.

2.10 WAIVER OF NOTICE

Whenever notice is required to be given urashgrprovision of the General Corporation Law of &vedhre or of the certificate of
incorporation or these bylaws, a written waiverdod, signed by the person entitled to notice, Waebefore or after the time stated therein,
shall be deemed equivalent to notice. Attendan@ep#rson at a meeting shall constitute a waiveotite of such meeting, except when the
person attends a meeting for the express purposigj@tting, at the beginning of the meeting, totthasaction of any business because the
meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neitttez business to be transacted at, nor the pugfpsay regular or special meeting of the
stockholders need be specified in any written wadfenotice unless so required by the certificdtaoorporation or these bylaws.

2.11 STOCKHOLDER ACTION BY WRITTEN CONSENT WHOUT A MEETING

Any action required or permitted to be takearsy annual or special meeting of stockholders betaken without a meeting, without pr
notice and without a vote, if a consent or consentgriting setting forth the action so taken shmlsigned by the holders of outstanding s
having not less than the minimum number of votes would be necessary to authorize or take suébreat a meeting at which all shares
entitled to vote thereon were present and votedh $unsents shall be delivered to the corporatjoddiivery to it registered office in the st
of Delaware, its
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principal place of business, or an officer or agethe corporation having custody of the book imah proceedings of meetings of
stockholders are recorded. Delivery made to a catjpm’s registered office shall be by hand or bytified or registered mail, return receipt
requested.

Effective upon the closing of a firm commitmemderwritten initial public offering of any oféhcorporation’s securities pursuant to a
registration statement on Form S-1 filed underSkeurities Act of 1933, as amended, the stockhsloiethe corporation may not take action
by written consent without a meeting but must takg such actions at a duly called annual or spewéadting.

2.12 RECORD DATE FOR STOCKHOLDER NOTICE; VOTENGIVING CONSENTS

In order that the corporation may determireestockholders entitled to notice of or to votamg meeting of stockholders or any
adjournment thereof, or entitled to express congeobrporate action in writing without a meeting entitled to receive payment of any
dividend or other distribution or allotment of arights, or entitled to exercise any rights in retjgg any change, conversion or exchange of
stock or for the purpose of any other lawful actittre board of directors may fix, in advance, arddaate, which shall not be more than sixty
(60) nor less than ten (10) days before the dasacii meeting, nor more than sixty (60) days goany other action.

If the board of directors does not so fix eorel date:

(i) The record date for determining stoaklers entitled to notice of or to vote at a nagtf stockholders shall be at the close of
business on the day next preceding the day on wiadtihe is given, or, if notice is waived, at these of business on the day next preceding
the day on which the meeting is held.

(i) The record date for determining $tioalders entitled to express consent to corporetierain writing without a meeting, when no
prior action by the board of directors is necesssingll be the day on which the first written carige expressed.

(iii) The record date for determiningakbolders for any other purpose shall be at theectif business on the day on which the boa
directors adopts the resolution relating thereto.

A determination of stockholders of record #di to notice of or to vote at a meeting of staalkllers shall apply to any adjournment of the
meeting; provided however, that the board of directors may fix a new readetk for the adjourned meeting.

2.13 PROXIES

Each stockholder entitled to vote at a meetihgfockholders or to express consent or disgeobtporate action in writing without a
meeting may authorize another person or persoasttfor the stockholder by a written proxy, sigmstthe stockholder and filed with the
secretary of the
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corporation, but no such proxy shall be voted ¢tecdapon after three (3) years from its date, wiles proxy provides for a longer period. A
proxy shall be deemed signed if the stockholdeaim@ is placed on the proxy (whether by manual sigaatypewriting, telegraphic
transmission or otherwise) by the stockholder eratockholder’s attorney-in-fact. The revocabibifya proxy that states on its face that it is
irrevocable shall be governed by the provisionSedtion 212(e) of the General Corporation Law offlare.

2.14 LIST OF STOCKHOLDERS ENTITLED TO VOTE

The officer who has charge of the stock leddex corporation shall prepare and make, at less{10) days before every meeting of
stockholders, a complete list of the stockholdatitled to vote at the meeting, arranged in alptiabkorder, and showing the address of each
stockholder and the number of shares registeréttimame of each stockholder. Such list shall lemap the examination of any stockholder,
for any purpose germane to the meeting, duringhargtibusiness hours, for a period of at least18h days prior to the meeting, either at a
place within the city where the meeting is to bilhehich place shall be specified in the noticehaf meeting, or, if not so specified, at the
place where the meeting is to be held. The lisli stheo be produced and kept at the time and piéitkee meeting during the whole time
thereof, and may be inspected by any stockholderig/lpresent. Such list shall presumptively detaenhe identity of the stockholders
entitled to vote at the meeting and the numbehafes held by each of them.

2.15 ADVANCE NOTICE OF STOCKHOLDER NOMINEES ANSTOCKHOLDER BUSINESS

To be properly brought before an annual mgatinspecial meeting, nominations for the electibdirector or other business must be
(a) specified in the notice of meeting (or any dapgent thereto) given by or at the direction of bleard of directors, (b) otherwise properly
brought before the meeting by or at the directibthe board of directors, or (c) otherwise propénigught before the meeting by a
stockholder. For such nominations or other busit@&® considered properly brought before the mgdiy a stockholder, such stockholder
must have given timely notice and in proper fornhisfintent to bring such business before suchimgeetfo be timely, such stockholder’'s
notice must be delivered to or mailed and recebsethe secretary of the corporation not less tfad&ys prior to the meeting; provided
however, that in the event that less than 100 days natigeior public disclosure of the date of the megfis given or made to stockholders,
notice by the stockholder to be timely must beesived not later than the close of business otettith day following the day on which such
notice of the date of the meeting was mailed ohgulic disclosure was made. To be in proper f@amstockholder’s notice to the secretary
shall set forth:

(i) the name and address of the stocldralho intends to make the nominations, proposétisemess, and, as the case may be, the
name and address of the person or persons to bi@atech or the nature of the business to be proposed

(ii) a representation that the stockholde holder of record of stock of the corporateitled to vote at such meeting and, if
applicable, intends to appear in person or by
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proxy at the meeting to nominate the person orgmarspecified in the notice or introduce the bussrepecified in the notice;

(iii) if applicable, a description of @frangements or understandings between the stlieklend each nominee and any other person o
persons (naming such person or persons) pursuattiéh the nomination or nominations are to be magdthe stockholder;

(iv) such other information regarding lr@ominee or each matter of business to be progmsedch stockholder as would be required
to be included in a proxy statement filed pursuarihe proxy rules of the Securities and Exchangs@ission had the nominee been
nominated, or intended to be nominated, or theanbatten proposed, or intended to be proposed hydde of directors; and

(v) if applicable, the consent of eacmitee to serve as director of the corporation iélexted.

The chairman of the meeting may refuse to askedge the nomination of any person or the propafsany business not made in
compliance with the foregoing procedure.

ARTICLE Il

DIRECTORS
3.1 POWERS

Subject to the provisions of the General Coafion Law of Delaware and any limitations in thetficate of incorporation or these bylaws
relating to action required to be approved by toeldolders or by the outstanding shares, the kasiand affairs of the corporation shall be
managed and all corporate powers shall be exerbiged under the direction of the board of direstor

3.2 NUMBER OF DIRECTORS

The number of directors of the corporationlidb@not less than three (3) nor more than nineTBe exact number of directors shall be
nine (9) until changed, within the limits specifiabdove, by a bylaw amending this Section 3.2, ddigpted by the board of directors or by
stockholders. The indefinite number of directorg/rba changed, or a definite number may be fixetiauit provision for an indefinite
number, by a duly adopted amendment to the Cextdiof Incorporation or by an amendment to thiswytluly adopted by the board of
directors or by the stockholders.

No reduction of the authorized number of divex shall have the effect of removing any diretteiore that director’s term of office
expires.
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3.3 ELECTION, QUALIFICATION AND TERM OF OFFICEF DIRECTORS

Except as provided in Section 3.4 of thesawsy| directors shall be elected at each annualimgeet stockholders to hold office until the
next annual meeting. Directors need not be stocldslunless so required by the certificate of ipotation or these bylaws, wherein other
qualifications for directors may be prescribed. lEditector, including a director elected to filvacancy, shall hold office until his or her
successor is elected and qualified or until theddor’s earlier resignation or removal.

Elections of directors need not be by writhafiot.
3.4 RESIGNATION AND VACANCIES

Any director may resign at any time upon erithotice to the attention of the Secretary ofcitnporation. When one or more directors so
resigns and the resignation is effective at a &utlate, a majority of the directors then in office]uding those who have so resigned, shall
have power to fill such vacancy or vacancies, thte thereon to take effect when such resignatiaesignations shall become effective, and
each director so chosen shall hold office as pexvia this section in the filling of other vacargie

Unless otherwise provided in the certificaténoorporation or these bylaws:

(i) Vacancies and newly created dire¢tps resulting from any increase in the authorigechber of directors elected by all of the
stockholders having the right to vote as a sinflescmay be filled by a majority of the directdwer in office, although less than a quorum, or
by a sole remaining director.

(ii) Whenever the holders of any classlasses of stock or series thereof are entitleddeict one or more directors by the provisions of
the certificate of incorporation, vacancies and lyesteated directorships of such class or classesties may be filled by a majority of the
directors elected by such class or classes orsstréeeof then in office, or by a sole remaininggclior so elected.

If at any time, by reason of death or resigmadr other cause, the corporation should haveiraztors in office, then any officer or any
stockholder or an executor, administrator, trusteguardian of a stockholder, or other fiduciaryrested with like responsibility for the
person or estate of a stockholder, may call a apeweting of stockholders in accordance with tteigions of the certificate of
incorporation or these bylaws, or may apply toGoeirt of Chancery for a decree summarily orderimglection as provided in Section 21:
the General Corporation Law of Delaware.

If, at the time of filling any vacancy or angwly created directorship, the directors thenffite constitute less than a majority of the
whole board (as constituted immediately prior tg auch increase), then the Court of Chancery mpgm@application of any stockholder or
stockholders holding at least ten (10) percenheftotal number of the shares at the time outstaniciving the
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right to vote for such directors, summarily orderedection to be held to fill any such vacancies@wly created directorships, or to replace
the directors chosen by the directors then in efis aforesaid, which election shall be governethéyrovisions of Section 211 of the
General Corporation Law of Delaware as far as apple.

3.5 PLACE OF MEETINGS; MEETINGS BY TELEPHONE

The board of directors of the corporation rhald meetings, both regular and special, eithehniwior outside the State of Delaware.

Unless otherwise restricted by the certifiaztercorporation or these bylaws, members of thert) of directors, or any committee
designated by the board of directors, may partteipaa meeting of the board of directors, or aommittee, by means of conference
telephone or similar communications equipment bamseof which all persons participating in the megtian hear each other, and such
participation in a meeting shall constitute preseincperson at the meeting.

3.6 FIRST MEETINGS

The first meeting of each newly elected bazrdirectors shall be held at such time and placshall be fixed by the vote of the
stockholders at the annual meeting and no noticeidh meeting shall be necessary to the newlyeglatitectors in order legally to constitute
the meeting, provided a quorum shall be presenhdrevent of the failure of the stockholders fotlfie time or place of such first meeting of
the newly elected board of directors, or in thentwweich meeting is not held at the time and pladéxed by the stockholders, the meeting
may be held at such time and place as shall befiguein a notice given as hereinafter provided$pecial meetings of the board of directors,
or as shall be specified in a written waiver sighgdall of the directors.

3.7 REGULAR MEETINGS

Regular meetings of the board of directors tmayeld without notice at such time and at suekehs shall from time to time be
determined by the board.

3.8 SPECIAL MEETINGS; NOTICE

Special meetings of the board of directorsaity purpose or purposes may be called at anyliniee chairman of the board, the presic
any vice president, the secretary or a majoritthefdirectors.

Notice of the time and place of special magtishall be delivered personally or by telephonesith director or sent by first-class mail or
telegram, charges prepaid, addressed to eachdtiggdhat director’s address as it is shown orréleerds of the corporation. If the notice is
mailed, it shall be deposited in the United Stated at least four (4) days before the time ofltloé&ding of the meeting. If the notice is
delivered personally or by telephone or by telegriashall be delivered personally or by telephonéo the telegraph company at least forty-
eight (48) hours before the time of the holdinghaf meeting. Any oral notice given personally ort&lgphone may be
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communicated either to the director or to a pewrtdhe office of the director who the person givihg notice has reason to believe will
promptly communicate it to the director. The notiezd not specify the purpose or the place of thetimg, if the meeting is to be held at the
principal executive office of the corporation.

3.9 QUORUM

At all meetings of the board of directors, ajonity of the authorized number of directors slealhstitute a quorum for the transaction of
business and the act of a majority of the diregboesent at any meeting at which there is a quahafl be the act of the board of directors,
except as may be otherwise specifically providedtayute or by the certificate of incorporationalfjluorum is not present at any meeting of
the board of directors, then the directors pre@reat may adjourn the meeting from time to timighout notice other than announcement at
the meeting, until a quorum is present.

A meeting at which a quorum is initially prasenay continue to transact business notwithstanttia withdrawal of directors, if any acti
taken is approved by at least a majority of theimegl quorum for that meeting.

3.10 ADJOURNED MEETING; NOTICE

If a quorum is not present at any meetindheftioard of directors, then the directors predwreat may adjourn the meeting from time to
time, without notice other than announcement antketing, until a quorum is present.

3.11 WAIVER OF NOTICE

Whenever notice is required to be given urahgrprovision of the General Corporation Law of &ehre or of the certificate of
incorporation or these bylaws, a written waiver#od, signed by the person entitled to notice, Wweebefore or after the time stated therein,
shall be deemed equivalent to notice. Attendan@ep#rson at a meeting shall constitute a waiveotite of such meeting, except when the
person attends a meeting for the express purpasigj@tting, at the beginning of the meeting, totthasaction of any business because the
meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neittiez business to be transacted at, nor the pugfpaeay regular or special meeting of the
directors, or members of a committee of directnexd be specified in any written waiver of notiodess so required by the certificate of
incorporation or these bylaws.

3.12 BOARD ACTION BY WRITTEN CONSENT WITHOUT MEETING

Unless otherwise restricted by the certifiaaftencorporation or bylaws, any action requiregpermitted to be taken at any meeting of the
board of directors or of any committee thereof ayaken without a meeting if all members of thardor committee, as the case may be,
consent thereto in writing, or by electronic traimssion and the writing or writings or electroniarismission or transmissions are filed with
the minutes of the proceedings of the board, or
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committee. Such filing shall be in paper form g tminutes are maintained in paper form and shaith lsdectronic form if the minutes are
maintained in electronic form.

3.13 FEES AND COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS

Unless otherwise restricted by the certifiadtercorporation or these bylaws, the board oécliors shall have the authority to fix the
compensation of directors.

3.14 APPROVAL OF LOANS TO OFFICERS

The corporation may lend money to, or guamaigy obligation of, or otherwise assist employafehe corporation or of its subsidiary,
whenever, in the judgment of the directors, sueim)g@uaranty or assistance may reasonably be expecbenefit the corporation. The loan,
guaranty or other assistance may be with or withdetest and may be unsecured, or secured inrsacimer as the board of directors shall
approve, including, without limitation, a pledgestfares of stock of the corporation. Notwithstagdhre foregoing, the corporation may not,
directly or indirectly, including through any sudisiry, extend or maintain credit, arrange for thiesion of credit, or renew an extension of
credit, in the form of a personal loan to or foy @irector or executive officer (or equivalent thef) of the corporation. An extension of credit
maintained by the corporation on July 30, 2002Ist@lbe subject to this limitatiopyovided thatthere is no material modification to any
term of any such extension of credit or any renefany such extension of credit on or after July2002.

3.15 REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

Unless otherwise restricted by statute, byctiréificate of incorporation or by these bylawsy airector or the entire board of directors 1
be removed, with or without cause, by the holdéi® majority of the shares then entitled to votaratlection of directors.

No reduction of the authorized number of divex shall have the effect of removing any diregtidor to the expiration of such director’s
term of office.

ARTICLE IV

COMMITTEES
4.1 COMMITTEES OF DIRECTORS

The board of directors may, by resolution pddsy a majority of the whole board, designatean®ore committees, with each committee
to consist of one or more of the directors of theporation. The board may designate one or moezwirs as alternate members of any
committee, who may replace any absent or disqadliflember at any meeting of the committee. In bise@ce or disqualification of a
member of a committee, the member or members thpresent at any meeting and not disqualified frating, whether or not such member
or members constitute a quorum, may unanimouslgiappnother member of the board of directors tcaaithe meeting in
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the place of any such absent or disqualified memf®y such committee, to the extent provided inrédeolution of the board of directors or
in the bylaws of the corporation, shall have ang emeercise all the powers and authority of the Badrdirectors in the management of the
business and affairs of the corporation, and malyaize the seal of the corporation to be affixealt papers that may require it; but no such
committee shall have the power or authority t@a(ijend the certificate of incorporation (except thabmmittee may, to the extent authorized
in the resolution or resolutions providing for tksuance of shares of stock adopted by the boadteiftors as provided in Section 151(a) of
the General Corporation Law of Delaware, fix theigeations and any of the preferences or rightioh shares relating to voting, dividends,
redemption, dissolution, any distribution of ass#tthe corporation or the conversion into, or éixehange of such shares for, shares of any
other class or classes or any other series ofaime ©r any other class or classes of stock ofdhmocation or fix the number of shares of any
series of stock or authorize the increase or dsereithe shares of any series), (ii) adopt anesyeat of merger or consolidation under
Sections 251 or 252 of the General Corporation b&lelaware, (iii) recommend to the stockholdess $hle, lease or exchange of all or
substantially all of the corporation’s property argsets, (iv) recommend to the stockholders aldi$so of the corporation or a revocation of
a dissolution, or (v) amend the bylaws of the coafion; and, unless the board resolution estallgstiie committee, the bylaws or the
certificate of incorporation expressly so provide,such committee shall have the power or authtwityeclare a dividend, to authorize the
issuance of stock, or to adopt a certificate of esship and merger pursuant to Section 253 of theefa Corporation Law of Delaware.

4.2 COMMITTEE MINUTES
Each committee shall keep regular minutessafieetings and report the same to the board ectirs when required.
4.3 MEETINGS AND ACTION OF COMMITTEES

Meetings and actions of committees shall beegred by, and held and taken in accordance withptovisions of Article Il of these
bylaws, Section 3.5 (place of meetings and meetiygelephone), Section 3.7 (regular meetings)ti@e8.8 (special meetings and notice),
Section 3.9 (quorum), Section 3.11 (waiver of neti@and Section 3.12 (action without a meeting)hwiich changes in the context of those
bylaws as are necessary to substitute the comnaittééts members for the board of directors anthagsbers; providedhowever, that the
time of regular meetings of committees may be detezd either by resolution of the board of direstor by resolution of the committee, that
special meetings of committees may also be calee$olution of the board of directors and thaiceobf special meetings of committees
shall also be given to all alternate members, Wizl fiave the right to attend all meetings of tbemittee. The board of directors may adopt
rules for the government of any committee not irsistent with the provisions of these bylaws.
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ARTICLE V

OFFICERS
5.1 OFFICERS

The officers of the corporation shall be aichan of the board or a president or both, a sanyetnd a chief financial officer/treasurer. The
corporation may also have, at the discretion ofath@rd of directors, a chief executive officer, @nenore vice presidents, one or more
assistant vice presidents, one or more assistargtagies, one or more assistant treasurers, andumi other officers as may be appointed in
accordance with the provisions of Section 5.3 ekthbylaws. Any number of offices may be held leysame person.

5.2 APPOINTMENT OF OFFICERS

The officers of the corporation, except sufflters as may be appointed in accordance wittptogisions of Sections 5.3 or 5.5 of these
bylaws, shall be appointed by the board of direstsubject to the rights, if any, of an officer endny contract of employment.

5.3 SUBORDINATE OFFICERS

The board of directors may appoint, or empativerchief executive officer or the president tpaipt, such other officers and agents as the
business of the corporation may require, each afmwkhall hold office for such period, have suchatity, and perform such duties as are
provided in these bylaws or as the board of dimsateay from time to time determine.

5.4 REMOVAL AND RESIGNATION OF OFFICERS

Subject to the rights, if any, of an officerder any contract of employment, any officer maydraoved, either with or without cause, by
an affirmative vote of the majority of the boarddifectors at any regular or special meeting oftihard or, except in the case of an officer
chosen by the board of directors, by any officesruprhom such power of removal may be conferrechkybibard of directors.

Any officer may resign at any time by givingitien notice to the corporation. Any resignatitral take effect at the date of the receipt of
that notice or at any later time specified in thetice; and, unless otherwise specified in thaicepthe acceptance of the resignation shall not
be necessary to make it effective. Any resignaiiomithout prejudice to the rights, if any, of tberporation under any contract to which the
officer is a party.

5.5 VACANCIES IN OFFICES

Any vacancy occurring in any office of the poration shall be filled by the board of directors.
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5.6 CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

The chairman of the board, if such an offierelected, shall, if present, preside at meetifiglse board of directors and exercise and
perform such other powers and duties as may froma to time be assigned to him or her by the bo#directors or as may be prescribed by
these bylaws. If there is no chief executive offiaad no president, then the chairman of the bslaadl also be the chief executive officer of
the corporation and shall have the powers and slptiescribed in Section 5.7 of these bylaws.

5.7 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Subject to the supervisory powers, if anymnay be given by the board of directors to the chair of the board, if there be such an officer,
the chief executive officer shall, subject to tleatrol of the board of directors, have general suip®n, direction, and control of the business
and the officers of the corporation. In the absesragonexistence of a chairman of the board, thef @xecutive officer shall preside at
meetings of the board of directors. The chief ekeelfficer shall preside at all meetings of thec&holders. The chief executive officer sl
have such other powers and duties as may be greddny the board of directors or these bylaws.

5.8 PRESIDENT

The president shall preside at all meetinghefstockholders in the absence or nonexistenaechfirman of the board or a chief executive
officer. The president shall have the general psvaed duties of management usually vested in fieeadf president of a corporation and
shall have such other powers and duties as mayesenibed by the board of directors or these byldfitbere is no chief executive officer,
then the president shall also be the chief exeeufficer of the corporation and shall have the @msand duties prescribed in Section 5.7 of
these bylaws.

5.9 VICE PRESIDENTS

In the absence or disability of the presidém,vice presidents, if any, in order of theirkkas fixed by the board of directors or, if not
ranked, a vice president designated by the boaditeftors, shall perform all the duties of thegident and when so acting shall have all the
powers of, and be subject to all the restrictiopsry the president. The vice presidents shall saeh other powers and perform such other
duties as from time to time may be prescribedHtent respectively by the board of directors, thegdaviss, the president or the chairman of
board.

5.10 SECRETARY

The secretary shall keep or cause to be kéfite principal executive office of the corporatmr such other place as the board of directors
may direct, a book of minutes of all meetings actibas of directors, committees of directors, atutisholders. The minutes shall show the
time and place of each meeting, whether regulapecial (and, if special, how authorized and th&caaiven), the names of those present at
directors’ meetings or committee meetings, the nemalh shares present or represented at stockhbldertings, and the proceedings thereof.
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The secretary shall keep, or cause to be kefitie principal executive office of the corpavatior at the office of the corporation’s transfer
agent or registrar, as determined by resolutiath@fboard of directors, a share register, or aicafgl share register, showing the names of all
stockholders and their addresses, the number asdad of shares held by each, the number andfdzgdificates evidencing such shares,
the number and date of cancellation of every Geatié surrendered for cancellation.

The secretary shall give, or cause to be gimetice of all meetings of the stockholders anthefboard of directors required to be giver
law or by these bylaws. The secretary shall keeséal of the corporation, if one be adopted, fe@ sastody and shall have such other poy
and perform such other duties as may be preschipelde board of directors or by these bylaws.

5.11 CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

The chief financial officer shall keep and ntain, or cause to be kept and maintained, adegumateorrect books and records of accounts
of the properties and business transactions ofdhgoration, including accounts of its assets,ilités, receipts, disbursements, gains, losses,
capital retained earnings, and shares. The boo&samfunt shall at all reasonable times be opemsjgeiction by any director.

The chief financial officer shall deposit albneys and other valuables in the name and toréuit ©f the corporation with such
depositories as may be designated by the boartteaftadrs. The chief financial officer shall disbarthe funds of the corporation as may be
ordered by the board of directors, shall rendéhéopresident and directors, whenever they reqyest account of all his or her transactions
as chief financial officer and of the financial dition of the corporation, and shall have other pmiand perform such other duties as may be
prescribed by the board of directors or these bylaw

The chief financial officer shall be the treges of the corporation.
5.12 ASSISTANT SECRETARY

The assistant secretary, or, if there is ntloa@ one, the assistant secretaries in the ordermdimed by the stockholders or board of
directors (or if there be no such determinatioentn the order of their election) shall, in theatce of the secretary or in the event of his or
her inability or refusal to act, perform the dutéexl exercise the powers of the secretary and gpbdbrm such other duties and have such
other powers as may be prescribed by the boardextdrs or these bylaws.

5.13 ASSISTANT TREASURER

The assistant treasurer, or, if there is niog@ one, the assistant treasurers, in the orderrdimed by the stockholders or board of direc
(or if there be no such determination, then inahger of their election), shall, in the absencéhefchief financial officer or in the event of his
or her inability or refusal to act, perform theidatand exercise the powers of the chief finarafigder
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and shall perform such other duties and hagh sther powers as may be prescribed by the lafatiectors or these bylaws.
5.14 REPRESENTATION OF SHARES OF OTHER CORPORINS

The chairman of the board, the president\acg president, the chief financial officer, thesary or assistant secretary of this
corporation, or any other person authorized bybtiwrd of directors or the president or a vice pier, is authorized to vote, represent, and
exercise on behalf of this corporation all rightsident to any and all shares of any other corpmrair corporations standing in the name of
this corporation. The authority granted herein hayexercised either by such person directly oriyyaher person authorized to do so by
proxy or power of attorney duly executed by suctspe having the authority.

5.15 AUTHORITY AND DUTIES OF OFFICERS

In addition to the foregoing authority andidst all officers of the corporation shall respeely have such authority and perform such
duties in the management of the business of thgocation as may be designated from time to timébyboard of directors or the
stockholders.

ARTICLE VI

INDEMNITY
6.1 THIRD PARTY ACTIONS

The corporation shall indemnify any person wiras or is a party or is threatened to be madets fmaany threatened, pending, or
completed action, suit or proceeding, whether coriminal, administrative or investigative (otltean an action by or in the right of the
corporation) by reason of the fact that he is os walirector, officer, employee or agent of thegoeation, or is or was serving at the request
of the corporation as a director, officer, emplogeagent of another corporation, partnership tjegmture trust or other enterprise, against
expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgmemtgsfiand amounts paid in settlement (if such setthéns approved in advance by the
corporation, which approval shall not be unreasbnaithheld) actually and reasonably incurred bsnhn connection with such action, suit
or proceeding if he acted in good faith and in annex he reasonably believed to be in or not opptséte best interests of the corporation,
and, with respect to any criminal action or proéeggdhad no reasonable cause to believe his consasunlawful. The termination of any
action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order |eetent, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo conteadw its equivalent, shall not, of itself,
create a presumption that the person did not agoaa faith and in a manner which such person reddy believed to be in or not opposed to
the best interest of the corporation, and, witlpeesto any criminal action or proceeding, had@eable cause to believe that his conduct was
unlawful.
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6.2 ACTIONS BY OR IN THE RIGHT OF THE CORPORKIN

The corporation shall indemnify any person witas or is a party or is threatened to be madets fmaany threatened, pending or
completed action or suit by or in the right of tweporation to procure a judgment in its favor bggon of the fact that such person is or was &
director, officer, employee or agent of corporationis or was serving at the request of the cafpan as a director, officer, employee or
agent of another corporation, partnership, joimtuee, trust or other enterprise against experiseliding attorneys’ fees) and amounts paid
in settlement (if such settlement is approved waade by the corporation, which approval shallb®tinreasonably withheld) actually and
reasonably incurred by such person in connectidh thie defense or settlement of such action orifsthie person acted in good faith and in
manner the person reasonably believed to be imtoopposed to the best interests of the corporatiecept that no indemnification shall be
made in respect of any claim, issue or matter aghioh such person shall have been adjudged t@bke lto the corporation unless and only
to the extent that the Delaware Court of Chancemh® court in which such action or suit was brdwugjtall determine upon application that,
despite the adjudication of liability but in vieWall the circumstances of the case, such perstairlg and reasonably entitled to indemnity
for such expenses which the Delaware Court of Gérgnar such other court shall deem proper. Notuwéthding any other provision of this
Article VI, no person shall be indemnified hereunfi any expenses or amounts paid in settlemetht gspect to any action to recover short-
swing profits under Section 16(b) of the Securiigshange Act of 1934, as amended.

6.3 SUCCESSFUL DEFENSE

To the extent that a director, officer, em@eyr agent of the corporation has been successfile merits or otherwise in defense of any
action, suit or proceeding referred to in Sectiérisand 6.2, or in defense of any claim, issue aiten therein, such person shall be
indemnified against expenses (including attornésss) actually and reasonably incurred by the peirs@onnection therewith.

6.4 DETERMINATION OF CONDUCT

Any indemnification under Sections 6.1 and (@u2ess ordered by a court) shall be made by dhgocation only as authorized in the
specific case upon a determination that the ind&carion of the director, officer, employee or agenproper in the circumstances because
the person has met the applicable standard of @bsétiforth in Sections 6.1 and 6.2. Such deteaatiun shall be made (1) by a majority v
of the directors who are not parties to such acgait or proceeding, even though less than a equpou (2) if there are no such directors, or if
such directors so direct, by independent legal selim a written opinion, or (3) by the stockhokldlotwithstanding the foregoing, a
director, officer, employee or agent of the Corpiorashall be entitled to contest any determinattaat the director, officer, employee or
agent has not met the applicable standard of carsgtidorth in Sections 6.1 and 6.2 by petitionengpurt of competent jurisdiction.
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6.5 PAYMENT OF EXPENSES IN ADVANCE

Expenses incurred in defending a civil or @niah action, suit or proceeding, by an individudlovmay be entitled to indemnification
pursuant to Section 6.1 or 6.2, shall be paid lkyctirporation in advance of the final dispositiésach action, suit or proceeding upon rec
of an undertaking by or on behalf of the directdficer, employee or agent to repay such amouinsifall ultimately be determined that the
individual is not entitled to be indemnified by tberporation as authorized in this Article VI.

6.6 INDEMNITY NOT EXCLUSIVE

The indemnification and advancement of expepsevided by or granted pursuant to the otheli@esf this Article VI shall not be
deemed exclusive of any other rights to which tteeseking indemnification or advancement of expens®g be entitled under any by-law,
agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterestegttiirs or otherwise, both as to action in théiic@ capacity and as to action in another
capacity while holding such office.

6.7 INSURANCE INDEMNIFICATION

The corporation shall have the power to pusetend maintain insurance on behalf of any perdumisior was a director, officer, emplo’
or agent of the corporation, or is or was servintpa request of the corporation as a directoiceff employee or agent of another
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust tivas enterprise, against any liability assertedrejdhe person and incurred by the person in
any such capacity or arising out of the persordtustas such, whether or not the corporation wbale the power to indemnify such person
against such liability under the provisions of tAigicle VI.

6.8 THE CORPORATION

For purposes of this Article VI, referencesttte corporation” shall include, in addition teethesulting corporation, any constituent
corporation (including any constituent of a consiit) absorbed in a consolidation or merger whfdts separate existence had continued,
would have had power and authority to indemnifyditectors, officers, and employees or agentshabany person who is or was a director,
officer, employee or agent of such constituent coafion, or is or was serving at the request ohaanstituent corporation as a director,
officer, employee or agent of another corporatpartnership, joint venture, trust or other enter@rshall stand in the same position undetr
subject to the provisions of this Article VI (incling, without limitation the provisions of Sectié) with respect to the resulting or surviv
corporation as the person would have with resmestith constituent corporation if its separateterise had continued.

6.9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

For purposes of this Article VI, referencesdther enterprises” shall include employee bengéins; references to “fineshall include an
excise taxes assessed on a person with respatetagloyee benefit plan; and references to “serairtye request of the corporation” shall
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include any service as a director, officer, empéoge agent of the corporation which imposes dudiesor involves services by, such director,
officer, employee, or agent with respect to an @yge benefit plan, its participants, or benefigisriand a person who acted in good faith and
in a manner he reasonably believed to be in tlezant of the participants and beneficiaries ofrapleyee benefit plan shall be deemed to
have acted in a manner “not opposed to the beseistis of the corporation” as referred to in thiscle VI.

6.10 CONTINUATION OF INDEMNIFICATION AND ADVANCEMENT OF EXPENSES

The indemnification and advancement of expepsevided by, or granted pursuant to, this Artiéleshall, unless otherwise provided
when authorized or ratified, continue as to a pergbo has ceased to be a director, officer, emgl@yeagent and shall inure to the benefit of
the heirs, executors and administrators of suckgper

ARTICLE VII

RECORDS AND REPORTS
7.1 MAINTENANCE AND INSPECTION OF RECORDS

The corporation shall, either at its principaécutive officer or at such place or places afgaated by the board of directors, keep a re
of its stockholders listing their names and addressd the number and class of shares held bystaatholder, a copy of these bylaws as
amended to date, accounting books, and other record

Any stockholder of record, in person or byatey or other agent, shall, upon written demardkuoath stating the purpose thereof, have
the right during the usual hours for business spétt for any proper purpose the corporation’skskedger, a list of its stockholders, and its
other books and records and to make copies oragtitaerefrom. A proper purpose shall mean a perpeassonably related to such person’s
interest as a stockholder. In every instance wharattorney or other agent is the person who gheksght to inspection, the demand under
oath shall be accompanied by a power of attornespoh other writing that authorizes the attornegtber agent so to act on behalf of the
stockholder. The demand under oath shall be dildctéhe corporation at its registered office inddere or at its principal place of business.

7.2 INSPECTION BY DIRECTORS

Any director shall have the right to examihe torporation’s stock ledger, a list of its stoalklers, and its other books and records for a
purpose reasonably related to his or her positioa @director. The Court of Chancery is hereby vkgiigh the exclusive jurisdiction to
determine whether a director is entitled to th@@tdion sought. The Court may summarily order tmparation to permit the director to
inspect any and all books and records, the statgele and the stock list and to make copies ometdrtherefrom. The Court may, in its
discretion, prescribe any
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limitations or conditions with reference to thepestion, or award such other and further reliehasCourt may deem just and proper.
7.3 ANNUAL STATEMENT TO STOCKHOLDERS

The board of directors shall present at eactual meeting, and at any special meeting of thekbblders when called for by vote of the
stockholders, a full and clear statement of theénmss and condition of the corporation.

ARTICLE VIII

GENERAL MATTERS

8.1 CHECKS

From time to time, the board of directors ktlatermine by resolution which person or persoay Bign or endorse all checks, drafts, other
orders for payment of money, notes or other evidemd indebtedness that are issued in the namepzfyable to the corporation, and only
persons so authorized shall sign or endorse tmssriments.

8.2 EXECUTION OF CORPORATE CONTRACTS AND INSTURIENTS

The board of directors, except as otherwiseiged in these bylaws, may authorize any offiqeofficers, or agent or agents, to enter into
any contract or execute any instrument in the nahaad on behalf of the corporation; such autharigy be general or confined to specific
instances. Unless so authorized or ratified bybtteerd of directors or within the agency power obéicter, no officer, agent or employee
shall have any power or authority to bind the cosion by any contract or engagement or to pletigeredit or to render it liable for any
purpose or for any amount.

8.3 STOCK CERTIFICATES; PARTLY PAID SHARES

The shares of the corporation shall be reptesieby certificates, provided that the board oéctiors of the corporation may provide by
resolution or resolutions that some or all of anglbclasses or series of its stock shall be uifeated shares. Any such resolution shall not
apply to shares represented by a certificate sath certificate is surrendered to the corporatosery holder of stock in the corporation
represented by certificates shall be entitled teeleacertificate signed by, or in the name of thgaoration by, the chairman or vice-chairman
of the board of directors, or the president or apeesident, and by the chief financial officertloe treasurer or an assistant treasurer, or the
secretary or an assistant secretary of such cdrpon@presenting the number of shares registereeitificate form. Any or all of the
signatures on the certificate may be a facsimileadse any officer, transfer agent or registrar i signed or whose facsimile signature has
been placed upon a certificate has ceased to beaofficer, transfer agent or registrar before scetiificate is issued, it may be issued by the
corporation with the same effect as if the persenevsuch officer, transfer agent or registrar atdhte of issue.
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The corporation may issue the whole or any giits shares as partly paid and subject tofoalthe remainder of the consideration to be
paid therefor. Upon the face or back of each steckificate issued to represent any such partlgt phares, upon the books and records of the
corporation in the case of uncertificated partlidghares, the total amount of the consideratidmetpaid therefor and the amount paid
thereon shall be stated. Upon the declaration pid@ridend on fully paid shares, the corporationlstieclare a dividend upon partly paid
shares of the same class, but only upon the ba#ie percentage of the consideration actually gagtdeon.

8.4 SPECIAL DESIGNATION ON CERTIFICATES

If the corporation is authorized to issue mibi@ one class of stock or more than one seriasytlass, then the powers, the designations,
the preferences, and the relative, participatipgpoal or other special rights of each class oflstor series thereof and the qualifications,
limitations or restrictions of such preferences/andghts shall be set forth in full or summarizenthe face or back of the certificate that the
corporation shall issue to represent such claseries of stock; providechowever, that, except as otherwise provided in Section&dBe
General Corporation Law of Delaware, in lieu of fhe2going requirements there may be set forthherface or back of the certificate that
corporation shall issue to represent such claseries of stock a statement that the corporatidirfurnish without charge to each stockholder
who so requests the powers, the designations réierpnces, and the relative, participating, oiam other special rights of each class of
stock or series thereof and the qualificationsititions or restrictions of such preferences anddts.

8.5 LOST CERTIFICATES

Except as provided in this Section 8.5, no wentificates for shares shall be issued to repdapreviously issued certificate unless the |
is surrendered to the corporation and canceldaeasdame time. The corporation may issue a newicaté of stock or uncertificated shares in
the place of any certificate theretofore issuedt,glleged to have been lost, stolen or destrogad,the corporation may require the owner of
the lost, stolen or destroyed certificate, or thaer’s legal representative, to give the corporatidoond sufficient to indemnify it against any
claim that may be made against it on account oatleged loss, theft or destruction of any suchifizate or the issuance of such new
certificate or uncertificated shares.

8.6_.CONSTRUCTION; DEFINITIONS

Unless the context requires otherwise, thegdmprovisions, rules of construction, and defomis in the Delaware General Corporation
Law shall govern the construction of these bylawghout limiting the generality of this provisiothe singular number includes the plural,
the plural number includes the singular, and the tgperson” includes both a corporation and a redtperson.
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8.7 DIVIDENDS

The directors of the corporation, subjectrig gestrictions contained in (i) the General Cogbimn Law of Delaware or (ii) the certificate
incorporation, may declare and pay dividends upershares of its capital stock. Dividends may hé pecash, in property, or in shares of
the corporation’s capital stock.

The directors of the corporation may set apatiof any of the funds of the corporation avdedior dividends a reserve or reserves for any
proper purpose and may abolish any such reseneh. [Burposes shall include but not be limited toadiging dividends, repairing or
maintaining any property of the corporation, ancetimg contingencies.

8.8 FISCAL YEAR
The fiscal year of the corporation shall beeéi by resolution of the board of directors and neyhanged by the board of directors.
8.9 SEAL

The corporation may adopt a corporate seaktwshall be adopted and which may be altered éyotard of directors, and may use the
same by causing it or a facsimile thereof to ber@sped or affixed or in any other manner reproduced

8.10 TRANSFER OF STOCK

Stock of the corporation shall be transferablihne manner prescribed by law and in these bylawansfers of stock shall be made on the
books of the corporation only by the record holofesuch stock or by his or her attorney lawfullynstituted in writing and, if such stock is
certificated, upon the surrender of the certificgatrefor, which shall be canceled before a netificate shall be issued.

8.11 STOCK TRANSFER AGREEMENTS

The corporation shall have power to enter @td perform any agreement with any number of $tolclers of any one or more classes of
stock of the corporation to restrict the transfiestwares of stock of the corporation of any onenore classes owned by such stockholders in
any manner not prohibited by the General Corpondtiaw of Delaware.

8.12 REGISTERED STOCKHOLDERS

The corporation shall be entitled to recogniEeexclusive right of a person registered obdtsks as the owner of shares to receive
dividends and to vote as such owner, shall beledtio hold liable for calls and assessments thgoperegistered on its books as the owner of
shares, and shall not be bound to recognize anyadtpior other claim to or interest in such sharehares on the part of another person,
whether or not it shall have express or other edtiereof, except as otherwise provided by the EvRelaware.
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ARTICLE IX

AMENDMENTS

The bylaws of the corporation may be adopaeagnded or repealed by the stockholders entitledte; provided however, that the
corporation may, in its certificate of incorporatjaconfer the power to adopt, amend or repeal ky/lapon the directors. The fact that such
power has been so conferred upon the directorf rebiadiivest the stockholders of the power, noitlitmeir power to adopt, amend or repeal
bylaws.
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Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

Rambus Deutschland GmbH (Germany)

Rambus K.K. (Japan)

Rambus (Grand Cayman Islands, BWI)

Rambus Chip Technologies (India) Private Limited
Rambus Korea, Inc. (Korea)






Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation byresfee in the Registration Statements on Form Se®.(R33-28597, 333-38855, 333-67457,
333-93427, 333-48730, 333-52158, 333-86140, 333-493333-115015, 333-124513, and 333-146770) oftRarinc., of our report dated
February 29, 2008 relating to the consolidatednfia statements and the effectiveness of interoatrol over financial reporting, which
appears in the Annual Report to Shareholders, wikiaticorporated in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
February 29, 2008






Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) AND RULE 1 5D-14(A)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Harold Hughes, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&0¥K of Rambus Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statesy and other financial information includedhistreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officrénd | are responsible for establishing and maiintg disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls andgahoes, or caused such disclosure controls an@guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over finahreporting, or caused such internal control dugancial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regigts disclosure controls and procedures and preséntad report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such evaluation;
and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change inrégistrant’s internal control over financial refiog that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrant’s other certifying officerénd | have disclosed, based on our most recetti@ion of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and matenetaknesses in the design or operation of interoratrol over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatdolves management or other employees who hawgnéisant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
Date: February 29, 2008

By:  /s/ Harold Hughes
Name: Harold Hughe:
Title: Chief Executive Officer and Preside







Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) AND RULE 1 5D-14(A)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Satish Rishi, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&0¥K of Rambus Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doescantain any untrue statement of a material facoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statesy and other financial information includedhistreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying offic@rénd | are responsible for establishing and maiintg disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls andgahoes, or caused such disclosure controls an@guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over finaheporting, or caused such internal control direncial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regigts disclosure controls and procedures and preséntads report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adgutures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such evaluation;
and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change inrégistrant’s internal control over financial refiog that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrant’s other certifying officarénd | have disclosed, based on our most recetti@ion of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and matenetaknesses in the design or operation of interoratrol over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatolves management or other employees who hawgnéisant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 29, 2008

By:  /s/ Satish Rishi

Name: Satish Rishi

Title: Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief
Financial Officer







Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Harold Hughes, certify, pursuant to 18 @.SSection 1350, as adopted pursuant to Sectioro®Bf: Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
the Annual Report of Rambus Inc. on Form 10-K fa fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, fully caesplith the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act d4,%s amended, and that information containedéh &nnual Report on Form 10-K fairly
presents in all material respects the financiab@won and results of operations of Rambus Inc.

Date: February 29, 2008

By:  /s/ Harold Hughes
Name: Harold Hughes
Title: Chief Executive Officer and Preside







Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Satish Rishi, certify, pursuant to 18 U.SS@ction 1350, as adopted pursuant to SectioroBf: Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Annual Report of Rambus Inc. on Form 10-K for tlsedl year ended December 31, 2007, fully compligls the requirements of Section 13

(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1981amended, and that information contained ih sumual Report on Form 10-K fairly
presents in all material respects the financiab@wn and results of operations of Rambus Inc.

Date: February 29, 2008

By: /s/ Satish Rishi
Name: Satish Rishi

Title: Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief
Financial Officer




